

# The effect of prenatal *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection on offspring neurodevelopment and autistic-like behaviours in a Valproic acid mouse model of autism

Wadzanai Manjeese 218074724

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Health Sciences (Human Physiology)

Discipline of Human Physiology, School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban, South Africa.

Supervisor: Dr. Thabisile Mpofana

2021

#### PREFACE

The experimental work described in this thesis was conducted at the Africa Health Research Institute and University of KwaZulu- Natal (Durban, South Africa), under the supervision of Dr. Thabisile Mpofana, Dr Nontobeko. E. Mvubu and Professor Adrie J. C. Steyn.

This work has not been submitted in any form for any degree to any tertiary institution, where use has been made of the work of others, it is duly acknowledged in the text.



7 May 2021

Wadzanai Manjeese

Date

As the candidate's supervisor, I agree to the submission of this thesis

|   | 7 May 2021 |
|---|------------|
|   | •••••      |
| Dr. Thabisile. Mpofana<br>(Supervisor)          | Date       |
| 4   | 7 May 2021 |
| •••••   | •••••      |
| Dr. Nontobeko. Eunice. Mvubu<br>(Co-supervisor) | Date       |
|   | 7 May 2021 |
| Professor Adrie. J. C. Steyn<br>(Co-supervisor) | Date       |

#### DECLARATION

#### I Wadzanai Manjeese (218074724) declare that:

- i. The research reported in this thesis, except where otherwise indicated, is my original work.
- ii. This thesis has not been submitted for any degree or examination at any other university.
- iii. This thesis does not contain other persons' data, pictures, graphs or other information unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other persons.
- iv. That my contribution to the project was as follows:Identification of research topics, experimental design, execution, data analysis and interpretation, manuscript and thesis write-up.
- v. This dissertation does not contain other persons writing unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other researchers. Where other sources have been quoted, their words have been rewritten but the general information attributed by them has been referenced.
- vi. This dissertation does not contain text, graphics, or tables copied and pasted from the internet unless specifically acknowledged and the source being detailed in the dissertation and the reference sections.



# DEDICATION

To my late brother, Chipo Manjeese

My number 1 cheerleader who encouraged and pushed me in my career amid fighting his own battle.

#### PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS

#### List of published peer reviewed articles

Manjeese W, Mvubu NE, Steyn AJC and Mpofana T. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-Induced Maternal Immune Activation Promotes Autism-Like Phenotype in Infected Mice Offspring *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. 2021 Apr 23;18(9):4513. doi: 10.3390/ijerph1

Manjeese W, Mvubu NE, Steyn AJC and Mpofana T. Mycobacterium tuberculosis causes a leaky blood-brain barrier and neuroinflammation in the prefrontal cortex and cerebellum regions of infected mice offspring. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*. 2021 May 1. doi: 10.1002/jdn.10116.

#### List of submitted peer-reviewed articles under review

Manjeese W, Mvubu NE, Steyn AJC and Mpofana T. Gestational *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* exposure affects pregnancy and leads to developmental delays in infected mice offspring. Submitted to *Experimental Physiology* 

#### List of conference presentation

Manjeese W, Mvubu NE, Steyn AJC and Mpofana T. The impact of prenatal infections on Autism Spectrum Disorder. IBRO-UCT African Advanced School on Neuroimmunology and the Gut-Brain Axis. Cape Town, South Africa (1-18 December 2018).

Manjeese W, Mvubu NE, Steyn AJC and Mpofana T. Gestational *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection affects pregnancy and leads to developmental delays in infected mice offspring. UKZN College of Health Sciences Research Day (November 2020)

#### ACKNOWLEGEMENT

With great honour and utmost reference to the Almighty God, this phenomenal achievement would not have been possible without divine assistance.

To my supervisors, Dr. T. Mpofana, Dr. N. E. Mvubu and Professor A. J. C. Steyn, I deeply appreciate your support, patience, excellent mentorship and believing in my academic potential to conduct the project. You encouraged me to keep on pushing when I lost hope along the way. I will forever be grateful for you bringing me on board and seeing this project to completion.

To the Microbiology department students in Laboratory 1, thank you for accommodating me and making the work environment enjoyable.

Special thank you to Professor A. J. C. Steyn, this work would have not been accomplished without your facility, I have gained invaluable experience while working in your laboratory. I will always be grateful for the opportunity.

To Kievershen Nargan, Kershnee Thambu, Kishen Beepraj, Pamela Ramakalawon, Khanyisile Khuluse and Vanessa Naidoo from Africa Health Research Institute, I am extremely grateful for your scientific skills that were instrumental in the overall success of this project.

A special thank you to the College of Health Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal for funding this project.

To my best friend Ashly Tafadzwa Kavai, thank you for listening to my countless panicked outbursts and calming me even when you were obviously busy working. You celebrated every victory and felt every disappointment. Thank you for being there in every way you could.

To my parents, my siblings and close family, especially my sister Rumbidzai Manjeese, thank you for cheering me on and supporting my academic career. You kept me sane and encouraged me to keep on trying after several failed experiments.

#### FUNDING

Funding of this research was received from:

- UKZN College of Health Sciences
- Developing Research Innovation, Localisation and Leadership in South Africa (DRILL), grant [D43TW010131]
- National Research Foundation of South Africa (Thuthuka grant number: 118049)
- South African Medical Research Council (SAMRC)

# Contents

| PREFACEii  |
|--|
| DECLARATION iii  |
| DEDICATIONiv   |
| PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONSv                              |
| List of published peer reviewed articlesv                    |
| List of submitted peer-reviewed articles under review        |
| List of conference presentationv                             |
| ACKNOWLEGEMENTvi   |
| FUNDINGvii   |
| LIST OF FIGURESxiv   |
| LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSxvii                                    |
| ABSTRACTxix  |
| THESIS OUTLINExxi  |
| Chapter Onexxi   |
| Chapter Twoxxi   |
| Chapter Threexxi   |
| Chapter Fourxxi  |
| Chapter Fivexxi  |
| CHAPTER ONE1   |
| INTRODUCTION AND LITERARURE REVIEW1                          |
| 1.1 Background1  |
| 1.2 Autism Spectrum Disorder1                                |
| 1.2.1 Prevalence of ASD1                                     |
| 1.2.2 Treatment of ASD2                                      |
| 1.3 Aetiology of ASD2  |
| 1.3.1 Genetic Risk factors of ASD3                           |
| 1.3.2 Environmental Risk factors5                            |
| 1.4 The immune system in pregnancy5                          |
| 1.4.1 Maternal infections during pregnancy6                  |
| 1.5 MIA Mechanism in ASD7                                    |
| 1.5.1 The role of cytokines in MIA7                          |
| 1.5.2 MIA and the Hypothalamic Pituitary Adrenal (HPA) axis8 |
| 1.6 ASD and Mycobacterial infections9                        |

| 1.7 Animal models of ASD  |
|---|
| 1.7.1 Valporic Acid ASD model   |
| 1.7.2 VPA mechanism of action in ASD12  |
| 1.8 Maternal Immune Activation models13   |
| 1.9 Infectious MIA models10   |
| 1.9.1 Influenza viruses10   |
| 1.9.2 Escherichia coli10  |
| 1.9.3 Listeria monocytogenes10  |
| 1.9.4 Porphyromonas gingivalis10  |
| 1.9.5 Campylobacter rectus10  |
| 1.9.6 Plasmodium berghei17  |
| 1.9.7 Zika Virus17  |
| 1.9.8 Staphylococcus aureus enterotoxins17  |
| 1.9.9 Cytomegalovirus17   |
| 1.10 ASD behaviour phenotyping17  |
| 1.10.1 Three-chamber social interaction test17  |
| 1.10.2 Repetitive Behaviours18  |
| 1.10.3 Communication19  |
| 1.11 Study rationale19  |
| 1.12 Aim of the study20   |
| 1.13 Study objectives   |
| 1.14 Brief overview of methodology and study design2  |
| 1.15 Potential benefit of this research21   |
| REFERENCES  |
| CHAPTER TWO   |
| Gestational <i>Mycobacterium tuberculosis</i> exposure affects pregnancy and leads to developmental delays in infected mice offspring |
| 2 Abstract  |
| 2.1 Introduction  |
| 2.2 Materials and Methods   |
| 2.2.1 Animals   |
| 2.2.3 Mating  |
| 2.2.4 Mtb infection   |
| 2.2.5 Culturing lungs   |
| 2.2.6 Postnatal growth and maturation35   |

| 2.2.7 Developmental weights   | 35                 |
|---|--------------------|
| 2.2.8 Statistical Analysis  |                    |
| 2.3 Results   |                    |
| 2.3.1 Mtb compromises maternal lung integrity in Balb/c mice  |                    |
| 2.3.2 Mtb exposure induces fetal resorption and reduces litter size in mice   | pregnant<br>38     |
| 2.3.3 Prenatal Mtb exposure delays eye-opening in Balb/c mice   |                    |
| 2.3.4 Prenatal Mtb exposure diminishes offspring developmental wei  | ght41              |
| 2.4 Discussion  |                    |
| 2.5 Conclusion  | 44                 |
| 2.6 Acknowledgements  | 45                 |
| 2.7 Statement of Ethics   | 45                 |
| 2.8 Conflict of Interest Statement  | 45                 |
| 2.9 Funding Sources   | 45                 |
| 2.10 Author Contributions   | 45                 |
| All authors contributed equally and discussed the results in the final  | manuscript.45      |
| REFERENCES  |                    |
| Appendix  | 50                 |
| CHAPTER THREE   | 54                 |
| Mycobacterium tuberculosis causes a leaky blood-brain barrier and neuroinflammation in the prefrontal cortex and cerebellum regions of i offspring. | nfected mice<br>54 |
| 3 Abstract  | 55                 |
| 3.1 Introduction  | 56                 |
| 3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS   | 57                 |
| 3.2.1 Animals   | 57                 |
| 3.2.2 Mtb infection   | 58                 |
| 3.2.3 Determining the BBB permeability  | 58                 |
| 3.2.4 Evaluating EB dye in brain tissue   | 59                 |
| 3.2.5 Immunohistochemistry  | 59                 |
| 3.3 Statistics  | 60                 |
| 3.4 RESULTS   | 60                 |
| <b>3.4.1 Prenatal exposure to Mtb compromises BBB integrity in the PF Cerebellum</b>  | C and<br>60        |
| 3.4.2 Prenatal Mtb exposure increases astrocyte and microglia popula<br>PFC and cerebellum of offspring   | ation in the       |
|   |                    |

| 3.5 DISCUSSION  | 64      |
|---|---------|
| 3.6 CONCLUSION  | 66      |
| 3.7 CONFLICT OF INTEREST  | 66      |
| 3.8 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS  | 66      |
| 3.9 FUNDING   | 67      |
| 3.10 AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS   | 67      |
| REFERENCES  | 68      |
| CHAPTER FOUR  | 74      |
| <i>Mycobacterium tuberculosis</i> - induced maternal immune activation promotes autism-<br>like phenotye in infected mice offspring | -<br>74 |
| 4 Abstract  | 75      |
| 4.1 Introduction  | 76      |
| 4.2 Materials and Methods   | 77      |
| 4.2.1. Animals  | 77      |
| 4.2.3 Mtb Infection   | 78      |
| 4.2.4 Social Interaction Test   | 78      |
| 4.2.5 Self-Grooming/Repetitive Behaviors  | 79      |
| 4.2.6 Blood Collection  | 79      |
| 4.2.7 Brain Tissue Collection   | 79      |
| 4.2.8 Relative mRNA Expression in the Cerebellum (quantitative PCR)   | 79      |
| 4.2.9 Cytokine Analysis   | 80      |
| 4.3 Statistical Analysis  | 81      |
| 4.4 Results   | 81      |
| 4.4.1 The Effect of Prenatal Mtb Infection on Offspring Social Behaviors  | 81      |
| 4.4.2 Mtb Infection Increases Self-Grooming Behavior <mark>of offspring</mark>  | 83      |
| 4.4.3 Prenatal Mtb Infection Causes Immune Dysregulation in Offspring   | 84      |
| 4.4.4 Mtb Infection Dysregulates Gene Expression of Synaptic Molecules in Offspring Cerebellum                                      | 85      |
| 4.5 Discussion  | 87      |
| 4.6 Conclusions   | 89      |
| 4.7 Author Contributions  | 89      |
| 4.8 Funding   | 89      |
| 4.9 Institutional Review Board Statement  | 89      |
| 4.10 Informed Consent Statement   | 89      |
| 4.11 Data Availability Statement  | 90      |

| 4.12 Acknowledgments               | 90 |
|------------------------------------|----|
| 4.13 Conflicts of Interest         | 90 |
| REFERENCES                         |    |
| CHAPTER FIVE                       | 97 |
| SYNTHESIS                          | 97 |
| Recommendations and Future studies |    |
| REFERENCES                         |    |
| APPENDICES                         |    |

# LIST OF TABLES

| Table 1. 1: VPA rodent models                  |    |
|--|----|
| Table 1. 2: Non-infectious MIA models          | 14 |
| Table 2. 1: Groups and treatments in the study |    |
| Table 2. 2: Bacterial load in maternal lungs   |    |
| Table 3. 1: Groups and treatments in the study | 58 |
| Table 4. 1: Groups and treatments in the study |    |
| Table 4. 2: Oligonucleotide primer sequences   | 80 |

#### LIST OF FIGURES

| Figuro   | Logond  |
|--|---|
| Figure   | Legenu I age  |
| Figure 1. 1:   | Environmental and Genetic risk factors may alter the immune system to<br>induce Autism (Coded et al. 2014)  |
| Figure 1, 2:   | Genetic and environmental contributions to ASD (Huguet & Bourgeron)   |
| 1 igui e 1. 2.   | 2016)   |
| Figure 1. 3:   | Immunological states of pregnancy (Mor et al., 2017)  |
| Figure 1. 4:   | Cytokine activation of the HPA axis (Ratnayake et al., 2013)  |
| Figure 1. 5:   | VPA inhibition of Histone deacetylase (HDAC) activity (Bambini-junior et  |
|  | al., 2014)  |
| Figure 1. 6:   | Three-chamber social interaction test set up showing first session assessing social bility and second assessing social preference/ nevelty 18   |
|  | social free rence/ noverty  |
| Figure 2. 1:<br>images<br>VPA+M<br>changes<br>negativ<br>(C) grou<br>lungs fr<br>arrows) | A graphical representation of the study design; B-E: Representative<br>of maternal lung tissue of Balb/c mice 4 weeks post-delivery (B- Saline; C-<br><i>Atb</i> ; D- VPA; E- <i>Mtb</i> ). The lungs were visually examined for pathological<br>is in comparison with the non-infected Saline group. The lungs from the<br>e control (Saline) group were healthy, but those from <i>Mtb</i> (E) and VPA+ <i>Mtb</i><br>ups showed granulomas (represented by arrows) at mid-gestation. The<br>rom VPA (D) treated mice had drug-induced injuries (represented by<br> |
| Figure 2. 2:   | Fetal resorption and litter size (A) Graph showing fetal resorption rates in  |
| all the g  | groups, $n=5$ in each group, kruskal wallis statistic= 2.74 and $p>0.05$ . Data   |
| represe  | ion rate did not significantly differ between VPA $Mth$ and VPA+ $Mth$ and  |
| there w  | as no fetal resorption in the negative control (Saline). (B) Graph showing  |
| the nun  | aber of pups born from all the groups. Saline -11.4 $\pm$ 1.81, VPA- 3.6 $\pm$ 1.81   |
| ( <i>p</i> <0.00   | 1), $Mtb - 2.6 \pm 1.81$ (p<0.0001) and $VPA+Mtb - 3.4 \pm 1.81$ (p<0.001) pups. $Mtb$  |
| reduced  | l litter size the most. There was no statistical significance in <i>p</i> -value between  |
| positive   | e control (VPA) and <i>Mtb</i> ( $p>0.05$ ). ** denotes $p<0.001$ and *** $p<0.0001$ vs   |
| Saline.  | <b>One-way ANOVA</b> , detailed statistics information is available in Appendix   |
| I able A<br>Figure 2 3.  | AI and AZ   |
| the eve-   | copening trends in males (n=6) between postnatal day (PND) 12 and 16. One   |
| eye ope  | n was scored 1, both eyes open-2 and both eyes closed- 0. Compared to   |
| Saline t   | here was 2 days delay in eye-opening of <i>Mtb</i> pups, 1 day delay in VPA pups  |
| and 1 d  | ay delay in VPA+ <i>Mtb</i> pups. Compared to VPA there was a significant 2 day   |
| delay in   | eye-opening of <i>Mtb</i> pups. *** denotes <i>p</i> <0.001 vs Saline and #denotes  |
| <i>p</i> <0.001  | vs VPA. B- Female eye-opening: The graph shows eye-opening trends in  |
| iemales  | (n=0) between PND12 and 10. One eye open was scored 1, both eyes open-2<br>th aves closed 0. Compared to Saline there was a significant 3 day delay in  |
| eve-ope  | ning of <i>Mth</i> pups, 2 days delay in VPA pups and no delay in VPA+ <i>Mth</i>   |
| pups. C  | Compared to VPA there was 3 days delay in eve-opening of <i>Mtb</i> pups. ***   |
| denotes  | p < 0.0001 when compared to Saline and $p < 0.0001$ when compared to VPA.   |
| C- Mal   | e and Female eye opening: The graph shows the combined male and female  |
| eye-ope  | ning trends between postnatal day (PND) 12 and 16. One eye open scored 1,   |
| both ey  | es open-2 and both eyes closed- 0 (n=12). Compared to Saline there was 2  |

Figure 3.1: Representative image of sedated mice before and after EB dye intravenous injection, B representative images of brain tissue 1-hour post EB dye injection, the brain regions with a disrupted BBB can be identified macroscopically by a blue colour, C graph shows EB dye concentration in the PFC where intra uterine exposure to VPA, VPA+*Mtb* and *Mtb* significantly increased the BBB permeability allowing for the penetration of EB dye from the periphery, p < 0.05 in the VPA group, p < 0.0001 in both VPA+*Mtb* and *Mtb* groups vs Saline. When compared to VPA (positive control) there was a significant increase in EB dye concentration found in the PFC, *p* < 0.0001 in *Mtb* group, D graph shows the concentration of EB dve found in the cerebellum region of the brain. Prenatal exposure to VPA, VPA+Mtb and Mtb significantly increased the concentration of EB dye that infiltrated the cerebellum, p < 0.05 for the VPA group and p < 0.0001 for VPA+*Mtb* and Mtb groups vs Saline group. EB dye concentration was significantly higher in the cerebellum of *Mtb* group than VPA group (p < 0.0001). All data is represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM for 4 animals per group, \*p < 0.5, \*\*p < 0.001 and \*\*\* p < 0.0001compared to Saline.  $^{\#\#}p < 0.0001$  compared to VPA. Optical density was measured at 610 nm and values were converted to ng dye/mg brain tissue using a standard curve of EB dye in ethanol......61 Figure 3. 2: Representative photomicrographs of Iba1<sup>+</sup> PFC coronal sections at X63 objective lens. Iba1<sup>+</sup> cells are brown with processes extending from the cell body. Resting microglia (black arrows) can be seen especially in the Saline group with a ramified appearance, while *Mtb* group shows a less ramified morphology with enlarged cell bodies (red arrows). Scale bar is 50 µm in all images. 2B: Graph shows the number of Iba1<sup>+</sup> cells in the PFC, *Mtb* offspring showed significantly increased Iba<sup>+</sup> cells compared to saline offspring (p < 0.05). \* denotes p < 0.05 vs 

Figure 4. 1(a) Study design; (b) Social stimulus—Graph shows the average time spent with a familiar mouse compared with object. Unlike the saline offspring (p < 0.0001), *Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb)* offspring spent more time with an object

xvi

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| ACTH   | Adrenocorticotropic hormone                |
|--------|--|
| ADHD   | Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder   |
| AREC   | Animal Research Ethics Committee           |
| ASD    | Autism Spectrum Disorder                   |
| BBB    | Blood-brain barrier                        |
| CER    | cerebellum                                 |
| CNS    | Central Nervous System                     |
| CNV    | Copy number variation                      |
| CRH    | Corticotropin releasing hormone            |
| DNA    | Deoxyribonucleic acid                      |
| E      | Embryonic day                              |
| EB dye | Evans Blue dye                             |
| HAC    | Histone acetylase                          |
| HDAC   | Histone deacetylase                        |
| HPA    | Hypothalamic pituitary axis                |
| IBA-1  | Ionized calcium binding adaptor molecule 1 |
| IFN-γ  | Interferon gamma                           |
| IHC    | Immunohistochemistry                       |
| IL-6   | Interleukin 6                              |
| IL-1β  | Interleukin 1 Beta                         |
| IL-10  | Interleukin 10                             |
| LPS    | Lipopolysaccharide                         |
| MAP    | Mycobacterium avium ss. paratuberculosis   |
| MBP    | Myelin basic protein                       |
| MHC1   | Major histocompatability complex 1         |
| MIA    | Maternal immune activation                 |
| Mtb    | Mycobacterium tuberculosis                 |
| NDD    | Neurodevelopmental disorder                |
| nNOS   | neuronal Nitric oxide synthase             |

| NRXN1    | Neurexin 1   |
|----------|--|
| NRXN2    | Neurexin 2   |
| NLGN1    | Neuroligin 1   |
| NLGN2    | Neuroligin 2   |
| NLGN3    | Neuroligin 3   |
| NLGN4    | Neuroligin 4   |
| NLGN5    | Neuroligin 5   |
| PDD-NOS  | Pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified |
| PND      | Post-natal day   |
| Poly I:C | Polyinosonic: polycytidylic acid                         |
| PSD      | Post-synaptic density                                    |
| ROS      | Reactive oxygen species                                  |
| SHANK1   | SH3 multiple ankyrin domain 1                            |
| SHANK2   | SH3 multiple ankyrin domain 2                            |
| SHANK3   | SH3 multiple ankyrin domain 3                            |
| SNP      | Single nucleotide polymorphism                           |
| TNF-α    | Tumour necrosis factor alpha                             |
| ТВ       | Tuberculosis   |
| VEGFA    | Vascular endothelial growth factor                       |
| VPA      | Valproic acid  |

#### ABSTRACT

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by restricted repetitive patterns, communication challenges and lack of social skills. ASD has no distinct biomarkers, with symptoms overlaping with related developmental disorders like Schizophrenia. Maternal immune activation (MIA) is when the maternal immune system is invaded by a pathogen causing an immune response that interferes with the normal fetal brain development process. Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb) infections are common during pregnancy and are known to affect fetal health, often causing spontaneous abortions and low birth weights. Valproic acid (VPA) is an anticonvulsant and mood stabilizer associated with ASD when administered during pregnancy. Gestational VPA exposure of mice on Embryonic day 12.5 (E12.5) induces ASD-traits in offspring, as such, this study employed VPA as a positive control. This study investigated the effects of prenatal exposure to Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb) (singularly and in combination with VPA) on developmental delays and offspring behaviour. Pregnant mice were divided into saline, VPA, *Mtb*, and VPA+*Mtb*; treatments were administered on E12.5. Developmental milestones were measured between post-natal day 7 (PND 7) and 28. Offspring were subjected to neurobehavioural studies to test for social interaction and repetitive behaviours on PND 35. Ionised calcium binding molecule 1 (IBA-1) and Glial Fibrillary acid protein (GFAP) expression in the prefrontal cortex (PFC) and cerebellum regions were analysed using immunohistochemistry (IHC). The effect on the BBB's function was determined using Evans blue dye-albumin extravasation method on PND 35. Additionally, cerebellar tissues were homogenized and processed for molecular analyses of NRXN1, NRXN2, NLGN1, NLGN2 and SHANK3 expression. Changes in expression patterns of NRXNs and NLGNs causes an imbalance in the excitation and inhibition of neurons, a feature associated with ASD. The *Mtb* treated group had significantly low litter count and high fetal resorption compared to saline treated group. Neuroinflammation was evident in the *Mtb* offspring at PND 35 as shown by a significant increase in GFAP and IBA-1 expressing astrocytes and microglia in the PFC and cerebellum compared to saline group. The BBB's integrity was compromised as shown by the increased permeability to EB-dye in the PFC and cerebellum of *Mtb*, VPA and VPA+*Mtb* offspring. The *Mtb* offspring also displayed systemic inflammation and altered ASD-linked behaviours. NRXN1 and NLGN1 were overexpressed in the cerebellum of *Mtb*-induced MIA offspring compared to saline offspring. Dual exposure to VPA and *Mtb* restored *NRXN1* expression levels, reduced astrocyte and microglia injury in the PFC, rescued social behaviours and restored normal eye-opening patterns in offspring. The study demonstrates impaired fetal development which persists into the post-natal period. The impaired development was accompanied by neuroanatomical changes and behavioural patterns consistent with ASD pathophysiology. These findings might be attributed to *Mtb*-induced maternal system inflammation in pregnancy that induces fetal inflammation via the placenta and BBB of a developing fetus causing insult in the brain. Immune dysregulation and synaptic defects are hallmarks of ASD. We therefore conclude that prenatal *Mtb* infection predisposes offspring to a higher risk of neurodevelopmental challenges later in life and dual exposure to VPA and Mtb rescues some of these challenges.

**Keywords:** Pregnancy, *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, valproic acid, developmental delay, immune dysregulation, neurobehaviours, gene expression, Autism

#### THESIS OUTLINE

This PhD thesis has been compiled into an article format and presented as a thesis by manuscript.

#### **Chapter One**

Provides background information with a literature review of topics underpinning this study. Study aims and objectives, hypotheses and potential benefits of this research are also highlighted.

#### **Chapter Two**

This forms the first part of the PhD experimental research that evaluated the gestational *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection effects on pregnancy and development of infected mice offspring.

#### **Chapter Three**

Forms part of experimental research that evaluated the effects of prenatal *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* exposure on neuroinflammation and BBB integrity in the cerebellum and prefrontal cortex regions of offspring. This forms part of the PhD experimental work that was published by *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*.

#### **Chapter Four**

Reports on the effect of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-induced maternal immune activation on immune dysregulation, synaptic gene expression and Autism-associated behaviours. This forms part of the PhD experimental work that was published by *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*.

#### **Chapter Five**

Provides a synthesis of all the manuscripts and highlights the conclusion of research findings. It also highlights limitations and makes recommendations for future studies

#### CHAPTER ONE INTRODUCTION AND LITERARURE REVIEW

#### **1.1 Background**

Neurodevelopmental disorders (NDDs) are a group of complex developmental disorders that are associated with a dysfunction of the Central Nervous System (CNS) often presenting during child's early years of life (Bitta et al., 2017; E. Klimkeit, 2015). They arise from disturbances in the process of brain development which can manifest as cognitive challenges, learning difficulties, language impairment and behavioural deficits. Common neurodevelopmental disorders include ASD, intellectual disabilities, cerebral palsy, epilepsy, schizophrenia and Attention deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD). Sub-Saharan Africa has seen more than 70% increase in the incidence of such NDDs over the past two decades (Olusanya et al., 2018).

#### 1.2 Autism Spectrum Disorder

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a group of similar neurodevelopmental disorders that include Asperger's syndrome, Autistic disorder and Pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified (PDD-NOS) (Park et al., 2016). These disorders were previously diagnosed separately, but because of their closely similar symptoms, they have been grouped to form a spectrum of disorders. The symptoms of ASD include lack of social skills, speech and communication deficits, repetitive behaviours and restricted interests (e.g. flapping of hands and body rocking) (Bitta et al., 2017; Won et al., 2013). Lack of eye contact is also a very common non-verbal communication trait in ASD patients. Distinct biomarkers of this condition have not been found; hence diagnosis is based on these behavioral traits. These symptoms manifest between 2 and 3 years of age often occurring with comorbidities, such as sleeping and eating problems, epilepsy, irritability, gastrointestinal challenges, anxiety and hyperactivity (Won et al., 2013). Because ASD symptoms are heterogeneous, diagnosis is difficult especially for medical practitioners without prior experience with the condition, hence most children live without a proper diagnosis.

#### **1.2.1 Prevalence of ASD**

The prevalence of ASD has increased over the past two decades as a result of improved diagnostic criteria and awareness among medical practitioners (Park et al., 2016). Males are four times more likely to be diagnosed with ASD than females. The Centre for Disease Control reported 0.2% increase in ASD cases over two years and that one in every 59 children under eight years is diagnosed with ASD in America (CDC- Autism Developmental Disability Monitoring, 2018). The Global burden of disease study (2016) estimates that more than one

million children living with ASD are from resource limited countries. The prevalence of Autism in sub-Saharan Africa is unknown, but three in five children are at risk of ASD (Olusanya et al., 2018). The condition remains under diagnosed in the region because of lack of awareness among medical practitioners and psychiatric caregivers. There is also a lot of stigma surrounding ASD as society regards these children as "bewitched" or a result of sinful acts that angered God rather than as suffering a medical condition. As a result, the first point of call for an African autistic child is the traditional healers rather than medical facilities, which delays diagnosis and management of the disorder (Tilahun et al., 2017). The few families who make it to the clinic are severe with the condition.

The prevalence of developmental disorders in South African children below 5 years of age is estimated to be 9% (Olusanya et al., 2018). Like most countries in Sub-Saharan Africa, diagnosis of ASD remains a challenge in South Africa due to scarcity of funds and lack of qualified child psychiatrists in the few mental health facilities available (Wetherston et al., 2017). The situation makes it difficult for children living with ASD to access treatment and behavioural therapy hence most cases remain undiagnosed.

#### **1.2.2 Treatment of ASD**

Currently there are no pharmacological treatments to ASD, however, there are approved drugs that are used to manage the condition. The antipsychotics, antidepressants and anticonvulsants, currently administered to ASD patients (Risperidone and Aripiprazole) help with managing the comorbidities associated with ASD and not the core symptoms (Park et al., 2016). Autistic individuals are prone to other health complications, especially those occurring because of injuries encountered in their daily routines (Tilahun et al., 2017)

#### 1.3 Actiology of ASD

ASD is a complex disorder whose causes are not yet fully understood, but research has pointed to a combination of genetic and environmental risk factors that interact to disrupt a developing brain (Figure 1.1). Several mechanisms are involved which converge on related genes or pathways of neuronal circuits (Gadad et al., 2013; Huguet & Bourgeron, 2016; Wisnioweiecka-Kowalnik & Nowakowska, 2019).



# Figure 1. 1: Environmental and Genetic risk factors may alter the immune system to induce Autism (Gadad et al., 2014)

#### **1.3.1 Genetic Risk factors of ASD**

ASD is a genetically heterogenous condition that has gene heritability, copy number variations (CNV), single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), chromosomal abnormalities and epigenetic changes contributing to ASD development (Kalkbrenner et al., 2014; Lyall et al., 2017; Park et al., 2016). Research in twins anchor the role of genetics in ASD aetiology. When one identical twin is diagnosed with ASD, there is a 90% chance the other twin has ASD; whereas there is a 10% chance with fraternal twins (Patel et al., 2018; Ratajczak, 2011; Won et al., 2013). Genes associated with ASD behavioural deficits account for about 10-20% of ASD cases (Rylaarsdam & Guemez-Gamboa, 2019), while CNVs account for about 10 % of ASD cases (Geschwind, 2011). The most inheritable genetic elements are common variants (49.8

%), and a few of them (2.6 %) are rare variants (Figure 1.2). The de novo variants (9.5 %) are regarded as environmental risk factors because they are suggested to arise from environmental risk factors of ASD (Huguet & Bourgeron, 2016).



# Figure 1. 2: Genetic and environmental contributions to ASD (Huguet & Bourgeron, 2016).

The ASD risk genes are known to converge on biological pathways that are involved in the regulation of neuronal activity (Huguet & Bourgeron, 2016; Wisnioweiecka-Kowalnik & Nowakowska, 2019). Synaptic cell adhesion molecules such as Neuroligins and Neurexins are involved in synapse formation. Neurexins are pre-synaptic cell adhesion molecules encoded by *NRXN1*, *2* and *3* genes while *NLGNs* are post-synaptic cell adhesion molecules encoded by *NLGN1*, *2*, *3* and *4* in mammals, *NLGN 5* exists in humans only (Ding et al., 2015; Guang et al., 2018). Mutations and deletions in these genes are implicated in the pathophysiology of ASD (Almandil et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2008; Lein, 2015). *NLGN1* and *NLGN2* are expressed on excitatory and inhibitory synapses, respectively, while *NLGN3* and 4 are found in both synapses. Changes in expression patterns of *NRXNs* and *NLGNs* influence the excitation and inhibitory balance of neurons, which impairs information processing, a feature common in ASD patients (Guang et al., 2018; Huguet & Bourgeron, 2016). Scaffolding proteins encoded

by *SHANK1, SHANK2, SHANK3* are important in the organisation of post synaptic density (PSD) and mutations in particularly *SHANK3* are associated with intellectual disabilities, developmental delays and language difficulties (Durand et al., 2007; Guang et al., 2018; Soler et al., 2018).

#### **1.3.2 Environmental Risk factors**

The environment can influence the process of brain development, which increases the risk of brain disorders. The impact depends on the timing, frequency and type of environmental factor encountered. Pregnancy is regarded as an environment to a growing fetus and maternal exposure to air pollutants, malnutrition, alcohol, stress, infections and some pharmacological drugs increase the risk of developmental disorders (Horvath & Bjørke-monsen, 2015; Kalkbrenner et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2007; Zerbo et al., 2016). Exposure to some medications during pregnancy increases the risk of ASD, In the 1950s, the anti-nausea drug, Thalidomide was reported to increase the incidence of Autism in children born to mothers who had used it during pregnancy (Gadad et al., 2013). VPA is an anti-convulsant and mood stabilizer administered for epilepsy and depression, but when administered during pregnancy, it increases the incidence of ASD children (Bambini-junior et al., 2014; Gadad et al., 2013). Parental age also influences the brain development of a child through genetics. When both parents are at an advanced age, the incidence of chromosomal abnormalities is increased, which can lead to ASD in the child born (Bölte, Girdler and Marschik, 2019).

#### **1.4 The immune system in pregnancy**

A mother's immune system should be able to accept a growing fetus, which is foreign to the maternal system. The survival of pregnancy depends on the ability of the maternal system to adapt to different immune requirements of pregnancy stages. A successful pregnancy goes through implantation, placentation, fetal growth and parturition. These stages demand different immune states for survival, implantation and placenta development require a pro-inflammatory immune state, mediated by T-Helper 1 (TH-1) pathway, which then shifts to an anti-inflammatory state to maintain the growth of the foetus via a T-Helper 2 (TH-2) pathway (Figure 1.3) (Hussein et al., 2011; Mor & Cardenas, 2010; Morelli et al., 2015). Pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  are known to induce miscarriages, while IL-10 reverses the inflammation in mice (Morelli et al., 2015). The anti-inflammatory state encountered during fetal growth makes the mother susceptible to infections and the risk is higher in women who are already immunocompromised (Morelli et al., 2015).



Figure 1. 3: Immunological states of pregnancy (Mor et al., 2017).

### **1.4.1 Maternal infections during pregnancy**

Maternal Immune Activation (MIA) is a phenomenon where the maternal immune system is invaded by a pathogen that triggers an immune response, interfering with the normal fetal brain development process (Madore et al., 2016). Infection during pregnancy induces an inflammatory response causing a dysregulation in maternal cytokines. The cytokine dysregulation in the fetal compartment can compromise the integrity of the Blood-Brain Barrier (BBB), giving it an increased permeability that allows peripheral cytokines to infiltrate the fetal brain (Meltzer & Water, 2017). Microglia are activated in response to the increase in cytokines in the fetal brain resulting in neuroinflammation. Inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, TGF- $\beta$ and TNF- $\alpha$  are elevated in ASD patients (Patterson et al., 2008; Vargas et al., 2005). This indicates that neuroinflammation persists through postnatal development of the brain affecting neuronal function and behaviour phenotypes of the individual.

Evidence from clinical studies (Brown et al., 2000; Lee et al., 2015) supported by experimental animal models (Bauman et al., 2014; Careaga et al., 2017; Schwartzer et al., 2013; Yang, 2013) have regarded MIA as a factor that increases the risk of NDDs such as ASD. In California, a high risk of ASD was reported in babies born in winter and influenza infections during pregnancy were suggested to be the cause (Zerbo et al., 2011). Herpes Simplex Virus 2, Rubella, *Taxoplasma gondii*, Cytomegalovirus and Influenza virus infections during pregnancy

are associated with an increased risk of NDDs in children born (Atladdottir et al, 2010; Patterson, 2011; Sørensen et al., 2009). More than four decades ago, exposure to congenital rubella encephalitis during pregnancy increased ASD risk in children by 12.5% (Desmond, 1969). There was a marked incidence of low birth weight, pre-mature births and infant deaths in children born to pregnant women who contracted Influenza during the 2009 Influenza (H1N1) pandemic (Doyle et al., 2013). Recent evidence strongly associates ASD with low birth weight and preterm parameters, indicating impaired developmental patterns (Schieve et al., 2016).

The timing of infection during pregnancy has an impact on severity and diversity of NDDs (Hornig et al., 2017; Horvath & Bjørke-monsen, 2015). Hospitalized pregnant women with bacterial infections in the second and third trimester were at a high risk of delivering a child with ASD (Zerbo et al., 2016). Among Swedish children born between 1984 and 2007, 3.7% of the ASD diagnosed children were born to mothers who had been hospitalized due to gestational infections (Lee et al., 2015). Similarly, a study in Norway recorded frequent maternal exposures to infection to have doubled the ASD risk in children born (Hornig et al., 2017). Second trimester respiratory infections increased the risk of impaired neurodevelopment by 2.06% (Brown et al., 2000). Although specific infectious agents were not identified in this study, tuberculosis is suggested to have been a contributor to the respiratory infections recorded because it is a major respiratory disease.

#### 1.5 MIA Mechanism in ASD

#### 1.5.1 The role of cytokines in MIA

Inflammatory response during pregnancy due to infection contributes tremendously to impaired neurodevelopmental processes, regardless of the specific microorganism. Cytokines regulate the immune system as well as brain development, hence they are expressed in minute levels in the brain to ensure normal neurodevelopment (Horvath & Bjørke-monsen, 2015; Knuesel et al., 2014). Pro-inflammatory cytokines are upregulated in response to infection, while anti-inflammatory cytokines regulate the inflammatory response to regain homeostasis. When a pathogen invades the maternal system during pregnancy, specific pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  increase in the maternal blood, which can enter the fetal compartment via the placenta. IL-6 can cross the BBB and trigger a fetal immune response because the brain recognises an upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines as a sickness signal (Knuesel et al., 2014; Lombardo et al., 2017; Meltzer & Water, 2017; Parker-Athill & Tan, 2011). Interleukin 6 is known to have a crucial role in MIA. Smith *et al.* (2007) found that

behavioural deficits of MIA offspring are not displayed when IL-6 is suppressed during pregnancy (Smith *et al.*, 2007). Supporting these findings, co-administration of IL-6 antibody in a Poly-IC model of MIA normalised the gene expression and social behaviour changes common in MIA progeny, while a single injection of IL-6 at mid-gestation of pregnant dams was enough to cause behavioural and social deficits in the pups (Smith et al., 2007). The balance between pro and anti-inflammatory cytokines is crucial to a developing brain.

Cytokines interact with other immune molecules such as Major Histocompatibility Complex 1 (MHC1) that are found on neurons. These molecules regulate synaptic plasticity necessary in synaptogenesis. A prolonged inflammatory response in the brain may alter the expression of MHC1, causing improper formation of synapses in a developing brain (Jiang et al., 2018).

#### 1.5.2 MIA and the Hypothalamic Pituitary Adrenal (HPA) axis

The HPA axis is the pathway responsible for stress responses in the body. Maternal cytokines released in response to an infection can induce the fetal hypothalamus to release Corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH) and arginine vasopressin, which stimulate the anterior pituitary gland and adrenal cortex to release Adrenocorticotropic Hormone (ACTH) and glucocorticoids, respectively (Figure 1.4) (Jiang et al., 2018; Ratnayake et al., 2013). Glucocorticoids assist in normal brain development by maintaining intra-uterine homeostasis through suppression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and stimulating anti-inflammatory cytokines (Ratnayake et al., 2013). However, exposure of the fetal brain to excess glucocorticoids can activate microglia leading to exaggerated expression of inflammatory cytokines which interfere with the normal stress response mechanisms of the HPA axis (Dunn, 2000; Duque & Munhoz, 2016).





#### 1.6 ASD and Mycobacterial infections

TB is chiefly caused by the slow growing rod-shaped bacterium, *Mtb* (Mathad & Gupta, 2012). Women have an increased risk of suffering from TB during pregnancy due to immunological changes, which present an opportunity for mycobacterial infection establishment (Bates et al., 2015; Gupta, 2009). Dow (2011) proposed a possible link between Autism and mycobacterial infections, where *Mycobacterium avium* ss. *paratuberculosis* (MAP), a pathogenic bacterium that causes inflammatory bowel disease triggers autoantibodies to the brain via a mycobacterial stress induced protein, HSP65. The behavioral and social deficit phenotypes in ASD subjects are possibly a result of an anti-Myelin Basic Protein (MBP) antibody induced inflammation (Dow, 2011).

#### 1.7 Animal models of ASD

#### 1.7.1 Valporic Acid ASD model

Rodents prenatally exposed to VPA display impaired social behaviours, neural circuits and altered biochemical pathways that are very similar to those seen in ASD patients. Prenatal exposure to VPA in rodents is a widely used model in ASD studies, which delays the maturation of neurons leading to the delayed physical development seen in ASD phenotype (Deckmann et al., 2018). The VPA model involves a single injection of a high dose at day 12.5 of gestation. Researchers use a range of different high doses (500-800mg/kg) of VPA, which

results in anatomical and pathological outcomes similar to those of ASD in humans (Roullet & Crawley, 2012).

# Table 1. 1: VPA rodent models

| VPA dose/<br>adminstration | Exposure<br>timing | Effects on offspring   | Species/ strain              | References                       |
|----------------------------|--------------------|--|------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| 400 mg/kg; 300 mg/kg       | E10;<br>E12.5      | $\downarrow$ sociability and preference for social novelty, $\uparrow$ repetitive behaviour  | Sprague dawley rats and mice | (Kim et al., 2014)               |
| s.c                        |                    |  |                              |                                  |
| 600 mg/kg<br>i.p           | E12.5              | ↓body weight, delayed eye opening, altered ofalctry discrimination, delayed swimming behaviour, ↓prepulse inhibition (PPI), ↑sensitivity to pain, ↑hyperactivity |                              | (Schneider and Przewłocki, 2005) |
| 600 mg/kg                  | E12.5              | Delayed eye opening, ↓body weight, ↑congenital malformations   | Wistar rats                  | (Ruhela et al., 2017)            |
| 500 mg/kg                  | E12.5              | ↓ dendritic spines   | mice                         | (Yamaguchi et al., 2017)         |
| i.p                        |                    |  |                              |                                  |
| 600 mg/kg                  | E12.5              | $\downarrow$ social play, $\downarrow$ social interaction, $\uparrow$ self-grooming, $\uparrow$ glucose metabolism   | mice                         | (Campolongo et al., 2018)        |
| 600 mg/kg                  | E12.5              | $\downarrow$ social interaction, $\uparrow$ expression of miR 134-5p   | Wistar rats                  | (Hirsch et al., 2018)            |
| i.p                        |                    |  |                              |                                  |
| 600 mg/kg<br>i.p           | E12.5              | $\uparrow$ corticosterone levels, $\uparrow$ glial activation in females, $\downarrow$ social interaction in males   | CFI mice                     | (Kazlauskas et al., 2019)        |
| 500 mg/kg                  | E12.5              | ↓sociability, impaired social discrimination abilities, ↑dopamine  | Wistar rats                  | (Schiavi et al., 2019)           |
| i.p                        |                    | receptor gene expression   |                              |                                  |

#### 1.7.2 VPA mechanism of action in ASD

VPA has various mechanisms of disturbing the development and function of neurons. One way is by altering expression of synaptic molecules, which affects the activity of synapses (Nicolini & Fahnestock, 2018).



Figure 1. 5: VPA inhibition of Histone deacetylase (HDAC) activity (Bambini-junior et al., 2014).

Histones are proteins that bind to DNA to compress and pack it tightly. Post-translational modifications of these histone molecules (acetylation and deacetylation) allow for regulation of gene expression (Bambini-junior et al., 2014). Histone deacetylase (HDAC) removes acetyl groups from histones, which increases the histone-DNA binding affinity while reducing gene expression (Figure 1.5). Concurrently, histone acetylase (HAC) adds acetyl groups to histone, reducing the histone-DNA binding affinity allowing transcription factors to access DNA, hence increasing gene expression (Bambini-junior et al., 2014; Deckmann et al., 2018). Essentially, HDACs are crucial in immune response mechanisms where gene expression of immune signalling molecules are tightly controlled. A disturbance of HDAC enzyme activity interferes with immune response mechanisms. VPA inhibits HDAC activity through binding to the

enzyme's active site (Lloyd, 2013). When HDAC activity is inhibited, the expression of MHCII molecules is increased, which also increases pro-inflammatory cytokine production by CD68 cells while decreasing CD4 immune cell response (Deckmann et al., 2018).

Folic acid deficiency is another proposed mechanism of VPA action in ASD. Folic acid is essentially an inactive form of vitamin B9, which is important in the synthesis of nucleic acids (Lloyd, 2013). Methionine synthase methylates methionine from homocysteine in the presence of vitamin B9 and B12. Methionine is a precursor in DNA methylation, thus it controls the regulation of gene expression in important stages of brain development. A deficiency in folic acid interferes with this regulated gene expression. Pregnancy increases the demand for folic acid, thus creating a deficiency. VPA when administered during pregnancy further reduces the folic acid levels and reduced folic acid in the embryo increases oxidative stress causing altered protein synthesis (Lloyd, 2013).

#### **1.8 Maternal Immune Activation models**

Rodents and non-human primates have been used in neurodevelopmental studies to understand behavioral and cellular changes that are associated with such disorders (Bauman et al., 2014; Careaga et al., 2017). Monkeys are expensive to use in research because of their long gestation which lengthens research duration and their large size that demands large quantities of food. For these reasons, rodents are the preferred animal to use in neuroscience because of their small size that allows researchers to use many of them and rapid generation of results owing to their short gestation.

The most common MIA models involve the injection of pregnant rodents with synthetic viral RNA Polyriboinosinic: polyribocytidilic (Poly I:C) and bacterial endotoxin lipopolysaccharide (LPS) to induce inflammation. Poly:IC and LPS induced MIA models are non-infectious and widely used because they do not require implementing high biosafety measures and their effects on neurodevelopment are well characterized (Table 1.2) (Knuesel et al., 2014; Tohidpour et al., 2017).

## Table 1. 2: Non-infectious MIA models

| MIA agent/<br>adminstration | Exposure<br>timing     | Species/ strain     | Effects on offspring   | References                               |
|-----------------------------|------------------------|---------------------|--|--|
| IL-6 (i.p)                  | E12.5                  | C57BL6/J<br>mice    | Prepulse inhibition deficits (PPI)   | (Smith et al., 2007)                     |
| Poly I.C                    | E10.5; E12.5;<br>E14.5 | C57BL6/J<br>mice    | $\downarrow$ sociability, $\uparrow$ self-grooming, $\downarrow$ vocalisations   | (Malkova et al.,<br>2012)                |
| LPS (i.p)                   | E15                    | Sprague dawley rats | $\uparrow$ stress and cell death gene expression, $\uparrow$ inflammation, $\downarrow$ social interaction and exploration | (Oskvig et al.,<br>2012)                 |
| Poly I.C and LPS (i.p)      | E11.5; E12.5           | C57BL6/J mice       | $\downarrow$ locomotion in Poly I.C male offspring, $\uparrow$ repetitive behaviour  | (Xuan and<br>Hampson, 2014)              |
| Poly I.C<br>(i.p)           | E12,5                  | C57BL6/J mice       | ↓spine density, impaired inhibitory and excitatory synaptic function, ↑repetitive behaviours                               | (Coiro et al., 2015)                     |
| Poly I.C (i.v)              | E17                    | C57BL6/J mice       | $\uparrow$ IL-6, $\uparrow$ IL-1 $\beta$ , $\uparrow$ TNF- $\alpha$ , altered BDNF expression                              | (Giovanoli et al.,<br>2015)              |
| LPS<br>i.p                  | E15                    | C57BL6/J mice       | ↓vocalisations, ↑repetitive behaviours, ↓CX3CR1 gene expression  | (Fernández de<br>Cossío et al.,<br>2017) |

| LPS (i.p)      | E9.5         | Wistar rats   | ↑repetitive behaviours, ↓dopamine metabolites  | (Konefal<br>Stellwagen,<br>2017) | &    |
|----------------|--------------|---------------|--|----------------------------------|------|
| LPS (i.p)      | E12          | C57BL6/J mice | $IL$ -6, IL-1β and TNF-α, $\uparrow$ neuroinflammation in amygdala   | (O'Loughlin<br>al., 2017)        | et   |
| LPS (i.p)      | E12.5        | C57BL6/J mice | $\downarrow$ expression of mTOR gene, $\downarrow$ expression of synaptic molecules                                | (Lombardo<br>al., 2017)          | et   |
| Poly I.C (i.p) | E12.5; E17.5 | C57BL6/J mice | ↑hyperexcitation in the hippocampus  | (Gao et 2019)                    | al., |
| Poly I.C (i.p) | E12.5        | C57BL6/J mice | ↓social interaction in males, impaired motor function, ↓purkinje cell numbers in males, ↓cortical neuronal numbers | (Haida et 2019)                  | al., |

i.p- intraperitoneal; i.v- intravenous
#### 1.9 Infectious MIA models

#### 1.9.1 Influenza viruses

Amongst all microorganisms used in MIA animal models, the Influenza viruses are the most documented. Fatemi's group pioneered influenza-induced MIA studies in mice to assess its impact on a developing brain. They found that prenatal exposure to Influenza virus H1N1 increases neuronal Nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) immunoreactivity, reduces cortical thickness and Reelin expression in the brain (Fatemi et al., 1998; Fatemi et al., 1999). They also reported altered expression of genes linked to neurodevelopment and anatomical changes in different brain regions of mice exposed to influenza virus *in utero* (Fatemi et al., 2009). (Shi et al., 2005) also reported altered brain development in offspring born to dams infected with Influenza virus H1N1 during pregnancy. Prenatal exposure to influenza H3N2 induced altered social and locomotion behaviour (Miller et al., 2013) and ASD-associated anatomical changes in offspring (Short et al., 2010).

## 1.9.2 Escherichia coli

Maternal urinary tract infection influenced the development of rat offspring. Pregnant rats were infected with *E. coli* in the urinary tract. The offspring of the infected rats had restricted fetal growth and impaired cognitive function (Cronise & Kelly, 2001).

#### 1.9.3 Listeria monocytogenes

When *L. monocytogenes* was used to infect pregnant mice intravenously on E14, there was a reduction in the protective TH-1 cytokines produced in the maternal compartment. The immune response influenced the pregnancy outcome and increased fetal resorption was recorded in the study (Abram & Schlu, 2003).

## 1.9.4 Porphyromonas gingivalis

Periodontal infection was reported to have a negative effect on pregnancy outcome. Pregnant mice were subcutaneously infected with *P. gingivalis* on E7.5, which induced an upsurge of TNF- $\alpha$  and reduction of IL-10 in the fetal compartment. The maternal inflammatory responses restricted fetal growth and increased fetal resorption (Lin et al., 2003).

#### 1.9.5 Campylobacter rectus

Fetal resorption and growth restriction was linked to maternal exposure to *C. rectus* on E7.5. Prenatal exposure to *C. rectus* also increased pup mortality and induced neuroinflammation in the brain of infected mice offspring (Offenbacher et al., 2005).

#### 1.9.6 Plasmodium berghei

Pregnant mice were exposed to *P. berghei*, a malaria causing parasite. The behavioral of pups born was altered, offspring had social deficits, learning difficulties, poor memory and depression-like moods that persisted to adulthood. Impaired learning skills were correlated to reduced biogenic levels in the brain (McDonald et al., 2015).

#### 1.9.7 Zika Virus

ZIKV gestational exposure in guinea pigs did not affect fetal growth and development. ZIKV was not transmitted to the offspring but a strong immune response against ZIKV was detected in both the mothers and offspring (Bierle et al., 2017).

#### 1.9.8 Staphylococcus aureus enterotoxins

*S. aureus* enterotoxins A and B (SEA and SEB) were used to induce MIA in pregnant mice and immune dysregulation was reported in pups born to SEA ( elevated IL-4, IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-2, IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$  of and IL-17) and SEB (elevated IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-6) infected mothers (Glass *et al.*, 2018). The behavioral impairments in the pups were attributed to the immune dysregulation emanating from prenatal exposure to the bacterial enterotoxins.

#### 1.9.9 Cytomegalovirus

Gestational exposure to CMV on E13 induced congenital CMV infection and fetal growth restriction. The offspring born to CMV infected mice presented with neuroinflammation, neuronal loss and impaired neuronal function particularly in the olfactory bulb region of the brain (Lazarini et al., 2018).

## 1.10 ASD behaviour phenotyping

The behaviours of rodents relate to those of humans and so measuring the core behaviours displayed in neurodevelopmental disorders is key in understanding the symptoms and mechanisms involved in the disorders. The core symptoms of ASD are reduced sociability, communication challenges and repetitive patterns. All three can be measured in rodents using tests that have been developed (Chaliha et al., 2020; Chang et al., 2017; Crawley, 2004).

## 1.10.1 Three-chamber social interaction test.

The behavioural test was developed by Jacqueline Crawley (Crawley, 2004). It measures the preference of rodent to a social stimulus compared to an object, and the degree of social novelty preference when presented with a familiar rodent as well as a non-familiar rodent (Chang et al., 2017). The test is conducted in a box made up of three chambers that are connected to each

other by doors in the central chamber. The test mouse has free choice to choose a compartment to enter during two different sessions. The first session, the subject is presented with an object in one chamber and a rodent in the other chamber, the last session the subject is presented with a familiar rodent in one chamber and an unfamiliar rodent in the other chamber (Figure 6). The sessions can be recorded, and time spent in each chamber can be scored by an observer blinded to the treatments given to subjects. (Chang et al., 2017; Silverman et al., 2010).





#### 1.10.2 Repetitive Behaviours

When a normal behavior is displayed for a longer period, it is a repetitive behavior. Selfgrooming, circling and jumping are some of the behaviours used to measure the degree of repetitive patterns in ASD models (Chaliha et al., 2020). The normal self-grooming time is less than 10 seconds long in rodents. These tests are usually done under another behavioural assay such as the three-chamber social interaction test. During the habituation phase, the time spent grooming can be scored from the video recordings (Lawande et al., 2020).

The marble burrowing test is another test that measures repetitive patterns in rodents. A rodent is presented with marbles that are resting on bedding in a cage and the number of marbles

buried over 10 minutes indicates the frequency of digging, which is a repetitive behaviour (Thomas et al., 2009).

#### **1.10.3 Communication**

Rodents communicate through emission of ultrasonic vocalisations that can be recorded using special microphones designed to pick the frequencies in ultrasonic vocalisations. In ASD individuals, impaired communication is shown through unresponsiveness to speech such as name calling, delays in responding to conversations and failure to use expressive languages like communicative gestures (Hrabovska & Salyha, 2016; Silverman et al., 2010) Ultrasonic vocalisations from rodents are compared to speech in humans. When separated from a mother, a pup emits ultrasonic vocalisations for the mother to retrieve it (Chang et al., 2017).

#### 1.11 Study rationale

TB disease during pregnancy has become increasingly common in Africa due to the HIV/AIDS epidemic in the region (WHO, 2020). The exact prevalence of TB in pregnant women remains unknown globally, however, more than 200 000 pregnant women were estimated to have TB globally in 2011. At least 70% of these cases occurred in Africa and South East Asia (Sugarman et al., 2014). Epidemiological studies have established that prenatal exposure to viral, bacterial and parasitic infection increases the risk of impaired fetal development resulting in neurodevelopmental disorders (NDDs) that persist postnatal (Atladottir et al, 2010; Patterson, 2011; Sørensen et al., 2009; Zerbo et al., 2016). The timing of infection during pregnancy has an impact on severity and diversity of NDDs (Hornig et al., 2018; Horvath & Bjørke-monsen, 2015). Recently, hospitalized pregnant women with bacterial infections in the second and third trimester were associated with the highest risk of delivering an autistic child (Zerbo et al., 2016). According to a 2015 Swedish study, 1% of the children born between 1984 and 2007 were diagnosed with ASD and 3.7% of them were born to mothers who had gestational infections (Lee et al., 2015). Similarly, frequent exposure to gestational infections increased ASD risk more than 2 fold in Norwegian infants (Hornig et al., 2018). Maternal infections of influenza and rubella have been reported to increase the risk of brain dysfunction in children (Desmond, 1969; Doyle et al., 2013). These clinical reports reveal that maternal infections in pregnant women contribute to the aetiology of ASD.

Most MIA studies have induced infections using lipopolysaccharide (LPS) bacterial extract and the viral mimic (Poly I:C) to study neurodevelopmental disorders. Borna Disease Virus (BDV), Influenza virus, *Campylobacter rectus, Staphylococcus epidermidis, Staphylococcus aureus* enterotoxins and *Plasmodium berghei* have been used to induce MIA in neurodevelopmental studies in rodents (Offenbacher et al., 2005; Glass et al., 2018; Hallensleben et al., 1998; Kronforst et al., 2012; McDonald et al., 2015). Maternal respiratory infections occurring in the second trimester increased the risk of impaired brain development by 0.91% in people born between 1960 and 1967 (Brown et al., 2000). The specific infectious agents were not identified in this study, however, with the high prevalence of TB in Oakland, California (Davy-Mendez et al., 2019), *Mtb* was most likely among the pathogens that caused maternal respiratory infections. TB in pregnancy is associated with increased risks of distress, low birth weight, infant mortality and prematurity (Jana et al., 1994). A recent South African cohort study reported 65% prematurity, 59% low birth weight and 12% infant mortality among 75 children born to *Mtb* infected mothers (Bekker et al., 2016). However, research has not tapped into possible neurodevelopmental effects of maternal *Mtb* exposure in the infants born. Therefore, this study aims to investigate the effects of prenatal *Mtb* exposure on offspring developmental patterns and ASD-associated phenotype.

#### 1.12 Aim of the study

To determine whether early life exposure to *Mtb* infection induces Autism-like phenotype in a mouse model.

#### 1.13 Study objectives

- To subject pregnant Balb/c mice to *Mtb* infection and VPA treatment individually and in combination and determine effects on pregnancy health and offspring development.
- To determine maternal and congenital Mtb infection through culturing lung tissues of the mothers and pups in all groups in the study.
- To determine the integrity of the offspring's BBB using Evans Blue dye evasion method.
- To evaluate pathological changes associated with neuroinflammation in the PFC and CER using IBA-1 and GFAP markers of microglia and astrocytes using immunohistochemistry.
- To assess the ASD associated neurobehavioural parameters (social behaviors and restricted repetitive patterns) in the pups using the three-chamber social interaction test.
- To evaluate synaptic function through measuring gene expression of neurexins and neuroligins in the cerebellum of the pups using Real-Time Quantitative Reverse Transcription PCR (RT-qPCR).

# To determine systemic immune regulation through measuring plasmatic Th17 cytokines (II-1β, IL-6, TNF-α, IL-10, TGF-β and IL-17) using the Bioplex platform.

#### 1.14 Brief overview of methodology and study design

To accomplish the study objectives, established laboratory methods and protocols were strictly adhered to as illustrated in chapter 2, 3 and 4 of this thesis. Animal experimental work was conducted with approval of the UKZN Animal Research Ethics Committee (AREC 077/018M) and following the National Institute of Health for care and use of laboratory animals, South Africa.

## 1.15 Potential benefit of this research

The research is a multidisciplinary research that will contribute to one of the highly prevalent infectious diseases in Africa and non-communicable diseases such as Autism. Through findings from this research, we add onto the existing literature on maternal infections and their association with neurodevelopmental disorders. Targeted interventions aimed at *Mtb* infections in pregnancy can be developed to ameliorate impaired neurodevelopmental outcomes in the foetus.

#### REFERENCES

- Abram, M., & Schlu, D. (2003). Murine model of pregnancy-associated Listeria monocytogenes infection. *FEMS Immunology and Medical Microbiology*, 35 (3), 172-182. doi:10.1016/S0928-8244(02)00449-2
- Almandil, N. B., Alkuroud, D. N., Abdulazeez, S., Alsulaiman, A., Elaissari, A., & Francis Borgio, J. (2019). Environmental and Genetic Factors in Autism Spectrum Disorders: Special Emphasis on Data from Arabian Studies. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16 (4). doi:10.3390/ijerph16040658
- Atladottir, H. O., Thorsen, P., Ostergaard, L., Schendel, D. E., Lemcke, S., Abdallah, M., Parner, E. T. (2010). Maternal Infection Requiring Hospitalization During Pregnancy and Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of Autism Developmental Disorders*, 40(12) 1423-1430. doi:10.1007/s10803-010-1006-y
- Bambini-junior, V., Baronio, D., Mackenzie, J., Zanatta, G., & Riesgo, S. (2014). Prenatal Exposure to Valproate in Animals and Autism. *Comprehensive Guide to Autism*, doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-4788-7
- Bates, M., Ahmed, Y., Kapata, N., Maeurer, M., Mwaba, P., & Zumla, A. (2015). Perspectives on tuberculosis in pregnancy. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 32, 124-127. doi:10.1016/j.ijid.2014.12.014
- Bauman, M. D., Iosif, A. M., Smith, S. E., Bregere, C., Amaral, D. G., & Patterson, P. H. (2014). Activation of the maternal immune system during pregnancy alters behavioral development of rhesus monkey offspring. *Biology Psychiatry*, 75(4), 332-341. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.06.025
- Bekker, A., Schaaf, H. S., Draper, H. R., Kriel, M., & Hesseling, A. C. (2016). Tuberculosis Disease during Pregnancy and Treatment Outcomes in HIV-Infected and Uninfected Women at a Referral Hospital in Cape Town. *PLoS One*, *11*, e0164249. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0164249
- Bierle, C. J., Fernandez, C., Hernandez-alvarado, N., Zabeli, C., Janus, B. C., Putri, D. S., & Schleiss, M. R. (2017). Assessing Zika virus replication and the development of Zikaspecific antibodies after a mid-gestation viral challenge in guinea pigs. *PLoS One*, *12*(11), 1-14. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0187720
- Bitta, M., Kariuki, S. M., Abubakar, A., & Newton, C. R. J. C. (2017). Burden of neurodevelopmental disorders in low and middle-income countries: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Wellcome Open Research*, 2(0), 121-121. doi:10.12688/wellcomeopenres.13540.1
- Brown, A. S., Schaefer, C. A., Wyatt, R. J., Goetz, R., Begg, M. D., Gorman, J. M., & Susser,
  E. S. (2000). Maternal Exposure to Respiratory Infections and Adult Schizophrenia Spectrum Disorders: A Prospective Birth Cohort Study. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 26(2), 287-295. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033453
- Careaga, M., Murai, T., & Bauman, M. D. (2017). Maternal Immune Activation and Autism Spectrum Disorder: From Rodents to Nonhuman and Human Primates. *Biology Psychiatry*, 81(5), 391-401. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.10.020

- CDC's Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring (ADDM) Network Understanding Autism Spectrum Disorder and Other Developmental Disabilities. (2018). Retrieved from www.cdc.gov. Accessed on 18. 09. 2020.
- Chaliha, D., Albrecht, M., Vaccarezza, M., Takechi, R., Lam, V., Al-Salami, H., & Mamo, J. (2020). A Systematic Review of the Valproic-Acid-Induced Rodent Model of Autism. *Developmental Neuroscience*, 42(1), 12-48. doi:10.1159/000509109
- Chang, Y. C., Cole, T. B., & Costa, L. G. (2017). Behavioral Phenotyping for Autism Spectrum Disorders in Mice. *Current Protocols in Toxicology*, 72, 11 22 11-11 22 21. doi:10.1002/cptx.19
- Coiro, P., Padmashri, R., Suresh, A., Spartz, E., Pendyala, G., Chou, S., . . . Dunaevsky, A. (2015). Impaired synaptic development in a maternal immune activation mouse model of neurodevelopmental disorders. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 50*, 249-258. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2015.07.022
- Crawley, J. N. (2004). Designing mouse behavioral tasks relevant to autistic-like behaviors. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 10(4), 248-258. doi:10.1002/mrdd.20039
- Cronise, K., & Kelly, S. J. (2001). Maternal urinary tract infection alters water maze performance in the offspring. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*, 23, 373-379. doi: 10.1016/s0892-0362(01)00142-8.
- Davy-Mendez, T., Shiau, R., Okada, R. C., Moss, N. J., Huang, S., Murgai, N., & Chitnis, A. S. (2019). Combining surveillance systems to investigate local trends in tuberculosis HIV co-infection. *AIDSCare*, 31(10), 1311-1318.doi:10.1080/09540121.2019.1576845
- Deckmann, I., Brum Schwingel, G., Fontes-Dutra, M., Bambini-Junior, V., & Gottfried, C. (2018). Neuroimmune Alterations in Autism: A Translational Analysis Focusing on the Animal Model of Autism Induced by Prenatal Exposure to Valproic Acid Keywords Autism spectrum disorder · Neuroimmune alterations · Cytokines · Animal model · Valproic acid. *NeuroImmunoModulation*, 25, 285-299. doi:10.1159/000492113
- Desmond, M. M. (1969). Congenital Rubella Encephalitis. American Journal of Diseases of Children, 118(1), 30-30. doi:10.1001/archpedi.1969.02100040032005
- Ding, Y., Howard, L., Gallagher, L., & Shen, S. (2015). Regulation and postsynaptic binding of neurexins — drug targets for neurodevelopmental and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Frontiers in Biology*, 10(3), 239-251. doi:10.1007/s11515-015-1363-1
- Doyle, T. J., Goodin, K., & Hamilton, J. J. (2013). Maternal and Neonatal Outcomes among Pregnant Women with 2009 Pandemic Influenza A (H1N1) Illness in Florida, 2009-2010 : A Population-Based Cohort Study. *PLoS One*, 8(10), 2009-2010. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0079040
- Dunn, A. J. (2000). Cytokine activation of the HPA axis. Annals of the New York Academy of Science, 917, 608-617. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb05426.x
- Duque, E. d. A., & Munhoz, C. D. (2016). The Pro-inflammatory Effects of Glucocorticoids in the Brain. *Frontiers in endocrinology*, 7, 78-78. doi:10.3389/fendo.2016.00078
- Durand, C. M., Betancur, C., Boeckers, T. M., Bockmann, J., Chaste, P., Fauchereau, F., . . . Bourgeron, T. (2007). Mutations in the gene encoding the synaptic scaffolding protein

SHANK3 are associated with autism spectrum disorders. *Nature Genetics*, 39(1), 25-27. doi:10.1038/ng1933

- Fatemi, S. H., Emamian, E. S., Kist, D., Sidwell, R. W., Nakajima, K., Akhter, P., . . . Bailey, K. (1999). Defective corticogenesis and reduction in Reelin immunoreactivity in cortex and hippocampus of prenatally infected neonatal mice. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 4(2), 145-154. doi:10.1038/sj.mp.4000520
- Fatemi, S. H., Folsom, T. D., Reutiman, T. J., Huang, H., Oishi, K., & Mori, S. (2009). Gene expression is altered in hippocampus following prenatal viral infection in mouse at E16. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 19(9). doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2009.03.004
- Fatemi, S. H., Sidwell, R., Akhter, P., Sedgewick, J., Thuras, P., Bailey, K., & Kist, D. (1998).
  Human influenza viral infection in utero increases nNOS expression in hippocampi of neonatal mice. *Synapse*, 29(1), 84-88. doi:10.1002/(SICI)10982396(199805)29:1<84::AID-SYN8>3.0.CO;2-7
- Fernández de Cossío, L., Guzmán, A., van der Veldt, S., & Luheshi, G. N. (2017). Prenatal infection leads to ASD-like behavior and altered synaptic pruning in the mouse offspring. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, *63*, 88-98. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2016.09.028
- Gadad, B. S., Hewitson, L., Young, K. A., & German, D. C. (2013). Neuropathology and Animal Models of Autism: Genetic and Environmental Factors. *Autism Research and Treatment, 2013*, 1-12. doi:10.1155/2013/731935
- Gao, M., Orita, K., & Ikegaya, Y. (2019). Maternal immune activation in pregnant mice produces offspring with altered hippocampal ripples. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 42(5), 666-670. doi:10.1248/bpb.b19-00028
- Geschwind, D. H. (2011). Genetics of autism spectrum disorders. Trends in Cognitive Sciences,

15, 409-416. Doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2011.07.003

- Giovanoli, S., Notter, T., Richetto, J., Labouesse, M. A., Vuillermot, S., Riva, M. A., & Meyer, U. (2015). Late prenatal immune activation causes hippocampal deficits in the absence of persistent inflammation across aging. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 12, 221. doi:10.1186/s12974-015-0437-y
- Glass, R., Norton, S., Fox, N., & Kusnecov, A. W. (2018). Brain , Behavior , and Immunity Maternal immune activation with staphylococcal enterotoxin A produces unique behavioral changes in C57BL / 6 mouse o ff spring. *Brain Behavior and Immunity*(May), 0-1. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2018.05.005
- Global tuberculosis report. (2020). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- Guang, S., Pang, N., Deng, X., Yang, L., He, F., Wu, L., ... Peng, J. (2018). Synaptopathology involved in autism spectrum disorder. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 12, 1-16. doi:10.3389/fncel.2018.00470
- Haida, O., Al Sagheer, T., Balbous, A., Francheteau, M., Matas, E., Soria, F., . . . Jaber, M. (2019). Sex-dependent behavioral deficits and neuropathology in a maternal immune activation model of autism. *Translational Psychiatry*, 9(1), 124. doi:10.1038/s41398-019-0457-y

- Hallensleben, W., Schwemmle, M., Hausmann, R., Stitz, L., Volk, B., Pagenstecher, A., & Staeheli, P. (1998). Borna Disease Virus-Induced Neurological Disorder in Mice : Infection of Neonates Results in Immunopathology. *Journal of Virology*, 72(5), 4379-4386. doi: 10.1128/JVI.72.5.4379-4386.1998.
- Hornig, M., Bresnahan, M., Che, X., Schultz, A., Ukaigwe, J., Eddy, M. L., . . . Lipkin, W. (2018). Prenatal fever and autism risk- human study. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 23, 759-766. doi:10.1038/mp.2017.119
- Horvath, A., & Bjørke-monsen, A. (2015). Maternal stress, nutrition and physical activity: Impact on immune function, CNS development and psychopathology. *Brain Research*, 1617, 28-46. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2014.10.051
- Hrabovska, S. V., & Salyha, Y. T. (2016). Animal Models of Autism Spectrum Disorders and Behavioral Techniques of their Examination. *Neurophysiology*, 48(5), 380-388. doi:10.1007/s11062-017-9613-2
- Huguet, G., & Bourgeron, T. (2016). Genetic Causes of Autism Spectrum Disorders: Neuronal and Synaptic Dysfunction in Autism Spectrum Disorder and Intellectual Disability, Elsevier Inc. ISBN: 9780128005330. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800109-7.00002-9
- Hussein, H., Taha, G. R. A., & Almanasef, A. (2011). Characteristics of autism spectrum disorders in a sample of egyptian and saudi patients: Transcultural cross sectional study. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 5, 1-12. doi:10.1186/1753-2000-5-34
- Jana, N. K. V., Jindal, S. K., Khunnu, B., & Ghosh, K (1994). Perinatal outcome tuberculosis in pregnancies complicated by pulmonary. *International Journal Gynecology and Obstetrics*, 44, 119-124. doi:10.1016/0020-7292(94)90064-7
- Jiang, N. M., Cowan, M., Moonah, S. N., & Petri, W. A., Jr. (2018). The Impact of Systemic Inflammation on Neurodevelopment. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, 24(9), 794-804. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2018.06.008
- Kalkbrenner, A. E., Schmidt, R. J., & Penlesky, A. C. (2014). Environmental Chemical Exposures and Autism Spectrum Disorders: A Review of the Epidemiological Evidence Amy. *Current Problems in Pediatric and Adolescent Health Care*, 44(10), 277-318. doi:10.1016/j.cppeds.2014.06.001
- Kim, H. G., Kishikawa, S., Higgins, A. W., Seong, I. S., Donovan, D. J., Shen, Y., . . . Gusella, J. F. (2008). Disruption of neurexin 1 associated with autism spectrum disorder. Am J Hum Genet, 82(1), 199-207. doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2007.09.011
- Klimkeit, E., Rinehart, N., & Bradshaw, J. (2015). Neurodevelopmental Disorders. *America's Children and the Environment, Third Edition*, 32. doi:10.1016/B978-012373960-5.00026-5
- Knuesel, I., Chicha, L., Britschgi, M., Schobel, S. A., Bodmer, M., Hellings, J. A., . . . Prinssen, E. P. (2014). Maternal immune activation and abnormal brain development across CNS disorders. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 10(11), 643-660. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2014.187
- Konefal, S. C., & Stellwagen, D. (2017). Tumour necrosis factor-mediated homeostatic synaptic plasticity in behavioural models: Testing a role in maternal immune activation. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 372(1715). doi:10.1098/rstb.2016.0160

- Kronforst, K. D., Mancuso, C. J., Pettengill, M., Ninkovic, J., Power, M. R., Stevens, C., . . . Levy, O. (2012). A Neonatal Model of Intravenous Staphylococcus epidermidis Infection in Mice, 24 h Old Enables Characterization of Early Innate Immune Responses. *PLoS One*, 7(9), 1-10. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0043897
- Lawande, N. V., Ujjainwala, A. L., & Christian, C. A. (2020). A Single Test to Study Social Behavior and Repetitive Self-grooming in Mice. *Bio-protocol*, 10(2), e3499. doi:10.21769/BioProtoc.3499
- Lazarini, F., Katsimpardi, L., Levivien, S., Gressens, X., Teissier, N., & Lledo, P. (2018). Congenital Cytomegalovirus Infection Alters Olfaction. *Journal of Neuroscience* 38(49), 10424-10437. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0740-18.2018
- Lee, B. K., Magnusson, C., Gardner, R. M., Blomström, Å., Newschaffer, C. J., Burstyn, I., . . Dalman, C. (2015). Maternal hospitalization with infection during pregnancy and risk of autism spectrum disorders Autism Speaks. *Brain Behavior and Immunity*, 44, 100-105. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2014.09.001
- Lein, P. J. (2015). Overview of the Role of Environmental Factors in Neurodevelopmental Disorders: In Environmental Factors in Neurodevelopmental and Neurodegenerative Disorders, 3-20. ISBN: 9780128002285. doi: 10.1016/b978-0-12-800228-5.00001-7
- Lin, D., Smith, M. A., Champagne, C., Elter, J., Beck, J., & Offenbacher, S. (2003). Porphyromonas gingivalis Infection during Pregnancy Increases Maternal Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha, Suppresses Maternal Interleukin-10, and Enhances Fetal Growth Restriction and Resorption in Mice. *Infection and Immunity*, 71(9), 5156-5162. doi:10.1128/IAI.71.9.5156
- Lloyd, K. A. (2013). A scientific review: Mechanisms of valproate-mediated teratogenesis. *Bioscience Horizons*, 6, 1-10. doi:10.1093/biohorizons/hzt003
- Lombardo, M. V., Moon, H. M., Su, J., Palmer, T. D., Courchesne, E., & Pramparo, T. (2017). Maternal immune activation dysregulation of the fetal brain transcriptome and relevance to the pathophysiology of autism spectrum disorder. *Molecular Psychiatry*(July 2016), 1-13. doi:10.1038/mp.2017.15
- Lyall, K., Croen, L., Daniels, J., Fallin, M. D., Ladd-Acosta, C., Lee, B. K., . . . Newschaffer, C. (2017). The Changing Epidemiology of Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Annual Review* of Public Health, 38(1), 81-102. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031816-044318
- Madore, C., Leyrolle, Q., Lacabanne, C., Benmamar-Badel, A., Joffre, C., Nadjar, A., & Layé,
   S. (2016). Neuroinflammation in Autism: Plausible Role of Maternal Inflammation,
   Dietary Omega 3, and Microbiota. *Neural Plasticity*, 2016. doi:10.1155/2016/3597209
- Malkova, N. V., Yu, C. Z., Hsiao, E. Y., Moore, M. J., & Patterson, P. H. (2012). Maternal immune activation yields offspring displaying mouse versions of the three core symptoms of autism. *Brain Behaviour and Immunity*, 26(4), 607-616. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2012.01.011
- Mathad, J. S., & Gupta, A. (2012). Tuberculosis in Pregnant and Postpartum Women: Epidemiology, Management, and Research Gaps. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 55(11), 1532-1549. doi:10.1093/cid/cis732
- McDonald, C. R., Cahill, L. S., Ho, K. T., Yang, J., Kim, H., Silver, L., . . . Sled, J. G. (2015). Experimental Malaria in Pregnancy Induces Neurocognitive Injury in Uninfected

Offspring via a C5a-C5a Receptor Dependent Pathway. *PLOS Pathogens*, 11(9), e1005140. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1005140

- Meltzer, A., & Water, J. V. D. (2017). The Role of the Immune System in Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 41(1), 284-298. doi:10.1038/npp.2016.158
- Miller, V. M., Zhu, Y., Bucher, C., McGinnis, W., Ryan, L. K., Siegel, A., & Zalcman, S. (2013). Gestational flu exposure induces changes in neurochemicals, affiliative hormones and brainstem inflammation, in addition to autism-like behaviors in mice. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 33*, 153-163. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2013.07.002
- Mor, G., Aldo, P., & Alvero, A. B. (2017). The unique immunological and microbial aspects of pregnancy. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *17*(8), 469-482. doi:10.1038/nri.2017.64
- Mor, G., & Cardenas, I. (2010). The Immune System in Pregnancy: A Unique Complexity. American journal of Reproductive Immunology, 63(6). doi:10.1111/j.1600-0897.2010.00836.x
- Morelli, S., Mandal, M., Goldsmith, L. T., Kashani, B. N., & Ponzio, N. M. (2015). The maternal immune system during pregnancy and its influence on fetal development. *Research and Reports in Biology*, 6, 171-171. doi:10.2147/rrb.s80652
- Nicolini, C., & Fahnestock, M. (2018). The valproic acid-induced rodent model of autism. *Experimental Neurology*, 299, 217-227. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2017.04.017
- Offenbacher, S., Riche, E. L., Barros, S. P., Bobetsis, Y. A., Lin, D., & Beck, J. D. (2005). Effects of Maternal Campylobacter rectus Infection on Murine Placenta. *Journal of Periodontology*, 76, 2133-2143. doi: 10.1902/jop.2005.76.11-S.2133.
- O'Loughlin, E., Pakan, J. M. P., Yilmazer-Hanke, D., & McDermott, K. W. (2017). Acute in utero exposure to lipopolysaccharide induces inflammation in the pre- and postnatal brain and alters the glial cytoarchitecture in the developing amygdala. J Neuroinflammation, 14(1), 212. doi:10.1186/s12974-017-0981-8
- Olusanya, B. O., Davis, A. C., Wertlieb, D., Boo, N.-Y., Nair, M. K. C., Halpern, R., . . . Kassebaum, N. J. (2018). Developmental disabilities among children younger than 5 years in 195 countries and territories, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *The Lancet Global Health*, 6(10), e1100-e1121. doi:10.1016/s2214-109x(18)30309-7
- Oskvig, D. B., Elkahloun, A. G., Johnson, K. R., Phillips, T. M., & Herkenham, M. (2012). Maternal immune activation by LPS selectively alters specific gene expression profiles of interneuron migration and oxidative stress in the fetus without triggering a fetal immune response. *Brain Behaviour and Immunity*, 26(4), 623-634. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2012.01.015
- Park, H. R., Lee, J. M., Moon, H. E., Lee, D. S., Kim, B.-n., Kim, J., ... Paek, S. H. (2016). A Short Review on the Current Understanding of Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Experimental Neurobiology*, 25(1), 1-13. doi:10.5607/en.2016.25.1.1
- Parker-Athill, E. C., & Tan, J. (2011). Maternal immune activation and autism spectrum disorder: Interleukin-6 signaling as a key mechanistic pathway. *NeuroSignals*, 18(2), 113-128. doi:10.1159/000319828

- Patel, J., Lukkes, J. L., & Shekhar, A. (2018). Overview of genetic models of autism spectrum disorders. *Progress in Brain Research*, 241, 1-36. doi:10.1016/bs.pbr.2018.10.002
- Patterson, P. H. (2011). Maternal infection and immune involvement in autism. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, 17(7), 389-394. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2011.03.001
- Patterson, P. H., Xu, W., Smith, S. E. P., & Devarman, B. E. (2008). Maternal Immune Activation, Cytokines and Autism. *Autism*, 289-307. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ
- Ratajczak, H. V. (2011). Theoretical aspects of autism: A review. *Journal of Immunotoxicology*, 8(1), 68-79. doi:10.3109/1547691X.2010.545086
- Ratnayake, U., Quinn, T., Walker, D. W., & Dickinson, H. (2013). Cytokines and the neurodevelopmental basis of mental illness. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 7, 1-9. doi:10.3389/fnins.2013.00180
- Roullet, F. I., & Crawley, J. N. (2012). Mouse models of autism: testing hypotheses about molecular mechanisms. *Current Topics in Behavioural Neurosciences*, 7, 187-212. doi: 10.1007/7854\_2010\_113
- Rylaarsdam, L., & Guemez-Gamboa, A. (2019). Genetic Causes and Modifiers of Autism Spectrum Disorder. Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience, 13, 1-15. doi:10.3389/fncel.2019.00385
- Schieve, L., Tian, L., Rankin, K., Kogan, M., Yeargin-Allsopp, M., Visser, S., & Rosenberg, D. (2016). Population impact of preterm birth and low birth weight on developmental disabilities in US children. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 26(4), 267-274. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2016.02.012
- Schwartzer, J. J., Careaga, M., Onore, C. E., Rushakoff, J. A., Berman, R. F., & Ashwood, P. (2013). Maternal immune activation and strain specific interactions in the development of autism-like behaviors in mice. *Translational Psychiatry*, 3(3), e240-249. doi:10.1038/tp.2013.16
- Shi, L., Tu, N., & Patterson, P. H. (2005). Maternal influenza infection is likely to alter fetal brain development indirectly: The virus is not detected in the fetus. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 23(2-3 SPEC. ISS.), 299-305. doi:10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2004.05.005
- Short, S. J., Lubach, G. R., Karasin, A. I., Olsen, C. W., Styner, M., Knickmeyer, R. C., . . . Coe, C. L. (2010). Maternal Influenza Infection During Pregnancy Impacts Postnatal Brain Development in the Rhesus Monkey. *Journal of Biology psychiatry*, 67 (10), 965-973. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.11.026
- Silverman, J. L., Yang, M., Lord, C., & Crawley, J. N. (2010). Behavioural phenotyping assays for mouse models of autism. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 11(7), 490-502. doi:10.1038/nrn2851
- Smith, S. E. P., Li, J., Garbett, K., Mirnics, K., & Patterson, P. H. (2007). Maternal immune activation alters fetal brain development through interleukin-6. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 27(40), 10695-10702. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2178-07.2007
- Soler, J., Fañanás, L., Parellada, M., Krebs, M.-O., Rouleau, G. A., & Mar, F.-V. (2018). Genetic variability in scaffolding proteins and risk for schizophrenia and autism-

spectrum disorders: a systematic review. *Journal of Psychiatry Neuroscience*, 43(4), 223-223. doi:10.1503/jpn.170066

- Sørensen, H. J., Mortensen, E. L., Reinisch, M., & Mednick, S. A. (2009). Association Between Prenatal Exposure to Bacterial Infection and Risk of Schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 35(3), 631-637. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbn121
- Sugarman, J., Colvin, C., Moran, A. C., & Oxlade, O. (2014). Tuberculosis in pregnancy: An estimate of the global burden of disease. *The Lancet Global Health*, 2(12), e710-e716. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(14)70330-4
- Thomas, A., Burant, A., Bui, N., Graham, D., Yuva-Paylor, L. A., & Paylor, R. (2009). Marble burying reflects a repetitive and perseverative behavior more than novelty-induced anxiety. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 204(2), 361-373. doi:10.1007/s00213-009-1466y
- Tilahun, D., Fekadu, A., Tekola, B., Araya, M., Roth, I., Davey, B., . . . Hoekstra, R. A. (2017).
  Ethiopian community health workers ' beliefs and attitudes towards children with autism : Impact of a brief training intervention. *Autism*, 23(1), 39-49. doi:10.1177/1362361317730298
- Tohidpour, A., Morgun, A. V., Boitsova, E. B., Malinovskaya, N. A., Martynova, G. P., & Khilazheva, E. D. (2017). Neuroinflammation and Infection : Molecular Mechanisms Associated with Dysfunction of Neurovascular Unit. *Frontiers in Cellular and Molecular Microbiology*, 7. doi:10.3389/fcimb.2017.00276
- Vargas, D. L., Nascimbene, C., Krishnan, C., Zimmerman, A. W., & Pardo, C. A. (2005). Neuroglial activation and neuroinflammation in the brain of patients with autism. *Annals of Neurology*, 57(1), 67-81. doi:10.1002/ana.20315
- Wetherston, V., Gangat, S., Shange, N., Wheeler, K., Karrim, S. B. S., & Pahl, J. (2017). The views and knowledge of parents of children with autism spectrum disorder on a range of treatments. *South African Journal of Child Health*, 11(3), 117-121. doi:10.7196/SAJCH.2017.v11i3.1274
- Wisniowiecka-Kowalnik, B., & Nowakowska, B. A. (2019). Genetics and epigenetics of autism spectrum disorder current evidence in the field. *Journal of Applied Genetics*, 60, 37-47. doi:10.1007/s13353-018-00480-w
- Won, H., Mah, W., & Kim, E. (2013). Autism spectrum disorder causes, mechanisms, and treatments: Focus on neuronal synapses. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 6(JULY), 1-26. doi:10.3389/fnmol.2013.00019
- Yang, C. (2013). The Maternal Immune Activation Mouse Model of Autism Spectrum Disorders.
- Zerbo, O., Iosif, A.-M., Delwiche, L., Walker, C., & Hertz-Picciotto, I. (2011). Month of conception and risk of autism. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 22(4), 469-475. doi:10.1097/EDE.0b013e31821d0b53
- Zerbo, O., Qian, Y., Yoshida, C., Grether, J. K., Van de Water, J., & Croen, L. A. (2016). Maternal Infection during Pregnancy and Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45(12), 4015-4025. doi:10.1007/s10803-013-2016-3

This chapter is a manuscript entitled 'Gestational *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* exposure affects pregnancy and leads to developmental delays in infected mice offspring' that has been submitted to a DHET accredited and Scopus indexed journal. *Experimental Physiology* 

#### CHAPTER TWO

## Gestational *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* exposure affects pregnancy and leads to developmental delays in infected mice offspring

Wadzanai MANJEESE<sup>1</sup>, Nontobeko. E. MVUBU<sup>2</sup>, Adrie. J. C. STEYN<sup>3, 4</sup>, Thabisile MPOFANA<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Human Physiology, School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, University of Kwazulu Natal, Durban, South Africa.
<sup>2</sup>Discipline of Microbiology, School of Life Sciences, College of Agriculture, Engineering and Science, University of Kwazulu Natal, Durban, South Africa.
<sup>3</sup>Africa Health Research Institute, K-Rith Tower Building, Nelson Mandela School of Medicine, Durban, South Africa.
<sup>4</sup>Department of Microbiology, University of Alabama at Birmingham, AL 35294, USA

Running Title: Prenatal Mtb exposure impairs offspring development

#### **Corresponding Author:**

#### Dr. Thabisile Mpofana

Department of Human Physiology University of Kwazulu Natal Westville campus, University road Durban, South Africa E-mail: mpofana@ukzn.ac.za

**Keywords:** maternal immune activation, *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, pregnancy, developmental delay, fetal resorption, Autism

#### 2 Abstract

Maternal infections during pregnancy are a significant risk for neurodevelopmental disorders. Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb) is a major respiratory pathogen common in pregnant women because pregnancy-associated immune changes favour Mtb infection establishment. Although it is known that some pharmacological drugs and maternal infections in pregnancy can affect offspring development, it is not known whether gestational *Mtb* affects offspring development. The current study infected pregnant Balb/c mice with Mtb H37Rv and Valproic acid (VPA) individually and in combination. Maternal effects were measured by pregnancy success, lung infection and litter size. The pups' development was measured by fetal resorption, eye-opening pattern between postnatal day (PND) 12 and 16 and body weight between PND 7 and 28. Pregnancy survival and fetal development was severely affected by Mtb, causing 40% fetal resorption than the saline group. The *Mtb* infection significantly reduced the litter size compared to the saline. Mtb delayed eye-opening on PND 14 and 15. There were no congenital Mtb infections, but offspring development was significantly affected. Overall our data demonstarte that prenatal Mtb exposure threatens fetal survival and delays offspring development. These findings implicate a potential role of gestational Mtb infections in offspring development.

#### **2.1 Introduction**

Environmental risk factors such as pathogenic infections contribute immensely to the impaired development of children. Maternal infections of human Cytomegalovirus (HCMV), influenza, Herpes, Rubella, *Toxoplasma gondii* contribute to neurodevelopmental disorders (Parner, 2010; Patterson, 2011; Sørensen et al., 2009; Zerbo et al., 2016). Much attention (S. H. Fatemi et al., 1999; S. Hossein Fatemi et al., 2009; Miller et al., 2013; L. Shi et al., 2005) has been awarded to influenza in pregnancy and its association with impaired neurodevelopment leading to delays in physical development and altered behavioural patterns observed in ASD patients.

Developmental disorders are a challenge in the health care system due to their complex etiology. Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) is a group of developmental disorders that affect social and communication domains. These symptoms of ASD present at about 3 years of age. Children also show delays in the onset of speech, walking and other motor skills (E.-J. Yang et al., 2016). Developmental delays were present in 2.2% of ASD diagnosed children (Ventola et al., 2007). In sub-Saharan Africa, developmental disabilities increased by 71.3% between

1990 and 2006, and about 94.9% of children below 5 years of age are living with developmental disabilities in resource-deprived economies like Africa (Olusanya et al., 2018).

VPA is an anticonvulsant and mood stabiliser that is used to treat epilepsy and depression disorders (Deckmann et al., 2018). Treatment of pregnant women with VPA is associated with higher incidence of ASD and physical deformities in children (Bambini-junior et al., 2014; Roullet et al., 2013). Experimental models have extensively shown that prenatal exposure of with VPA on E12.5 induces ASD phenotype including delayed physical development in the offspring (Pelsőczi et al., 2020; R. Ruhela et al., 2017; Schneider & Przewłocki, 2005). The VPA model is a well-established tool to study developmental disabilities, owing to its ability to recapitulate human symptoms of ASD.

Tuberculosis (TB) is a global health problem with a high prevalence in Africa. About 27% of TB incidence cases among females were reported in Africa and of these, an estimated 32.1% were in their reproductive years (WHO, 2019). In South Africa, TB affects 1 in every 200 people and 32.1% of these are women in their reproductive years. Clinical studies (Brown et al., 2000; Lee et al., 2015) supported by experimental animal models (Bauman. D. M & and Paul, 2014; Careaga et al., 2017; Schwartzer et al., 2013; C. Yang, 2013) have regarded maternal infections during pregnancy as a factor that increases the risk of neurodevelopmental disorders. Maternal respiratory infections occurring in the second trimester led to impaired brain development of children in Oakland, California (Brown et al., 2000). The specific infectious agents were unidentified in the study, however, Mtb was most likely among the pathogens that caused maternal respiratory infections in the pregnant women (Brown et al., 2000). Tuberculosis is common in pregnant women and can cause spontaneous abortions, low maternal weight gain, preterm labour, and diminishing children's birth weight (Awodele et al., 2012; Ormerod, 2001). Previously, we observed immune dysregulation accompanied by a "leaky" blood-brain barrier, synaptic defects, increased repetitive patterns and reduced sociability in *Mtb*-induced MIA offspring (Manjeese et al., 2021a, 2021b). What is not known is whether *Mtb* infections in pregnancy also influence the developmental patterns of offspring. In this study, we aimed to examine the effects of prenatal exposure to *Mtb* on pregnancy, offspring development and ASD-like behaviours.

#### 2.2 Materials and Methods

#### 2.2.1 Animals

Twenty Balb/c mice were acquired from Africa Health Research Institute (AHRI). All animals were raised in a Biosafety level 3 laboratory (BSL3) and all procedures were conducted in accordance with (University of Kwazulu Natal Animal Research Ethics) UKZN AREC and ARRIVE guidelines. The animals were kept in individual cages under 12-hour light/dark cycle and a constant supply of food and water.

#### 2.2.3 Mating

Eight weeks old mice were group-housed (5 per group), and bedding from the male cages was added to the female cages to induce estrous. The mice were group-housed for 5 days to synchronise their estrous cycles. After 5 days of group housing, mice were mated on a ratio of 1:1 (male: female) overnight. Vaginal plugs were checked early morning and males were immediately removed upon confirmation of vaginal plug presence and this marked embryonic day 0.5 (E0.5). In our pilot study, adminstration of 500 mg/ kg of VPA and *Mtb* together induced complete fetal resorption hence for this study we lowered the VPA dose to 350 mg/kg to increase fetal survival rate in the VPA+*Mtb* group. The VPA group was the positive control of the study and the VPA+*Mtb* group was created to assess the the effects of dual exposure to two ''environmental insults'' on pregnancy and offspring development. The weights of the pregnant mice were recorded weekly to minimise handling and disturbance of pregnancy. Twenty pregnant 8 weeks old Balb/c mice were randomly assigned to 4 groups (5 per group) and treatments administered on embryonic day 12.5(E12.5) as shown in Table 2.1 and Fig 2. 1A. Each animal raised her own litter in a BSL3 laboratory during the study. Litters were culled to 12 per group and no more than 4 animals per litter (2 per sex).

Table 2. 1: Groups and treatments in the study

| Group           | Treatment and dosage  | Route of administration        |
|-----------------|---|--------------------------------|
| Saline          | 0.2 ml of Saline  | Single i.p                     |
| VPA             | 0.2 ml of 500 mg/kg valproic acid   | Single i.p                     |
| VPA+ <i>Mtb</i> | 0.2 ml of 350 mg/kg valproic acid + $10$ ml of $1 \times 10^8$ CFU (OD <sub>600</sub> =1) | Single i.p + aerosol infection |
| Mtb             | 10ml of 1x10 <sup>8</sup> CFU (OD 600=1)  | Single aerosol infection       |

\* OD- optical density, CFU- colony forming OD- optical density, i.p- intraperitoneal

## 2.2.4 Mtb infection

Ten mice from *Mtb* and VPA + *Mtb* group were placed in a Glas-col infection chamber (Terre Haute, IN, USA) with 10ml of  $1 \times 10^8$  CFU (OD <sub>600</sub>=1) *Mtb* H37Rv inoculum expelled into the nebulizer using a syringe. The Glas-col machine cycle was set to the following conditions: preheat (15 minutes), nebulisation (30 minutes), cloud decay (30 minutes), decontamination (15 minutes) and cool down (10 minutes). The mice were carefully removed from the machine using forceps and placed into cages with bedding, food and water.

## 2.2.5 Culturing lungs

Lung culturing was performed to confirm *Mtb* infection of the mothers and assess vertical transmission. Half the lung (left side) from each mouse (mother and pups) was homogenised using a Mag analyser, and 10-fold serial dilutions were prepared from the lung homogenate and plated onto 7H11 agar in triplicate and incubated at 37°C for 4 weeks before CFU counts.

## 2.2.6 Postnatal growth and maturation

The postnatal growth and maturation tests of pups were performed according to methods by Favre et al., 2013. Eye-opening was observed once daily between postnatal day 12 (PND 12) and 16 and scored as follows: both eyes closed -0, 1 eye open -1, both eyes open -2. The animal cages were opened under a biosafety cabinet to perform the test in the morning.

## 2.2.7 Developmental weights

The weights of the pups were recorded once a week from PND7 to PND28. Birth weights were not measured because the biosafety cabinet's temperature was too cold to expose the neonates.

#### 2.2.8 Statistical Analysis

Unless otherwise specified data is presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM and *p* value <0.05 was considered significant. Data analysis was performed using Kruskal wallis test for for non-parametrically distributed data (Fetal resorption), one or two way ANOVA for parametrically distributed data followed by posthoc tests for multiple comparisons using either Bonferroni or Dunnett's tests (as appropriate) with GraphPad Prism version 7 (GraphPad software, USA).

#### 2.3 Results

#### 2.3.1 Mtb compromises maternal lung integrity in Balb/c mice

The health and pathological consequences on maternal lungs following the different treatments in our study is shown in Fig 2.1 B-E. There was no growth of Mtb in the lungs from VPA or saline exposed subjects as expected while the *Mtb* and VPA+*Mtb* group lungs showed a decrease in lung integrity, which is consistent with TB pathology. The offspring lungs were all healthy. Colony counts obtained from culturing all the maternal lungs were converted to  $log_{10}(x+1)$ , where x represents the total number of viable bacilli counted per lung. We observed increased bacterial burden in maternal lungs from *Mtb* and VPA+*Mtb* lungs as expected, and no colonies grew on the Saline and VPA agar plates (Table 2.2) meaning that there was no cross-contamination in our treatment groups.





**Figure 2.1:** A graphical representation of the study design; **B-E:** Representative images of maternal lung tissue of Balb/c mice 4 weeks post-delivery, n = 5 (B- Saline; C- VPA+*Mtb*; D-VPA; E-*Mtb*). The lungs were visually examined for pathological changes in comparison with the non-infected Saline group. The lungs from the negative control (Saline) group were healthy, but those from *Mtb* (E) and VPA+*Mtb* (C) groups showed granulomas (represented by arrows) at mid-gestation. The lungs from VPA (D) treated mice had drug-induced injuries (represented by arrows).

The bacterial load was determined through culturing maternal lungs 4 weeks post-delivery on MH711 agar, and CFUs were calculated (Table 2.2). Data represented as Mean  $\pm$  SEM. There was no growth of *Mtb* in the lungs from VPA and Saline as expected.

Table 2. 2: Bacterial load in maternal lungs.

| Group  | CFU                              |
|--------|----------------------------------|
| Saline | -                                |
| VPA    | -                                |
| ТВ     | $1.92 \pm 2.19 \ge 10^{8^{***}}$ |
| VPA+TB | $1.91 \pm 2.19 \ge 10^{8***}$    |

\*\*\*\* denotes p < 0.0001 when compared to the non-infected control group (saline).

#### 2.3.2 Mtb exposure induces fetal resorption and reduces litter size in pregnant mice.

Twenty mice were confirmed pregnant by the presence of a vaginal plug and 40% body weight gain from E0.5 to E12.5. There was 40% fetal resorption in the *Mtb*, VPA and VPA+*Mtb* treated pregnant mice and there was no fetal resorption observed in the Saline treated group. There was no statistical significance (p>0.05) in fetal resorption rate between Saline and all the groups, but generally, a high fetal resorption rate was observed with all the treated groups (Fig. 2.2B). Only 60% of the pregnant mice from VPA, VPA+*Mtb* and *Mtb* groups delivered pups (Fig. 2.2A). One-way ANOVA showed that there was a treatment effect on the number of pups born (p<0.005, Table A1). The litter (the number of pups born) size was reduced in these pregnancies compared to Saline treated group. The number of pups born to VPA and VPA+*Mtb* exposed mothers were significantly lower than the Saline group, 3.6±1.50 (p<0.0015) and 3.4 ± 1.69 (p<0.0012), respectively. The *Mtb* group had the smallest litter size (2.6 ± 1.08) with the highest statistical significance (p<0.001) compared to the Saline group (Fig. 2.2A). There was no statistical significance between VPA and *Mtb* groups (p>0.05).



**Figure 2. 2:** Fetal resorption and litter size (A) Graph showing fetal resorption rates in all the groups, n=5 in each group, kruskal wallis statistic= 2.74 and p>0.05. Data represented as a percentage of pregnant mice that did not deliver any pups. Fetal resorption rate did not significantly differ between VPA, *Mtb* and VPA+*Mtb* and there was no fetal resorption in the negative control (Saline). (B) Graph showing the number of pups born from all the groups. Saline -11.4 ± 1.81, VPA- 3.6±1.81 (p<0.001), *Mtb*- 2.6 ± 1.81 (p<0.001) and VPA+*Mtb*- 3.4 ± 1.81 (p<0.001) pups. *Mtb* reduced litter size the most. There was no statistical significance in *p*-value between positive control (VPA) and *Mtb* (p>0.05). \*\* denotes p<0.001 and \*\*\* p<0.0001 vs Saline. One-way ANOVA, detailed statistics information is available in Appendix Table A1 and A2

#### 2.3.3 Prenatal Mtb exposure delays eye-opening in Balb/c mice.

The development of pups was measured by eye-opening status from PND 12 to 16. Prenatal exposure to *Mtb* delays maturation in both males (Fig 2.3A) and females (Fig 2.3B), but females are the most affected, *Mtb* female pups began opening their eyes on PND 16 and males on PND 15 (p<0.001 vs Saline). The female VPA+*Mtb* and Saline groups opened eyes on PND 13 and VPA on PND 15. It is interesting to note that a "double hit" of VPA and *Mtb* did not result in the most significant delay in eye-opening and there was no statistical significance in eye-opening trend between VPA+*Mtb* and Saline groups. When males and females were combined (Fig 2.3C) there was an overall delay in eye-opening of all the treated groups (VPA, *Mtb*, VPA+*Mtb*) when compared to the negative control group (Saline). Eye-opening scores were significantly low in all the treated groups (VPA, *Mtb* and VPA+*Mtb*) compared to the Saline group on PND 14 (p<0.001). Mtb group scored the least (0) while VPA and VPA+*Mtb* 

scored higher, showing that animals in the VPA+*Mtb* group had at least 1 eye had opened by PND 14.



**Figure 2. 3:** Eye opening patterns in offspring, A- Male eye-opening: The graphs shows the eye-opening trends in males (n=6) between postnatal day (PND) 12 and 16. One eye open was scored 1, both eyes open-2 and both eyes closed- 0. Compared to Saline there was 2 days delay in eye-opening of *Mtb* pups, 1 day delay in VPA pups and 1 day delay in VPA+*Mtb* pups. Compared to VPA there was a significant 2 day delay in eye-opening of *Mtb* pups. \*\*\* denotes

p<0.001 vs Saline and #denotes p<0.001 vs VPA. **B- Female eye-opening:** The graph shows eye-opening trends in females (*n*=6) between PND12 and 16. One eye open was scored 1, both eyes open-2 and both eyes closed- 0. Compared to Saline there was a significant 3 day delay in eye-opening of *Mtb* pups, 2 days delay in VPA pups and no delay in VPA+*Mtb* pups. Compared to VPA there was 3 days delay in eye-opening of *Mtb* pups. \*\*\*\* denotes p<0.0001 when compared to Saline and #p<0.0001 when compared to VPA. **C- Male and Female eye opening:** The graph shows the combined male and female eye-opening trends between postnatal day (PND) 12 and 16. One eye open scored 1, both eyes open-2 and both eyes closed-0 (n=12). Compared to Saline there was 2 days delay in eye-opening of *Mtb* pups, 1 day in VPA pups and no delay in VPA+*Mtb* pups. Compared to VPA there was 1 day delay in eyeopening of *Mtb* pups. \*\*\*\*denotes p<0.0001 when compared to Saline, #p<0.0001 when compared to VPA. Two-way ANOVA, detailed statistics information is available in Appendix Table A3, A4 and A5.

#### 2.3.4 Prenatal *Mtb* exposure diminishes offspring developmental weight.

We measured the body weight of the pups on PND 7, 14, 21 and 28. Two-way ANOVA showed that there was a treatment effect on developmental weight between PND7 and PND28 (p<0.001) .Fig. 2.4 shows a general trend where VPA exposed pups had the lowest body mass which persisted throughout the study. *Mtb* exposed pups weighed significantly less (17.22±0.581; p<0.05) than Saline treated pups on PND 28. Compared to VPA exposed pups, *Mtb* exposed pups' weight was significantly higher on PND 21 (11.11±0.581) and PND 28 (p<0.001). The VPA+*Mtb* pups' weight was significantly lower (17.13±0.581; p<0.05) than Saline exposed pups on PND 28.



**Figure 2. 4:** Body weight of pups (*n*=12) was measured in grams (g) on different postnatal days (PND). There was a general trend of body weight increase between PND 7 and PND 28 in all the groups. Compared to Saline, *Mtb* and VPA+*Mtb* pups' weight was significantly lower (17.13±0.581 and 17.22±0.581 respectively). Compared to VPA, *Mtb* pups' body weight was significantly increased on PND 21 and PND 28. Compared to VPA, *Mtb* pups weight was significantly higher (11.11±0.581). *Mtb* and VPA+*Mtb* pups had similar weights throughout the study. \* denotes p<0.05, \*\*p<0.001 and \*\*\*p<0.0001 vs Saline and #p<0.001 vs VPA on marked postnatal days. Two-way ANOVA, detailed statistics information is available in Appendix Table A6.

#### **2.4 Discussion**

Delays in developmental milestones such as sitting, walking and speech are parameters used to measure postnatal development in children. Gestational infections can influence pregnancy outcomes by restricting fetal growth and altering developmental programming leading to developmental disorders. Bacteria causing respiratory infections are implicated in the etiology of developmental disorders. TB is caused by *Mtb* which chiefly affects the lungs. The impact of TB on pregnancy is determined by disease severity and the timing of infection in pregnant women.

In this study, *Mtb* infection was not vertically transmitted, but we observed adverse effects on maternal health and pregnancy outcome. We found that gestational *Mtb* infection had severe impacts on pregnancy success and reduced the fetus' survival rate. Fetal growth and development requires an anti-inflammatory immune state mediated via T Helper 2 (TH-2) pathway (Hussein et al., 2011; Mor et al., 2017; Mor & Cardenas, 2010; Morelli et al., 2015).

*Mtb* infection elicits T Helper 1 (TH-1) response and this threatens fetal survival resulting in a higher risk of abortion (Lyandova and Panteleev, 2015; Morelli et al., 2015).

This is the first study to document the effects of gestational *Mtb* infection on pregnancy outcome, growth and development of Balb/c mice offspring to the best of our knowledge. We report that Mtb infection reduced the litter size in Balb/c mice. Similarly, gestational exposure to bacterial endotoxin lipopolysaccharide (LPS) caused fetal loss and the surviving offspring were growth restricted (Renaud et al., 2011). Our VPA treated mice's results complement previously documented data of litter size reduction following VPA gestational exposure (Favre et al., 2013; Komariah et al., 2017). We found no significant difference in litter size between the positive control (VPA treated) and *Mtb* infected mothers (Fig 2.2B).

The lung tissue is the main site of *Mtb* infection. A high bacterial load (*Mtb*)was present in the maternal lungs from the *Mtb* and VPA+*Mtb* groups. The growth of *Mtb* elicits inflammatory host responses that cause extensive lung damage. The *Mtb* infected lungs presented with granulomatous lesions (Fig 2.1C and E), which are an *Mtb* infection mediated immune response that avoids disseminating bacteria to other tissues (Gupta et al., 2016; Ravimohan et al., 2018; R. Shi & Sugawar, 2013). VPA is a drug known to affect lungs by causing eosinophilic pleural effusions (Wendy Bullington et al., 2007) and alveolar hemorrhaging in humans (Choi et al., 2011). VPA compromised the integrity of the maternal lung tissue as shown by the presence of interstitial lesions. The VPA effects on the maternal lungs are possibly a direct consequence of VPA toxicity and drug-induced inflammation.

Eye-opening and weight gain are typical developmental milestones in rodent models of ASD. We observed 2 days delay in eye-opening in the *Mtb* group than the Saline group. Similarly, eye-opening was delayed in mice exposed to bacterial endotoxin lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (Abu-taweel et al., 2013). The delay in eye-opening could be due to disturbed optic nerve myelination and possible reduction in amacrine cells in response to *Mtb* induced maternal inflammation (Loeliger et al., 2007). This study's eye-opening pattern suggests that maternal *Mtb* infection affects development more than VPA since the *Mtb* group took a day longer to open eyes than the VPA group. However, it is interesting to note that delayed development is somehow rescued when a lower VPA dose and *Mtb* are administered together. The maternal inflammatory response to *Mtb* saves VPA-induced developmental delays. Findings from

Hrubec *et al.* (2012) support this result; in their study, the maternal immune stimulation by the cytokine IFN- $\gamma$  prevented neural tube defects in VPA exposed mice (Hrubec et al., 2012).

Eye-opening delays are more pronounced in females than males following *in utero Mtb* exposure. It took *Mtb* exposed females a day longer than their male counterparts to open eyes, suggesting that a male neuroprotective mechanism could be modulating the gender specific difference in eye-opening. When the *Mtb* group was compared to VPA, there was a 1-day delay in eye-opening regardless of gender. However, the delay trend remained pronounced in females suggesting that *Mtb* exposure affects eye-opening more than VPA regardless of gender.

Body weight is a common developmental milestone in mice (Yang et al., 2016). Our results with VPA treatment are consistent with previous findings that reported reduced body weight in mice exposed to VPA in utero (Kolozsi et al., 2009; R. K. Ruhela et al., 2019; Schneider & Przewłocki, 2005; Podgorac et al., 2016). Mtb on its own and in combination with a lower VPA dose does not influence body weight from neonatal to juvenile age (PND 7 to PND 21), suggesting that a lower VPA dose has no effect on *Mtb*-induced MIA developmental weight. The mechanism behind this is unclear at this point of our study. All the treatments (*Mtb*, VPA+*Mtb* and VPA) affected body weight gain on PND 28. The change in weight gain on PND 28 could have been influenced by weaning. Weaning exerts nutritional and physiological stress on the pups. The change in diet can cause digestive problems that influence feeding efficiency in the offspring (Campbell et al., 2013). A classic study by Rodier and colleagues (1996) observed damage of swallowing-associated neurons leading to inadequate food intake and dimished body weight in offspring exposed to VPA in utero (Rodier et al., 1996). Weaning is also associated with an upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines that regulate growth and this can also affect the developmental weight of weaned pups. We previously reported elevated plasmatic IL-6 and IL-17A levels in Mtb treated offspring and this immune dysregulation could have influenced the reduction in body weight observed on PND 28 (Manjeese et al., 2021a).

#### **2.5 Conclusion**

This study demonstrates that gestational *Mtb* infection threatens fetal survival in early pregnancy and interferes with fetal development. Although *Mtb* infection is not vertically transmitted to the fetus, normal development is affected. Altered developmental patterns persist postnatal as reflected by diminished body weight and delays in eye-opening. The maternal

immune response to *Mtb* infection triggers eye-opening delays, which are more pronounced in females than males.

## 2.6 Acknowledgements

The authors thank Africa Health Research Institute's Animal Core Unit staff (K. Thambu, K. Beepraj and K. Khuluse) for the technical assistance in this stdudy.

## 2.7 Statement of Ethics

Ethical approval for this study was obtained from University of KwaZulu Natal Animal Research Ethics Committee (Reference: AREC/076/018M)

## 2.8 Conflict of Interest Statement

The authors have no conflicting interests.

## 2.9 Funding Sources

This work was supported by the University of KwaZulu Natal (UKZN) college of health sciences; National Research Foundation (Thuthuka grant); Developing Research Innovation, Localisation and Leadership in South Africa (DRILL), grant [D43TW010131]; South African MRC.

## 2.10 Author Contributions

All authors contributed equally and discussed the results in the final manuscript.

#### REFERENCES

- Abu-taweel, G., Ajarem, J. S., Ebaid, H., & Rady, A. M. (2013). Behavioral Changes Induced by Prenatal Acute Endotoxemia in Mice Offspring Behavioral Changes Induced by Prenatal Acute Endotoxemia in Mice. *Pakistan Journal of Zoology*, 45(2), 359-369.
- Awodele, O., Patrick, E. B., Agbaje, E. O., Oremosu, A. A., & Gbotolorun, S. C. (2012). Assessing the Risk of Birth Defects Associated with Exposure to Fixed-Dose Combined Antituberculous Agents during Pregnancy in Rats. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2012. doi:10.1100/2012/585094
- Bambini-junior, V., Baronio, D., Mackenzie, J., Zanatta, G., & Riesgo, S. (2014). Comprehensive Guide to Autism. Comprehensive Guide to Autism. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-4788-7
- Bauman, M. D., Iosif, A. M., Smith, S. E., Bregere, C., Amaral, D. G., & Patterson, P. H. (2014). Activation of maternal immune system in pregnancy alters behavioral development in monkey offspring *Biology Psychiatry*,75(4), 332-441. 10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.06.025
- Brown, A. S., Schaefer, C. A., Wyatt, R. J., Goetz, R., Begg, M. D., Gorman, J. M., & Susser,
  E. S. (2000). Maternal exposure to respiratory infections and adult schizophrenia spectrum disorders: a prospective birth cohort study. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 26, 287-295. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033453
- Careaga, M., Murai, T., & Bauman, M. D. (2017). Maternal Immune Activation and Autism Spectrum Disorder: From Rodents to Nonhuman and Human Primates. In.
- Choi, K. H., Nam, T. S., Kim, J. T., Choi, S. M., Park, M. S., Kim, B. C., . . . Cho, K. H. (2011). Valproate associated diffuse alveolar hemorrhage. *European Journal of Neurology*, 18(8), e98-99. doi:10.1111/j.1468-1331.2011.03409.x
- Deckmann, I., Brum Schwingel, G., Fontes-Dutra, M., Bambini-Junior, V., & Gottfried, C. (2018). Neuroimmune Alterations in Autism: A Translational Analysis Focusing on the Animal Model of Autism Induced by Prenatal Exposure to Valproic Acid Keywords Autism spectrum disorder · Neuroimmune alterations · Cytokines · Animal model · Valproic acid. *NeuroImmunoModulation*, 25, 285-299. doi:10.1159/000492113
- Fatemi, S. H., Emamian, E. S., Kist, D., Sidwell, R. W., Nakajima, K., Akhter, P., . . . Bailey, K. (1999). Defective corticogenesis and reduction in Reelin immunoreactivity in cortex and hippocampus of prenatally infected neonatal mice. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 4(2).445-54. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4000520
- Fatemi, S. H., Folsom, T. D., Reutiman, T. J., Huang, H., Oishi, K., & Mori, S. (2009). Gene expression is altered in hippocampus following prenatal viral infection in mouse at E16. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2009.03.004
- Favre, M. R., Barkat, T. R., Lamendola, D., Khazen, G., Markram, H., & Markram, K. (2013). General developmental health in the VPA-rat model of autism. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 7(July), 88. doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2013.00088
- Gabriel, M., & Podestá, F. (2015). Differential Local Connectivity and Neuroinflammation Profiles in the Medial Prefrontal Cortex and Hippocampus in the Valproic Acid Rat Model of Autism. *Developmental neuroscience*. doi:10.1159/000375489
- Gupta, M., Lobo, F. D., Adiga, D. S. A., & Gupta, A. (2016). A Histomorphological Pattern Analysis of Pulmonary Tuberculosis in Lung Autopsy and Surgically Resected Specimens. 2016, 1-7. doi:10.1155/2016/8132741

- Hrubec, T. C., Prater, M. R., Mallela, M. K., Jr, R. M. G., & Guo, T. L. (2012). Diverse ability of maternal immune stimulation to reduce birth defects in mice exposed to teratogens : a review. *3*, 132-139. doi:10.1017/S204017441100078X
- Hussein, H., Taha, G. R. A., & Almanasef, A. (2011). Characteristics of autism spectrum disorders in a sample of egyptian and saudi patients: Transcultural cross sectional study. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 5, 1-12. doi:10.1186/1753-2000-5-34
- Kolozsi, E., Mackenzie, R. N., Roullet, F. I., Decatanzaro, D., & Foster, J. A. (2009). Prenatal exposure to valproic acid leads to reduced expression of synaptic adhesion molecule neuroligin 3 in mice. *Neuroscience*, 163(4), 1201-1210. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.07.021
- Komariah, K., Kiranadi, B., Winarto, A., & Manalu, W. (2017). Valproic Acid Administration in Pregnant Rats Affects Litter Size, Birth Weight, and Postnatal Growth of the Offspring. *International Journal of Sciences: Basic and Applied Research (IJSBAR)*, 4531, 174-186.
- Krishnan, L., Guilbert, L. J., Wegmann, T. G., Belosevic, M., & Mosmann, T. R. (1996). T helper 1 response against Leishmania major in pregnant C57BL/6 mice increases implantation failure and fetal resorptions. Correlation with increased IFN-gamma and TNF and reduced IL-10 production by placental cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, 156(2), 653.
- Lee, B. K., Magnusson, C., Gardner, R. M., Blomström, Å., Newschaffer, C. J., Burstyn, I., . . Dalman, C. (2015). Maternal hospitalization with infection during pregnancy and risk of autism spectrum disorders Autism Speaks. *Brain Behavior, and Immunity, 44*, 100-105. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2014.09.001
- Loeliger, M., Duncan, J., Cock, M., Harding, R., & Rees, S. (2007). Vulnerability of Dopaminergic Amacrine Cells and Optic Nerve Myelination to Prenatal Endotoxin Exposure. 48(1), 472-478. doi:10.1167/iovs.06-0709
- Manjeese, W., Mvubu, N. E., Steyn, A. J. C., & Mpofana, T. (2021a). Mycobacterium tuberculosis causes a leaky blood-brain barrier and neuroinflammation in the prefrontal cortex and cerebellum regions of infected mice offspring. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*. doi: 10.1002/jdn.10116
- Manjeese, W., Mvubu, N. E., Steyn, A. J. C., & Mpofana, T. (2021b). Mycobacterium tuberculosis induced maternal immune activation promotes Autism phenotype in infected mice offspring. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(9), 4513 doi:10.3390/ijerph18094513
- Miller, V. M., Zhu, Y., Bucher, C., McGinnis, W., Ryan, L. K., Siegel, A., & Zalcman, S. (2013). Gestational flu exposure induces changes in neurochemicals, affiliative hormones and brainstem inflammation, in addition to autism-like behaviors in mice. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 33, 153-163. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2013.07.002
- Mor, G., Aldo, P., & Alvero, A. B. (2017). The unique immunological and microbial aspects of pregnancy. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *17*(8), 469-482. doi:10.1038/nri.2017.64
- Mor, G., & Cardenas, I. (2010). The Immune System in Pregnancy: A Unique Complexity. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0897.2010.00836.x
- Morelli, S., Mandal, M., Goldsmith, L. T., Kashani, B. N., & Ponzio, N. M. (2015). The maternal immune system during pregnancy and its influence on fetal development. *Research and Reports in Biology*, 6, 171-171. doi:10.2147/rrb.s80652
- Olusanya, B. O., Davis, A. C., Wertlieb, D., Boo, N.-Y., Nair, M. K. C., Halpern, R., . . . Kassebaum, N. J. (2018). Developmental disabilities among children younger than 5

years in 195 countries and territories, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *The Lancet Global Health*, 6(10), e1100-e1121. doi:10.1016/s2214-109x(18)30309-7

- Ormerod, P. (2001). Respiratory diseases in pregnancy c 3 Tuberculosis in pregnancy and the puerperium P Ormerod. *Thorax journal*, *6*(56), 494-499. doi:10.1136/thorax.56.6.494
- Parner, E. T. (2010). Maternal Infection Requiring Hospitalization During Pregnancy and Autism Spectrum Disorders. 1423-1430. doi:10.1007/s10803-010-1006-y
- Patterson, P. H. (2011). Maternal infection and immune involvement in autism. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, 17(7), 389-394. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2011.03.001
- Pelsőczi, P., Kelemen, K., Csölle, C., Nagy, G., Lendvai, B., Román, V., & Lévay, G. (2020).
   Disrupted Social Hierarchy in Prenatally Valproate-Exposed Autistic-Like Rats.
   Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience, 13(January), 1-12.
   doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2019.00295
- Podgorac, J., Pešić, V., Pavković, Ž., Martać, L., Kanazir, S., Filipović, L., & Sekulić, S. (2016).
   Early physical and motor development of mouse offspring exposed to valproic acid throughout intrauterine development. *Behavioural Brain Research*. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2016.05.023
- Ravimohan, S., Kornfeld, H., Weissman, D., & Bisson, G. P. (2018). Tuberculosis and lung damage: from epidemiology to pathophysiology. *European Respiratory Review*, 27(147), 170077. doi:10.1183/16000617.0077-2017
- Renaud, S. J., Cotechini, T., Quirt, J. S., Macdonald-Goodfellow, S. K., Othman, M., & Graham, C. H. (2011). Spontaneous Pregnancy Loss Mediated by Abnormal Maternal Inflammation in Rats Is Linked to Deficient Uteroplacental Perfusion. *The Journal of Immunology*, 186(3), 1799.
- Rodier, P. M., Ingram, J. L., Tisdale, B., Nelson, S., & Romano, J. (1996). Embryological origin for autism: developmental anomalies of the cranial nerve motor nuclei. *J Comp Neurol*, 370(2), 247-261. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(19960624)370:2<247::AID-CNE8>3.0.CO;2-2
- Roullet, F. I., Lai, J. K. Y., & Foster, J. A. (2013). In utero exposure to valproic acid and autism — A current review of clinical and animal studies. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*. doi:10.1016/j.ntt.2013.01.004
- Ruhela, R., Sarma, P., Soni, S., Prakash, A., & Medhi, B. (2017). Congenital malformation and autism spectrum disorder: Insight from a rat model of autism spectrum disorder. *Indian Journal of Pharmacology*, 49(3), 243-249. doi:10.4103/ijp.IJP\_183\_17
- Ruhela, R. K., Soni, S., Sarma, P., Prakash, A., & Medhi, B. (2019). Negative geotaxis : An early age behavioral hallmark to VPA rat model of autism. 26(1), 25-31. doi:10.5214/ans.0972.7531.260106
- Schneider, T., & Przewłocki, R. (2005). Behavioral alterations in rats prenatally to valproic acid: Animal model of autism. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 30(1), 80-89. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1300518
- Schwartzer, J. J., Careaga, M., Onore, C. E., Rushakoff, J. A., Berman, R. F., & Ashwood, P. (2013). Maternal immune activation and strain specific interactions in the development of autism-like behaviors in mice. *Translational Psychiatry*, 3(3), e240-249. doi:10.1038/tp.2013.16
- Shi, L., Tu, N., & Patterson, P. H. (2005). Maternal influenza infection is likely to alter fetal brain development indirectly: The virus is not detected in the fetus. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 23(2-3 SPEC. ISS.), 299-305. doi:10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2004.05.005

Shi, R., & Sugawar, I. (2013). Pathophysiology of Tuberculosis. In: InTech.

- Sørensen, H. J., Mortensen, E. L., Reinisch, M., & Mednick, S. A. (2009). Association Between Prenatal Exposure to Bacterial Infection and Risk of Schizophrenia. 35(3), 631-637. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbn121
- Ventola, P., Kleinman, J., Pandey, J., Wilson, L., Esser, E., Boorstein, H., ... Fein, D. (2007). Differentiating between autism spectrum disorders and other developmental disabilities in children who failed a screening instrument for ASD. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 37(3), 425-436. doi:10.1007/s10803-006-0177-z
- Wendy Bullington, Steven A. Sahn, & Marc A. Judson. (2007). Valproic Acid–Induced Eosinophilic Pleural Effusion: A Case Report and Review of the Literature. *Southern society for clinical investigation*, 333(5).
- WHO. (2019). *Global Tuberculosis Report* (978-92-4-156571-4).Retrieved from Geneva: https://www.who.int/tb/publications/global\_report/en/
- Yang, C. (2013). The Maternal Immune Activation Mouse Model of Autism Spectrum Disorders.
- Yang, E.-J., Ahn, S., Lee, K., Mahmood, U., & Kim, H.-S. (2016). Early Behavioral Abnormalities and Perinatal Alterations of PTEN/AKT Pathway in Valproic Acid Autism Model Mice. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0153298
- Zerbo, O., Qian, Y., Yoshida, C., Grether, J. K., Van de Water, J., & Croen, L. A. (2016). Maternal Infection during Pregnancy and Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45(12), 4015-4025. doi:10.1007/s10803-013-2016-3.

## Appendix

| ANOVA                             | DF | F(DFn,DFd)          | P value |
|-----------------------------------|----|---------------------|---------|
| Treatment<br>(between<br>columns) | 3  | F (3, 16) =<br>10.4 | 0.0005  |
| Residual (within columns)         | 16 |                     |         |
| Total                             | 19 |                     |         |

## Table A1: number of pups born

## Table A2: Fetal resorption

| ANOVA                             | DF | F(DFn,DFd)            | P value  |
|-----------------------------------|----|-----------------------|----------|
| Treatment<br>(between<br>columns) | 3  | F (3, 16) =<br>0.8889 | P=0.4680 |
| Residual (within columns)         | 16 |                       |          |
| Total                             | 19 |                       |          |

## Table A3: Male Eye-opening pattern

| ANOVA                  | DF | F(DFn,DFd)             | P value  |
|------------------------|----|------------------------|----------|
| Interaction            | 12 | F (12, 80) = 4.348     | P<0.0001 |
| Time                   | 4  | F (4, 80) = 85.53      | P<0.0001 |
| Column Factor          | 3  | F (3, 20) = 36.56      | P<0.0001 |
| Subjects<br>(matching) | 20 | F (20, 80) =<br>0.3874 | P=0.9904 |
| Residual               | 80 |                        |          |

 Table A4: Female Eye-opening

| ANOVA                  | DF | F(DFn,DFd)             | <i>P</i> value |
|------------------------|----|------------------------|----------------|
| Interaction            | 12 | F (12, 80) = 7.455     | P<0.0001       |
| Time                   | 4  | F (4, 80) = 79.8       | P<0.0001       |
| Column Factor          | 3  | F (3, 20) = 33.31      | P<0.0001       |
| Subjects<br>(matching) | 20 | F (20, 80) =<br>0.7297 | P=0.7843       |
| Residual               | 80 |                        |                |

Table A5: Male and Female Eye-opening combined

| ANOVA               | DF  | F(DFn,DFd)             | P value  |
|---------------------|-----|------------------------|----------|
| Interaction         | 12  | F (12, 176) =<br>10.64 | P<0.0001 |
| Time                | 4   | F (4, 176) = 163.5     | P<0.0001 |
| Column Factor       | 3   | F (3, 44) = 73.11      | P<0.0001 |
| Subjects (matching) | 44  | F (44, 176) = 0.5057   | P=0.9955 |
| Residual            | 176 |                        |          |

## Table A6: Developmental weights

| ANOVA                  | DF  | F(DFn,DFd)             | P value  |
|------------------------|-----|------------------------|----------|
| Interaction            | 9   | F (9, 132) = 2.552     | P=0.0098 |
| Time                   | 3   | F (3, 132) = 1571      | P<0.0001 |
| Column Factor          | 3   | F (3, 44) = 7.828      | P=0.0003 |
| Subjects<br>(matching) | 44  | F (44, 132) =<br>6.412 | P<0.0001 |
| Residual               | 132 |                        |          |
This chapter is a manuscript entitled 'Mycobacterium tuberculosis causes a leaky blood-brain barrier and neuroinflammation in the prefrontal cortex and cerebellum regions of infected mice offspring' that is published in a DHET accredited and Scopus indexed journal. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*.



# **CHAPTER THREE**

Mycobacterium tuberculosis causes a leaky blood-brain barrier and neuroinflammation in the prefrontal cortex and cerebellum regions of infected mice offspring.

# Wadzanai <mark>MANJEESE</mark><sup>1</sup>, Nontobeko. E. <mark>MVUBU</mark><sup>2</sup>, Adrie. J. C. <mark>STEYN</mark><sup>2,3,4</sup>, Thabisile MPOFANA<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Human Physiology, School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, University of Kwazulu Natal, Durban, South Africa.

<sup>2</sup>Discipline of Microbiology, School of Life Sciences, College of Agriculture, Engineering and Science, University of Kwazulu Natal, Durban, South Africa.

<sup>3</sup>Africa Health Research Institute, K-Rith Tower Building, Nelson Mandela School of Medicine, Durban, South Africa.

<sup>4</sup>Department of Microbiology, University of Alabama at Birmingham, AL 35294, USA

# **Corresponding Author:**

# Dr. Thabisile Mpofana

Department of Human Physiology University of Kwazulu Natal Westville campus, University road Durban, South Africa **E-mail**: <u>mpofana@ukzn.ac.za</u>

**Keywords:** maternal immune activation, *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, neuroinflammation, blood brain barrier, microglia, astrocytes

# **3** Abstract

Maternal immune activation (MIA) can alter the fetal immune status to a persistent inflammatory state characterised by glia cell activation. Immune dysregulation influences the blood-brain barrier (BBB) permeability. The maternal system's exposure to pathogens influences fetal brain development. Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb) is a global pathogen that causes Tuberculosis, a global pandemic responsible for health and economic burdens. Although it is known that maternal infections increase the risk of neurodevelopmental disorders, it is not known whether gestational Mtb infections contribute to impaired fetal neurodevelopment. Here we infect pregnant Balb/c mice with Mtb H37Rv and Valproic acid (VPA) individually and in combination. Neuroinflammation was measured by assessing microglia and astrocyte population in the prefrontal cortex (PFC) and cerebellum (CER) of pups. *Mtb* infection increased the microglia population and caused morphological changes to a reactive phenotype in the PFC. Also, the astrocyte population was significantly increased in the PFC of *Mtb* pups (p < 0.05). The BBB permeability was determined by measuring the Evans Blue (EB) dye concentation in the PFC and cerebellum 1 hour post receiving intravenous EB We found that prenatal Mtb exposure significantly increased the BBB dye injection. permeability in the PFC (1.14  $\pm$  0.05 ng/mg of tissue; p<0.0001) and cerebellum of pups (1.26  $\pm$  0.05 ng/mg of tissue; p<0.001) vs Saline. Overall, our data demonstrate that prenatal exposure to *Mtb* compromises the BBB integrity and causes neuroinflammation in offspring. These findings implicate a potential role of gestational *Mtb* infections in the aetiology of neurodevelopmental disorders.



**Graphical Abstract** 

#### **3.1 Introduction**

Maternal infections in pregnancy are now known to contribute to the aetiology of neurodevelopmental disorders. Clinical and experimental reports indicate an association of prenatal exposure to Herpes simplex virus, influenza virus, HIV, *Plasmodium berghei*, *Taxoplasma gondii* and *Staphylococcus aureus* with an increased risk of neurodevelopmental disorders (Dinel et al., 2014; Doyle et al., 2013; Glass et al., 2018; Hornig et al., 2017; Hornig et al., 2015; Zerbo et al., 2016).

Microglia are CNS resident macrophages that become activated to respond to injury and infection and in that state, they exhibit an amoeboid appearance with enlarged cell bodies that have thicker and shorter cellular processes while in their resting state they are ramified with long processes (Bilbo et al., 2018; Monnet-Tschudi et al., 2011). They also remove CNS debris and "prune" synapses to remove extraneous and damaged synapses in the brain (Petrelli et al., 2016; Prins et al., 2018). Astrocytes are star-shaped with cytoplasmic processes (end-feet) that are in proximity with endothelial cells in the BBB allowing crosstalk between the CNS and circulatory system (Erickson and Banks, 2018). During CNS development, astrocytes assist in cellular migration and regulation of synaptic activities through their metabolic interactions with neurons. Astrocyte reactivity is characterised by increased expression of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), the release of inflammatory mediators and thick cellular processes (Monnet-Tschudi et al., 2011). The activities of astrocytes and microglia are interdependent with both contributing to neuronal and immune functions hence neuroinflammation influences synaptic functions. Overactivation of glial cells leads to chronic neuroinflammation witnessed in neurodevelopmental disorders (Morgan et al., 2010; Vargas et al, 2005).

The BBB is a selectively permeable cellular interface isolating the CNS from the peripheral circulatory system. It is made up of a single layer of brain endothelial cells, astrocyte end-feet, pericytes and microglia that regulate trafficking of immune cells and solutes from the periphery into the brain through tight junctions (TJs) (Morris et al., 2018). Decreased expression of TJs and secretion of endothelial disrupting factors by pericytes allow infiltration of immune cells into the CNS where they promote neuroinflammation (Liebner et al., 2018; Erickson and Banks, 2018).

The MIA model is used to study the effects of gestational maternal infections on fetal brain development. The most common MIA models involve the injection of pregnant rodents with

synthetic viral RNA Polyriboinosinic: polyribocytidilic (Poly I:C) and bacterial endotoxin lipopolysaccharide (LPS) to induce inflammation (Solek et al., 2018). The offspring of MIA models show neuroinflammation as indicated by postnatal microglia and astrocyte activation (de Souza et al., 2015; Zhu et al., 2014). *Mtb* is a global pathogen that causes Tuberculosis and like other infectious pathogens, it induces inflammation which may create a hostile environment to a developing fetus during pregnancy. While *Mtb* infections are common in pregnant women, they are difficult to diagnose because the immunological changes induced by pregnancy conceal Tuberculosis symptoms (Loto and Awowole, 2012; Mathad and Gupta, 2012). Children born to *Mtb* infected mothers are at an increased risk of having low birth weight, infant mortality and prematurity (Bekker et al., 2016; Jana, 1994). What is not known is whether *Mtb* infections in pregnancy also influence brain development causing reactive changes observed in other MIA models. In this study, we aimed to examine the effects of prenatal exposure to *Mtb* on the BBB, microglia and astrocytes in the PFC and cerebellum brain regions which are implicated in ASD pathology.

# **3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 3.2.1 Animals

Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the University of KwaZulu Natal Animal Research Ethics Committee (Reference: AREC/076/018M). Balb/c mice at 8 weeks of age were obtained from Africa Health Research Institute (AHRI), South Africa. Females were group-housed (5 per group) for 5 days to synchronise their estrous cycle, bedding from the male cages was added to the female cages to induce the estrous phase. The mice were mated on a ratio of 1:1 (male: female) overnight. Vaginal plugs were checked early morning and males were immediately removed upon confirmation of vaginal plug presence and this marked embryonic day 0.5 (E0.5). Twenty pregnant mice were randomly assigned to 4 groups (5 per group) and treatments administered on E12.5 as shown in Table 3.1. In our pilot study, adminstration of 500mg/ kg of valproic acid (VPA) and *Mtb* together induced complete fetal resorption and fetal survival rate only increased when the VPA dose was lowered to 350 mg/kg. Based on our pilot study findings, we used 350mg/kg of VPA in the VPA+*Mtb*. Only 3 animals per group had successful pregnancies hence litters were culled to 12 per group and no more than 4 animals per litter (2 per sex). All animals were raised in a Biosafety level 3 laboratory (BSL3) and all procedures were conducted following (University of Kwazulu Natal Animal Research Ethics) UKZN AREC and ARRIVE guidelines. Each animal raised her litter under

12-hour light/dark cycle and a constant supply of food and water. Litters were weaned at postnatal day 21 (PND 21), at which males and females were separated but grouped according to treatments. The minimum required number of animals were randomly picked from all the litters for immunohistochemistry and BBB experiments.

| Table 3.1: Groups and treatments in the study |  |
|---|--|
|---|--|

| Group   | Treatment and dosage                                   | Route of administration           |  |  |
|---|--|-----------------------------------|--|--|
| Saline  | 0.2 ml of Saline                                       | i.p injection                     |  |  |
| VPA   | 0.2 ml of 500 mg/kg valproic acid                      | i.p injection                     |  |  |
| VPA + Mtb   | 0.2 ml of 350 mg/kg valproic acid                      | i.p injection + aerosol infection |  |  |
|   | + 10ml of 1x10 <sup>8</sup> CFU (OD <sub>600</sub> =1) |                                   |  |  |
| Mtb   | 10ml of 1x10 <sup>8</sup> CFU (OD 600=1)               | Aerosol infection                 |  |  |
| *OD- optical density CEU- colony forming units i p- intraperitoneal |  |                                   |  |  |

OD- optical density, CFU- colony forming units, i.p- intraperitoneal

# 3.2.2 *Mtb* infection

Ten pregnant mice from Mtb and VPA + Mtb group were placed in a Glas-col infection chamber (Terre Haute, IN, USA) with 10ml of 1x10<sup>8</sup> CFU (OD 600=1) Mtb H37Rv inoculum expelled into the nebulizer using a syringe. The Glas-col machine cycle was set to the following conditions:

| preheat         | 15 minutes |
|-----------------|------------|
| nebulisation    | 30 minutes |
| cloud decay     | 30 minutes |
| decontamination | 15 minutes |
| cool down       | 10 minutes |

The mice were carefully removed from the machine using forceps and placed into cages with bedding, food and water.

# **3.2.3 Determining the BBB permeability**

The experiment was performed as previously described (Goldim et al., 2019). Briefly, 5 weeks old mice were sedated using 10% ketamine hydrochloride (80 mg/kg) and 2% xylazine hydrochloride (10 mg/kg) administered intraperitonially. Using a 1 ml syringe, 3 ml/kg of 2% (w/v) EB dye solution (Sigma Aldrich) in normal saline was gently administered to a sedated mouse in a biosafety cabinet. The animal was placed on a heating pad (Elektra comfort, South Africa) with cotton for 1 hour to avoid hypothermia. An hour following EB dye injection, the animal was perfused using normal saline to remove intravascular blood containing EB dye. After all the blood had been removed, the animal was decapitated using a guillotine. The whole brain was removed from the skull and stored at -80°C until analysis.

#### **3.2.4 Evaluating EB dye in brain tissue**

All brain tissues were thawed and weighed using an analytical balance (Accuris scientific, USA). The prefrontal cortex and cerebellum regions of the brain were dissected and individually homogenised in 50 % trichloroacetic acid solution using a motor and pestle. The homogenate was centrifuged for 20 minutes at 10 000 x g and the supernatant was collected. The supernatant was diluted 3 fold with ethanol to provide an optical path for spectroscopy measurement. Absorbance was measured at 620 nm wavelength and EB dye tissue content was quantified from a linear standard curve derived from known amounts of the dye, and it was expressed as ng/mg of tissue (Goldim et al., 2019; Wang and Lai, 2014).

#### 3.2.5 Immunohistochemistry

Three offspring per group (1 from each litter) at postnatal day (PND) 35/ 5 weeks old were deeply anaesthetised with xylazine/ketamine and transcardially perfused with PBS followed by 4% formalin. Brains were removed from the skull and post-fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin and processed into paraffin-embedded blocks. Coronal 10 µm thick sections, 1 in 5 series for 4 sections of the PFC and cerebellum regions were sectioned using a microtome (Leica Biosystems, USA). The slides were soaked in xylene to remove paraffin and rehydrated through an ethanol gradient, followed by PBS. The sections were pre-treated using heat mediated antigen retrieval, blocked with 5% goat serum and incubated with either mouse monoclonal anti-GFAP (ab10062) or anti-Iba-1 (ab153696) antibodies (Abcam) at 1/500 dilution for 24 hours at 4 °C, the sections were washed with PBS and incubated with an antimouse HRP conjugated polymer system for 1 hour at room temperature. Dab (3,3' diaminobenzidine) substrate kit (Cell signalling, USA) was used as the chromogen and sections were counterstained with haematoxylin. Images of the sections were captured using a digital slide scanner (Nano-zoomer, Japan) (Zulu et al., 2018).

Z-stack Iba-1 and GFAP stained PFC and cerebellar sections were taken at X40 objective. The images were processed for cell counting in imagej software as previously described (Zhu et al., 2014). Briefly, 8-bit images were converted to maximal projection images using FFT bandpass filter and unsharp mask functions to remove small fragments while maintaining the larger features. A constant capture field of 200 x 100 x 10  $\mu$ m in the PFC and cerebellum was used for cell counting and counterstained nuclei were removed using the Threshold colour plug-in (imagej) which left only the GFAP<sup>+</sup> or Iba1<sup>+</sup> areas that were quantified using the cell counter

function in ImageJ. The capture field was randomly applied to 4 areas in the PFC and cerebellum, the total number of  $GFAP^+/$  Iba1<sup>+</sup> cells was counted and the average of the 4 capture fields was taken and used to calculate the average of  $GFAP^+/$  Iba1<sup>+</sup> cells in the 5 sections per animal. The total number of cells was expressed as the number of  $GFAP^+/$  Iba1<sup>+</sup> cells in 2 x 10<sup>5</sup> µm<sup>3</sup> of brain tissue.

# **3.3 Statistics**

Data is presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM and *p*-value <0.05 was considered significant. Shapiro and Wilk tests for normality were applied to determine data distribution. Data analysis was performed using one-way Analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by posthoc tests for multiple comparisons using either Bonferroni or Dunnett's tests (as appropriate) with GraphPad Prism version 7 (GraphPad Software, USA).

# **3.4 RESULTS**

# 3.4.1 Prenatal exposure to Mtb compromises BBB integrity in the PFC and Cerebellum

Following EB dye injection, animals immediately changed skin colour (Figure 3.1A) and the brain was macroscopically blue in regions that had a disrupted BBB (Figure 3.1B). Our results show that the BBB was damaged in the PFC and cerebellum regions. The optical density was measured at 610 nm and values were converted to ng dye/mg brain tissue using a standard curve of EB dye in ethanol. The EB dye concentration (Figure 3.1C) in the PFC of *Mtb* (1.14±0.05; p<0.0001) and VPA+*Mtb* (0.82±0.0001; p<0.05) pups was significantly increased compared to the saline group. Prenatal exposure to *Mtb* significantly increased EB dye concentration in the cerebellum (1.26±0.05; p<0.05) but a dual exposure to VPA and *Mtb* did not exacerbate the permeability to EB dye (Figure 3.1D), the effects of *Mtb* were rescued (0.778±0.05; p<0.0001) and cerebellum (1.26±0.05; p<0.0001) regions compared to the positive control (VPA group).



**Figure 3. 1:** Representative image of sedated mice before and after EB dye intravenous injection, **B** representative images of brain tissue 1-hour post EB dye injection, the brain regions with a disrupted BBB can be identified macroscopically by a blue colour, **C** graph shows EB dye concentration in the PFC where intra uterine exposure to VPA, VPA+*Mtb* and *Mtb* significantly increased the BBB permeability allowing for the penetration of EB dye from the periphery, p < 0.05 in the VPA group, p < 0.0001 in both VPA+*Mtb* and *Mtb* groups vs Saline. When compared to VPA (positive control) there was a significant increase in EB dye concentration found in the PFC, p < 0.0001 in *Mtb* group, **D** graph shows the concentration of EB dye found in the cerebellum region of the brain. Prenatal exposure to VPA, VPA+*Mtb* and *Mtb* significantly increased the concentration of EB dye that infiltrated the cerebellum, p < 0.05 for the VPA group and p < 0.0001 for VPA+*Mtb* and *Mtb* groups vs Saline group. EB dye concentration was significantly higher in the cerebellum of *Mtb* groups vs Saline group. EB dye concentration was significantly higher in the cerebellum of *Mtb* group than VPA group (p < 0.0001). All data is represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM for 4 animals per group, \*p < 0.5, \*\*p < 0.001 and \*\*\* p < 0.0001 compared to Saline. ###p < 0.0001 compared to VPA. Optical density was

measured at 610 nm and values were converted to ng dye/mg brain tissue using a standard curve of EB dye in ethanol.

# **3.4.2** Prenatal *Mtb* exposure increases astrocyte and microglia population in the PFC and cerebellum of offspring

We used immunohistochemistry to examine microglia and astrocytes in the PFC and cerebellum brain regions. As shown in Figure 3.2, *Mtb* significantly increased the number of PFC Iba1<sup>+</sup> cells (p=0.0157) and no change was observed in the cerebellum (p=0.350) compared to saline. Combining VPA and *Mtb* did not cause significant changes in the number of Iba1<sup>+</sup> cells in the PFC (p=0.458) and cerebellum (p=0.946) compared to saline. We did not observe any changes in the Iba1<sup>+</sup> population in the PFC and cerebellum of *Mtb* and VPA+*Mtb* when compared to the positive control (p>0.05). Iba1<sup>+</sup> cells in the *Mtb* group showed enlarged cell bodies with less branching compared to saline. We also counted the number of GFAP+ cells and as shown in Figure 3.3, we found that when compared to saline, *Mtb* increased the GFAP<sup>+</sup> cell population in the PFC (p=0.0169) and not the cerebellum (p=0.0538). There were no changes in both brain regions when compared to VPA (p>0.05). Taken together, these trends suggest that *Mtb* infection of mothers caused glial activation state in the offspring which was more pronounced in the PFC region.





**Figure 3. 2:** Representative photomicrographs of Iba1<sup>+</sup> PFC coronal sections at X63 objective lens. Iba1<sup>+</sup> cells are brown with processes extending from the cell body. Resting microglia (black arrows) can be seen especially in the Saline group with a ramified appearance, while *Mtb* group shows a less ramified morphology with enlarged cell bodies (red arrows). Scale bar is 50 µm in all images. 2B: Graph shows the number of Iba1<sup>+</sup> cells in the PFC, *Mtb* offspring showed significantly increased Iba<sup>+</sup> cells compared to saline offspring (p < 0.05). \* denotes p < 0.05 vs saline. 2C: Graph shows the number of Iba1<sup>+</sup> cells in the CER.





Figure 3. 3: Representative photomicrographs of GFAP<sup>+</sup> CER coronal sections and GFAP<sup>+</sup> cell populations

Representative images of GFAP<sup>+</sup> in the coronal PFC and CER sections at X63 objective. GFAP<sup>+</sup> cells are star-shaped and stained brown (black arrows) in the PFC and cerebellum. The scale bar is 50 µm in all images. Graph B shows the number of GFAP<sup>+</sup> cells in the PFC and C shows the number of GFAP<sup>+</sup> cells in the CER. There was no change in GFAP<sup>+</sup> cell numbers in the CER. GFAP<sup>+</sup> population was significantly increased in the PFC when compared to Saline (p<0.05) and no significant change when compared to VPA. Data is represented as mean  $\pm$ SEM for 3 animals per group, \**p*<0.5 vs Saline.

# **3.5 DISCUSSION**

The major findings of this study are that prenatal *Mtb* exposure significantly increased the BBB's permeability in the PFC and CER, and it also increased microglia and astrocytes population in the PFC. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report demonstrating an association of *Mtb* infection with a developing brain in an Autism animal model. Prenatal VPA exposure is a widely used experimental model of ASD as it recapitulates the symptoms observed in humans. The PFC and CER are commonly studied in ASD because their functions are directly linked to ASD symptoms. The PFC controls executive functions of social behaviours, decision making and communication while the CER controls motor skills and higher-order cognition (Donovan & Basson, 2016; Fatemi et al., 2012; Varghese et al., 2017).

In this study, we found that a single exposure to *Mtb* on E 12.5 of pregnancy compromised the integrity of the BBB of offspring. Previously, we observed plasmatic cytokine dysregulation accompanied by synaptic defects, increased repetitive patterns and reduced socialbility in *Mtb*-induced MIA offspring (Manjeese et al., 2021). A suggested mechanism is that *Mtb* triggered maternal immune responses that evoked fetal immune response that influenced the BBB permeability (Coisne & Engelhardt, 2011; Rosenberg, 2009). A classic study demonstrated that inflammatory mediators indeed alter the BBB's function reinforcing the hypothesis that a provoked maternal immune system can influence the BBB function of a developing brain (Saija et al., 1995). Our results also agree with experimental (Kumar & Sharma, 2016) and clinical (Fiorentino et al., 2016) models that reported a compromised BBB associated with ASD pathology.

Our findings also show that prenatal exposure to *Mtb* increases the population of GFAP<sup>+</sup> cells/ astrocytes in the PFC region. Related studies reported increased GFAP expression in the CNS of offspring exposed in utero (de Souza et al., 2015; Hao et al., 2010; O'Loughlin et al., 2017). An increase in GFAP<sup>+</sup> cell number reflects increased astrocyte reactivity and activation which is a neuropathological feature in ASD subjects (Vargas et al., 2005). An increase in the astrocyte population can lead to increased pro-inflammatory cytokines which can be toxic to neurons causing synaptic dysfunction (Eftekharian et al., 2018). Furthermore, astrocytes assist in the maintenance of the BBB hence dysfunction of astrocytes can influence the BBB's permeability. Further studies are needed to explore cytokine levels in the PFC and CER brain regions of mice exposed to *Mtb* in utero.

Prenatal exposure to *Mtb* increased the microglia population and altered the phenotype to a less ramified and ameboid morphology especially in the PFC of developing brains. Previously, prenatal exposure to Poly I:C (Duchatel et al., 2018; Li et al., 2014) and LPS increased microglia activation in the cortex (Cieslik et al., 2020), PFC and CER (Bronzuoli et al., 2018) regions of the brain. Microglia activation was also reported in the PFC and CER of Autistic brains (Morgan et al., 2010; Vargas et al., 2005). Inflammation triggers microglia morphologic response to a reactive state in which microglia soma are enlarged and processes are retracted (Gumusoglu & Stevens, 2019; Miryam & Goar, 2016). Previously (Mattei et al., 2017), MIA altered the transcriptome of phagocytosis-related genes indicating that indeed maternal

infections influence microglia activity causing chronic neuroinflammation in a developing brain. Future studies should explore the interaction of *Mtb* and immune-related genes.

It is interesting to note that dual prenatal exposure to VPA and *Mtb* rescued microglia activation and reduced the BBB's permeability (Figure 1C and 1D). The mechanism behind the reduced brain injury is not clear but our findings suggest a possible VPA induced antimicrobial effect on *Mtb* that suppresses the Mtb-induced MIA effects on a developing brain. Previously, Rao and co-workers (2018) demonstrated that VPA had antimicrobial effects against *Mtb* indicated by a reduction in *Mtb* colony forming units (CFU). The authors suggested that VPA can achieve this through inhibition of Rv1151c, a deacetylase enzyme encoded by *Mtb*. This disturbs enzyme activity in *Mtb*'s central metabolism subsequently disrupting *Mtb* growth (Rao et al., 2018). It is therefore possible that the reduction in neuro-anatomical changes could be a result of VPA antimicrobial effects on *Mtb* that suppress maternal immune activation driven neuroimmune changes in the VPA+*Mtb* group. Another possible mechanism could be an indirect rescue mechanism against VPA-induced effects on the BBB. In a similar study, MIA offered an indirect immune protective effect against chemical induced teratogenesis in mice (Holladay et al., 2000).

# **3.6 CONCLUSION**

Our findings demonstrate that *Mtb*-induced MIA compromises BBB integrity and causes cellular abnormalities in offspring. There is increased PFC specific astrocyte and microglia activation. Microglia and astrocyte dysfunction can affect synapse formation and neuronal networks. Furthermore, microglia and astrocytes are intimately involved in phagocytosis hence our study supports the notion that glial dysfunction and neurodevelopment underlie the symptoms of developmental disorders. These findings highlight the potential of *Mtb* infections in pregnancy to harm a developing brain and as such this may contribute to the understanding of the aetiology of ASD.

# **3.7 CONFLICT OF INTEREST**

The authors have no conflicting interests.

# **3.8 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

The authors thank Africa Health Research Institute's Animal Core Unit staff (K. Thambu, K. Beepraj and K. Khuluse) for the technical assistance and Kievershen Nargan for the histology experiments.

# **3.9 FUNDING**

This work was supported by the University of KwaZulu Natal (UKZN) college of health sciences; National Research Foundation (Thuthuka grant); Developing Research Innovation, Localisation and Leadership in South Africa (DRILL), grant [D43TW010131]; South African MRC.

# **3.10 AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

W. Manjeese carried out the experiments and wrote the manuscript, T. Mpofana, N. E. Mvubu and A. J. C Steyn conceived and designed the study. All authors discussed the results and contributed to the final manuscript.

### REFERENCES

- Bates, M., Ahmed, Y., Kapata, N., & Mwaba, P. (2015). Perspectives on tuberculosis in pregnancy. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 32, 124-127. doi:10.1016/J.IJID.2014.12.014
- Bekker, A., Schaaf, H. S., Draper, H. R., Kriel, M., & Hesseling, A. C. (2016). Tuberculosis Disease during Pregnancy and Treatment Outcomes in HIV-Infected and Uninfected Women at a Referral Hospital in Cape Town. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0164249
- Bilbo, S. D., Block, C. L., Bolton, J. L., Hanamsagar, R., & Tran, P. K. (2018). Beyond infection - Maternal immune activation by environmental factors, microglial development, and relevance for autism spectrum disorders. *Experimental Neurology*, 299(Pt A), 241-251. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2017.07.002
- Bronzuoli, M. R., Facchinetti, R., Ingrassia, D., Sarvadio, M., Schiavi, S., Steardo, L., . . . Scuderi, C. (2018). Neuroglia in the autistic brain: evidence from a preclinical model. *Mol Autism*, 9, 66. doi:10.1186/s13229-018-0254-0
- Christensen, J., Gronborg, T. K., Sorensen, M. J., Schendel, D., Parner, E. T., Pedersen, L. H., & Vestergaard, M. (2013). Prenatal valproate exposure and risk of autism spectrum disorders and childhood autism. JAMA, 309(16), 1696-1703. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.2270
- Cieslik, M., Gassowska-Dobrowolska, M., Jesko, H., Czapski, G. A., Wilkaniec, A., Zawadzka, A., . . . Adamczyk, A. (2020). Maternal Immune Activation Induces Neuroinflammation and Cortical Synaptic Deficits in the Adolescent Rat Offspring. *Int* J Mol Sci, 21(11). doi:10.3390/ijms21114097
- Coisne, C., & Engelhardt, B. (2011). Tight junctions in brain barriers during central nervous system inflammation. *Antioxid Redox Signal*, 15(5), 1285-1303. doi:10.1089/ars.2011.3929
- de Souza, D. F., Wartchow, K. M., Lunardi, P. S., Brolese, G., Tortorelli, L. S., Batassini, C., . . . Gonçalves, C.-A. (2015). Changes in Astroglial Markers in a Maternal Immune Activation Model of Schizophrenia in Wistar Rats are Dependent on Sex. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 9, 489-489. doi:10.3389/fncel.2015.00489
- Donovan, A. P. A., & Basson, M. A. (2016). perspective. 44(August), 1-12. doi:10.1111/joa.12542
- Doyle, T. J., Goodin, K., & Hamilton, J. J. (2013). Maternal and Neonatal Outcomes among Pregnant Women with 2009 Pandemic Influenza A (H1N1) Illness in Florida, 2009-2010 : A Population-Based Cohort Study. 8(10), 2009-2010. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0079040
- Duchatel, R. J., Meehan, C. L., Harms, L. R., Michie, P. T., Bigland, M. J., Smith, D. W., ... Tooney, P. A. (2018). Late gestation immune activation increases IBA1-positive immunoreactivity levels in the corpus callosum of adult rat offspring. *Psychiatry Res*, 266, 175-185. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2018.05.063
- Eftekharian, M. M., Ghafouri-Fard, S., Noroozi, R., Omrani, M. D., Arsang-Jang, S., Ganji, M., . . . Taheri, M. (2018). Cytokine profile in autistic patients. *Cytokine*, 108, 120-126. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2018.03.034
- Erickson, M. A., & Banks, W. A. (2018). Neuroimmune axes of the blood-brain barriers and blood-brain interfaces: Bases for physiological regulation, disease states, and pharmacological interventions. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 70(2), 278-314. doi:10.1124/pr.117.014647

- Fatemi, S. H., Aldinger, K. A., Ashwood, P., Bauman, M. L., Blaha, C. D., Blatt, G. J., . . . Welsh, J. P. (2012). Consensus paper: pathological role of the cerebellum in autism. *Cerebellum*, 11(3), 777-807. doi:10.1007/s12311-012-0355-9
- Fiorentino, M., Sapone, A., Senger, S., Camhi, S., Kadzielski, S., Buie, T., . . . Fasano, A. (2016). Blood–brain barrier and intestinal epithelial barrier alterations in autism spectrum disorders. *Molecular Autism*, 7. doi:10.1186/s13229-016-0110-z
- Glass, R., Norton, S., Fox, N., & Kusnecov, A. W. (2018). Brain , Behavior , and Immunity Maternal immune activation with staphylococcal enterotoxin A produces unique behavioral changes in C57BL / 6 mouse o ff spring. *Brain Behavior and Immunity*(May), 0-1. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2018.05.005
- Gumusoglu, S. B., & Stevens, H. E. (2019). Maternal Inflammation and Neurodevelopmental Programming: A Review of Preclinical Outcomes and Implications for Translational Psychiatry. *Biol Psychiatry*, 85(2), 107-121. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2018.08.008
- Hao, L. Y., Hao, X. Q., Li, S. H., & Li, X. H. (2010). Prenatal exposure to lipopolysaccharide results in cognitive deficits in age-increasing offspring rats. *Neuroscience*, 166(3), 763-770. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.01.006
- Hara, Y., Maeda, Y., Kataoka, S., Ago, Y., Takuma, K., & Matsuda, T. (2012). Effect of prenatal valproic acid exposure on cortical morphology in female mice. *Journal of pharmacological sciences*, 118(4), 543-546. doi:10.1254/jphs.12025sc
- Holladay, S. D., Sharova, L., Smith, B. J., Gogal, R. M., Ward, D. L., & Blaylock, B. L. (2000). Nonspecific stimulation of the maternal immune system. I. Effects on teratogeninduced fetal malformations. *Teratology*, 62(6), 413-419. doi:10.1002/1096-9926(200012)62:6<413::Aid-tera8>3.0.Co;2-b
- Hornig, M., Bresnahan, M. A., Che, X., Schultz, A. F., Ukaigwe, J. E., Eddy, M. L., . . . Lipkin, W. I. (2017). Prenatal fever and autism risk. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 23(3), 759-766. doi:10.1038/mp.2017.119
- Kazlauskas, N., Seiffe, A., Campolongo, M., Zappala, C., & Depino, A. M. (2019). Sexspecific effects of prenatal valproic acid exposure on sociability and neuroinflammation: Relevance for susceptibility and resilience in autism. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *110*, 104441-104441. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.104441
- Kumar, H., & Sharma, B. (2016). Memantine ameliorates autistic behavior, biochemistry & blood brain barrier impairments in rats. *Brain Res Bull, 124, 27-39.* doi:10.1016/j.brainresbull.2016.03.013
- Li, W. Y., Chang, Y. C., Lee, L. J. H., & Lee, L. J. (2014). Prenatal Infection Affects the Neuronal Architecture and Cognitive Function in Adult Mice. *Developmental neuroscience*, 36(5), 359-370. doi:10.1159/000362383
- Liebner, S., Dijkhuizen, R. M., Reiss, Y., Plate, K. H., Agalliu, D., & Constantin, G. (2018). Functional morphology of the blood-brain barrier in health and disease. *Acta Neuropathologica*, *135*(3), 311-336. doi:10.1007/s00401-018-1815-1
- Loto, O. M., & Awowole, I. (2012). Tuberculosis in Pregnancy: A Review. Journal of Pregnancy, 2012. doi:10.1155/2012/379271
- Manjeese, W., Mvubu, N. E., Steyn, A. J. C., & Mpofana, T. (2021). Mycobacterium tuberculosis induced maternal immune activation promotes Autism phenotype in infected mice offspring. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health*, 18(9), 4513 doi:10.3390/ijerph18094513

- Mathad, J. S., & Gupta, A. (2012). Tuberculosis in Pregnant and Postpartum Women: Epidemiology, Management, and Research Gaps. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 55(11), 1532-1549. doi:10.1093/cid/cis732
- Mattei, D., Ivanov, A., Ferrai, C., Jordan, P., Guneykaya, D., Buonfiglioli, A., ... Wolf, S. A. (2017). Maternal immune activation results in complex microglial transcriptome signature in the adult offspring that is reversed by minocycline treatment. *Translational Psychiatry*, 7(5), e1120-e1120. doi:10.1038/tp.2017.80
- McDonald, C. R., Cahill, L. S., Ho, K. T., Yang, J., Kim, H., Silver, L., ... Sled, J. G. (2015). Experimental Malaria in Pregnancy Induces Neurocognitive Injury in Uninfected Offspring via a C5a-C5a Receptor Dependent Pathway. 1-23. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1005140
- Miryam, N. C., & Goar, G. (2016). LPS-induced Murine Neuroinflammation Model: Main Features and Suitability for Pre-clinical Assessment of Nutraceuticals. *Current Neuropharmacology*, 14(2), 155-164.
- Monnet-Tschudi, F., Defaux, A., Braissant, O., Cagnon, L., & Zurich, M. G. (2011). Methods to assess neuroinflammation. *Curr Protoc Toxicol, Chapter 12*(SUPPL.50), Unit12 19. doi:10.1002/0471140856.tx1219s50
- Morgan, J. T., Chana, G., Pardo, C. A., Achim, C., Semendeferi, K., Buckwalter, J., ... Everall,
  I. P. (2010). Microglial activation and increased microglial density observed in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in autism. *Biol Psychiatry*, 68(4), 368-376. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.05.024
- Morris, G., Fernandes, B. S., Puri, B. K., Walker, A. J., Carvalho, A. F., & Berk, M. (2018). Leaky brain in neurological and psychiatric disorders: Drivers and consequences. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 52(10), 924-948. doi:10.1177/0004867418796955
- O'Loughlin, E., Pakan, J. M. P., Yilmazer-Hanke, D., & McDermott, K. W. (2017). Acute in utero exposure to lipopolysaccharide induces inflammation in the pre- and postnatal brain and alters the glial cytoarchitecture in the developing amygdala. J Neuroinflammation, 14(1), 212. doi:10.1186/s12974-017-0981-8
- Ornoy, A., Weinstein-Fudim, L., & Ergaz, Z. (2015). Prenatal factors associated with autism spectrum disorder (ASD). *Reprod Toxicol*, 56, 155-169. doi:10.1016/j.reprotox.2015.05.007
- Petrelli, F., Pucci, L., & Bezzi, P. (2016). Astrocytes and Microglia and Their Potential Link with Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 10, 21.https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2016.00021
- Prins, J. R., Eskandar, S., Eggen, B. J. L., & Scherjon, S. A. (2018). Microglia, the missing link in maternal immune activation and fetal neurodevelopment; and a possible link in preeclampsia and disturbed neurodevelopment? In (Vol. 126, pp. 18-22): Elsevier Ireland Ltd.
- Rao, M., Valentini, D., Zumla, A., & Maeurer, M. (2018). Evaluation of the efficacy of valproic acid and suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (vorinostat) in enhancing the effects of firstline tuberculosis drugs against intracellular Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Int J Infect Dis*, 69, 78-84. doi:10.1016/j.ijid.2018.02.021
- Rodier, P. M., Ingram, J. L., Tisdale, B., Nelson, S., & Romano, J. (1996). Embryological origin for autism: developmental anomalies of the cranial nerve motor nuclei. *J Comp Neurol*, 370(2), 247-261. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(19960624)370

- Rosenberg, G. A. (2009). Matrix metalloproteinases and their multiple roles in neurodegenerative diseases. *The Lancet Neurology*, 8(2), 205-216. doi:10.1016/s1474-4422(09)70016-x
- Saija, A., Princi, P., Lanza, M., Scalese, M., Aramnejad, E., & De Sarro, A. (1995). SYSTEMIC CYTOKINE ADMINISTRATION CAN AFFECT BLOOD-BRAIN BARRIER PERMEABILITY IN THE RAT. *Life Sciences*, 56(10), 7X-784. doi:0024-3205(95)00008-9
- Solek, C. M., Farooqi, N., Verly, M., Lim, T. K., & Ruthazer, E. S. (2018). Maternal immune activation in neurodevelopmental disorders. *Developmental Dynamics*, 247(4), 588-619. doi:10.1002/dvdy.24612
- Sugarman, J., Colvin, C., Moran, A. C., & Oxlade, O. (2014). Tuberculosis in pregnancy: An estimate of the global burden of disease. *The Lancet Global Health*, 2(12), e710-e716. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(14)70330-4
- Vargas, D. L., Nascimbene, C., Krishnan, C., Zimmerman, A. W., & Pardo, C. A. (2005). Neuroglial activation and neuroinflammation in the brain of patients with autism. *Annals of Neurology*, 57(1), 67-81. doi:10.1002/ana.20315
- Varghese, M., Keshav, N., Jacot-Descombes, S., Warda, T., Wicinski, B., Dickstein, D. L., . . . Hof, P. R. (2017). Autism spectrum disorder: neuropathology and animal models. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 134(4), 537-566. doi:10.1007/s00401-017-1736-4
- Wagner, G. C., Reuhl, K. R., Cheh, M., McRae, P., & Halladay, A. K. (2006). A new neurobehavioral model of autism in mice: Pre- and postnatal exposure to sodium valproate. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 36(6), 779-793. doi:10.1007/s10803-006-0117-y
- Yamaguchi, H., Hara, Y., Ago, Y., Takano, E., Hasebe, S., Nakazawa, T., . . . Takuma, K. (2017). Environmental enrichment attenuates behavioral abnormalities in valproic acidexposed autism model mice. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 333, 67-73. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2017.06.035
- Zerbo, O., Qian, Y., Yoshida, C., Grether, J. K., Van de Water, J., & Croen, L. A. (2016). Maternal Infection during Pregnancy and Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45(12), 4015-4025. doi:10.1007/s10803-013-2016-3.Maternal
- Zhu, F., Zheng, Y., Liu, Y., Zhang, X., & Zhao, J. (2014). Minocycline alleviates behavioral deficits and inhibits microglial activation in the offspring of pregnant mice after administration of polyriboinosinic-polyribocytidilic acid. *Psychiatry Res*, 219(3), 680-686. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2014.06.046
- Zulu, S. S., Simola, N., Mabandla, M. V., & Daniels, W. M. U. (2018). Effect of long-term administration of antiretroviral drugs (Tenofovir and Nevirapine) on neuroinflammation and neuroplasticity in mouse hippocampi. *J Chem Neuroanat*, 94, 86-92. doi:10.1016/j.jchemneu.2018.10.003

This chapter is a manuscript entitled '*Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-Induced Maternal Immune Activation Promotes Autism-Like Phenotype in Infected Mice Offspring' that has been published in a DHET accredited and Scopus indexed journal. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*.



International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health

#### Article

# *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-Induced Maternal Immune Activation Promotes Autism-Like Phenotype in Infected Mice Offspring

Wadzanai Manjeese 10, Nontobeko E. Mvubu 20, Adrie J. C. Steyn 2,3,4 and Thabisile Mpofana 1,\*0

- Department of Human Physiology, School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, University of KwaZulu Natal, Durban 4001, South Africa; wadzymanjeese@gmail.com
- <sup>2</sup> Discipline of Microbiology, School of Life Sciences, College of Agriculture, Engineering and Science, University of KwaZulu Natal, Durban 4001, South Africa; mvubuN@ukzn.ac.za (N.E.M.); adrie.steyn@ahri.org (A.J.C.S.)
- <sup>3</sup> Africa Health Research Institute, K-Rith Tower Building, Nelson Mandela School of Medicine, Durban 4001, South Africa
- <sup>4</sup> Department of Microbiology, University of Alabama, Birmingham, AL 35294, USA
- Correspondence: mpofana@ukzn.ac.za



Citation: Manjeese, W.; Mvubu, N.E.; Steyn, A.J.C.; Mpofana, T. Mycobacterium tuborculosis-Induced Maternal Immune Activation Promotes Autism-Like Phenotype in Infected Mice Offspring, Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2021, 18, 4513. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijerph18094513

Academic Editors: Stephen Schultz, Dario Siniscalco and Georgianna G. Gould

Received: 2 March 2021 Accepted: 3 April 2021 Published: 23 April 2021 Abstract: The maternal system's exposure to pathogens during pregnancy influences fetal brain development causing a persistent inflammation characterized by elevated pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in offspring. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (*Mtb*) is a global pathogen that causes tuberculosis, a pandemic responsible for health and economic burdens. Although it is known that maternal infections increase the risk of autism spectrum disorder (ASD), it is not known whether *Mtb* infection is sufficient to induce ASD associated behaviors, immune dysregulation and altered expression of synaptic regulatory genes. The current study infected pregnant Balb/c mice with *Mtb* H37Rv and valproic acid (VPA) individually and in combination. Plasma cytokine profiles were measured in offspring using the Bio-plex Th17 pro mouse cytokine panel. *Mtb* infection increased plasma interleukin (IL)-6 and IL-17A, while tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), interferon (IFN)- $\gamma$  and IL-1 $\beta$  were reduced when compared with saline. *Mtb*-induced maternal immune activation (MIA) offspring displayed increased grooming behavior. The study also revealed dysregulation in gene expression of synaptic molecules in the cerebellum. MIA rescued the VPA-induced effects on self-grooming and social interaction behaviors. Our finding therefore highlights a potential role of *Mtb* as a MIA agent that can potentially contribute to ASD.

Keywords: maternal immune activation; Mycobacterium tuberculosis; cytokines; social behaviors; Autism; synaptic genes; restrictive repetitive patterns

MDPI

# **CHAPTER FOUR**

# *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*- induced maternal immune activation promotes autism-like phenotye in infected mice offspring

Wadzanai MANJEESE<sup>1</sup>, Nontobeko. E. MVUBU<sup>2</sup>, Adrie. J. C. STEYN<sup>3, 4</sup>, Thabisile MPOFANA<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Human Physiology, School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, University of Kwazulu Natal, Durban, South Africa.
<sup>2</sup>Discipline of Microbiology, School of Life Sciences, College of Agriculture, Engineering and Science, University of Kwazulu Natal, Durban, South Africa.
<sup>3</sup>Africa Health Research Institute, K-Rith Tower Building, Nelson Mandela School of Medicine, Durban, South Africa.
<sup>4</sup>Department of Microbiology, University of Alabama at Birmingham, AL 35294, USA

# **Corresponding Author:**

# **Dr** Thabisile Mpofana

Department of Human Physiology University of Kwazulu Natal Westville campus, University road Durban, South Africa E-mail: <u>mpofana@ukzn.ac.za</u>

# 4 Abstract

The maternal system's exposure to pathogens during pregnancy influences fetal brain development causing a persistent inflammation characterized by elevated pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in offspring. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb)* is a global pathogen that causes tuberculosis, a pandemic responsible for health and economic burdens. Although it is known that maternal infections increase the risk of autism spectrum disorder (ASD), it is not known whether *Mtb* infection is sufficient to induce ASD associated behaviors, immune dysregulation and altered expression of synaptic regulatory genes. In the present study, pregnant Balb/c mice were infected with *Mtb* H37Rv and valproic acid (VPA) individually and in combination. Plasma cytokine profiles were measured in offspring using the Bio-plex Th17 pro mouse cytokine panel. Mtb infection increased plasma interleukin (IL)-6 and IL-17A, while tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), interferon (IFN)- $\gamma$  and IL-1 $\beta$  were reduced when compared with saline. Offspring from mothers with *Mtb*-induced maternal immune activation (MIA) displayed increased grooming behavior. The study also revealed dysregulation in gene expression of synaptic molecules in the cerebellum. MIA rescued the VPA-induced effects on self-grooming and social interaction behaviors. Our finding therefore highlights a potential role of *Mtb* as a MIA agent that can potentially contribute to ASD.

**Keywords:** maternal immune activation; *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*; cytokines; social behaviors; Autism; synaptic genes; restrictive repetitive patterns

#### **4.1 Introduction**

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a group of neurodevelopmental disorders (NDDs) caused by a complex interaction between genes and prenatal environmental factors. It is characterized by repetitive behaviors, communication deficits and lack of social interaction skills [1]. Maternal immune activation (MIA) caused by infections in pregnancy are an important environmental risk factor that can influence the developing brain. Second trimester respiratory infections and bacterial infections increase the risk of NDDs such as ASD [2, 3]. The maternal system strikes a balance between immune tolerance of the growing fetus and immune response against invading pathogens [4]. Maternal immune response to infection triggers production of inflammatory cytokines which can traverse the fetal-placental barrier inducing fetal inflammation that disrupts brain development. This inflammation persists through postnatal life as evidenced by elevated pro-inflammatory cytokines in the CNS and serum/plasma of ASD patients [5, 6]. Maternal infections of Poly I:C, LPS, influenza, C. rectus and L. monocytogenes alter cytokine levels in the placenta, amniotic fluid, fetal brain and plasma [4, 7-10]. Cytokines mediate neuro-immune communication, and they also regulate neurogenesis and synaptic plasticity; hence, an imbalance in cytokine levels during development can be detrimental to the developing brain.

Several genes have been implicated in ASD and they are known to converge on biological pathways that are involved in the regulation of neuronal activity [11, 12]. These genes include SH3 and multiple ankyrin repeat domains 3 (*SHANK3*), neurexins (*NRXNs*) and neuroligins (*NLGNs*) which encode proteins involved in synaptic transmission and plasticity [13]. Neurexins are pre-synaptic cell adhesion molecules encoded by *NRXN*1, 2 and 3 genes, while *NLGNs* are post-synaptic cell adhesion molecules encoded by *NLGN*1, 2, 3 and 4 [13, 14]. *SHANK3*, *NRXN1*, *NRXN2*, NLGN1 and *NLGN2* are candidate NDD susceptibility genes. Mutations and deletions in these genes are implicated in the pathophysiology of ASD [15-17]. *NLGN1* and *NLGN2* are expressed on excitatory and inhibitory synapses, respectively, while *NLGN3* and 4 are found in both synapses. Changes in expression patterns of *NRXNs* and *NLGNs* affect the synapse excitation/inhibitory (E/I) balance leading to altered information processing.

Valproic acid (VPA) is an anticonvulsant and mood stabilizer that is used to treat epilepsy and depression disorders [18]. Treating pregnant women with VPA is associated with higher incidence of ASD and physical deformities in children [19, 20]. It has been extensively shown

that gestational VPA exposure of mice on E12.5 induces ASD-traits in offspring, which include social deficits, repetitive behaviors, communication challenges and neuronal damage [21-24]. The VPA model is a well-established tool for studying ASD research, owing to its ability to recapitulate human symptoms of ASD.

In this study we used *Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb)* H37Rv to induce MIA in pregnant mice. *Mtb* is a global pathogen that is common in pregnant women, and children born to them are at an increased risk of having low birth weight, infant mortality and prematurity [25, 26]. *Mtb* causes tuberculosis, a highly prevalent disease in Africa that causes social and economic challenges. Conversely, neurodevelopmental disorders are becoming increasingly common even though they are poorly understood and underdiagnosed in Africa [27]. No study has evaluated maternal *Mtb* infection and its potential influence on ASD-associated genes and on the immune systems of infected mice's offspring. This study evaluates *Mtb* infection and its possible link to ASD-like phenotype in the offspring of infected mice.

#### 4.2 Materials and Methods

#### 4.2.1. Animals

Balb/c mice at 8 weeks of age were obtained from Africa Health Research Institute (AHRI), South Africa. The study followed the Animal Research Reporting of In Vivo Experiments (ARRIVE) guidelines, and animals were handled according to the principles of National Institutes of Animal Care and Use of Laboratory Animals of the National Academy of Sciences. Females were group-housed (5 per group) for 5 days to synchronize their estrous cycle. Bedding from the male cages was added to the female cages to induce the estrous phase. The mice were mated on a ratio of 1:1 (male to female) overnight. Vaginal plugs were checked early morning, males were immediately removed upon confirmation of vaginal plug presence and this confirmation marked embryonic day 0.5 (E0.5). In our pilot study, administration of 500 mg/kg of VPA and *Mtb* together induced complete fetal resorption; hence, for this study we lowered the VPA dose to 350 mg/kg to increase fetal survival rate in the VPA + Mtb group. The VPA group was the positive control of the study, and the VPA + *Mtb* group was created to assess the effects of dual exposure to two "environmental insults". Twenty pregnant mice were randomly assigned to 4 groups (5 per group), and the treatments were administered on E12.5, as shown in Table 4.1 and Figure 4.1a. Only 3 animals per group had successful pregnancies; hence, litters were culled to 12 per group and no more than 4 animals per litter (2 per sex). All animals were raised in a biosafety level 3 laboratory (BSL3). Each animal raised

her litter under 12 h light/dark cycle and a constant supply of food and water. Litters were weaned at postnatal day (PND) 21, at which time males and females were separated but grouped according to treatments. Five animals were randomly picked from all the litters for cytokine and gene expression profiles.

| Group     | Treatment and Dosage   | Route of Administration         |
|-----------|--|---------------------------------|
| Saline    | 0.2 mL of saline   | Single i.p.                     |
| VPA       | 0.2 mL of 500 mg/kg valproic acid  | Single i.p.                     |
| VPA + Mtb | $\frac{0.2 \text{ mL of } 350 \text{ mg/kg valproic acid}}{+ 10 \text{mL of } 1 \times 10^8 \text{ CFU (OD}_{600} = 1)}$ | Single i.p. + aerosol infection |
| Mtb       | 10 mL of $1 \times 10^8$ CFU (OD <sub>600</sub> = 1)   | Single aerosol infection        |

Table 4. 1: Groups and treatments in the study.

OD—optical density, CFU—colony forming units, i.p.—intraperitoneal.

# 4.2.3 Mtb Infection

Ten pregnant mice from the *Mtb* and VPA + *Mtb* groups were placed in a Glas-col infection chamber (Terre Haute, IN, USA) with 10 mL of  $1 \times 10^8$  CFU (OD<sub>600</sub> = 1) *Mtb* H37Rv inoculum expelled into the nebulizer using a syringe. The Glas-col machine cycle was set to the following conditions: preheat (15 min), nebulization (30 min), cloud decay (30 min), decontamination (15 min), cool down (10 min). The mice were carefully removed from the machine using forceps and placed into cages with bedding, food and water.

#### **4.2.4 Social Interaction Test**

This test was performed on PND 35 as previously described [28]. All procedures were conducted in a biosafety level 3 cabinet. Briefly, a  $40 \times 15$  cm transparent Perspex box divided in three compartments with the following measurements: sides ( $15 \times 15$  cm); central ( $10 \times 15$  cm). The central compartment was connected to the side compartments by 7.5 cm sliding doors. A camera (Microsoft Lifecam Studio, Beijing, China) was placed above the apparatus to record all the areas of the three-chamber box during the test. The test was conducted in 3 phases: (i) Habituation phase—each mouse was allowed acclimatize and freely explore the chambers for 5 min; (ii) Social stimulus phase—an unfamiliar sex and age matched mouse was placed in a

cylinder in 1 of the side chambers; the other side chamber contained an identical cylinder that was empty; and (iii) Social novelty phase—A novel sex- and age-matched mouse was placed in a cylinder in 1 of the side chambers while the other side chamber housed the familiar mouse that was encountered during the social stimulus phase (Figure 4.1d,e). During each phase, the test animal was placed in the center compartment and doors were opened to test the animal's preferred compartment. The total amount of time spent in each compartment was analyzed and scored using BORIS software.

### 4.2.5 Self-Grooming/Repetitive Behaviors

To assess behaviors in the repetitive domain, the total time spent grooming (scratching and licking) was observed during the habituation phase of the three-chamber social interaction test. Five-minute videos were recorded, and the cumulative time spent grooming during the sessions were later scored by an investigator blinded to the treatments using Behavioral Observation Research Interactive Software (BORIS, v 7.7.4. Viale Mattioli 25, TO, Italy).

#### **4.2.6 Blood Collection**

On PND 35, balb/c mice were humanely sacrificed using halothane overdose; thereafter, cardiac puncture was performed to collect blood into EDTA-coated 1 mL tubes. The tubes were left standing for 30 min before centrifuging at 10,000 rpm at room temperature for 10 min. Plasma samples were aliquoted and flash frozen on dry ice then stored at -80 °C until analyzed.

# 4.2.7 Brain Tissue Collection

On PND 35, five animals per group were slightly anaesthetized and decapitated using a guillotine. The brain tissue was carefully removed from the skull on ice, and the whole cerebellum was dissected and immediately frozen on dry ice then stored at -80 °C until analysis.

# 4.2.8 Relative mRNA Expression in the Cerebellum (quantitative PCR)

Total mRNA was extracted from whole cerebellar tissues according to manufacturer's instructions using the Zymo Research Quick-RNA Miniprep kit (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA, USA). Briefly, cerebellar tissues were mechanically homogenized in RNA lysis buffer, and the homogenate was centrifuged at  $10,000 \times$  g for 30 s. The flow through was diluted (1:1) with ethanol and centrifuged on a Zymo-Spin IIICG column which was then treated with DNase 1 to digest genomic DNA. After recommended washing steps and centrifugation, RNA was eluted in 50 µL DNAse/RNAse free water. A nanodrop spectrophotometer (Thermo scientific

Nanodrop 1000, Waltham, MA, USA) was used to assess the purity and concentration of the extracted RNA. A total of 1 µg of RNA was reverse transcribed into cDNA according to the manufacturer's protocol using the iScript cDNA synthesis kit (Bio-Rad Laboratory Pty, Ltd., Hercules, CA, USA). All primers were designed using Primer-Blast designing program (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/tools/primer-blast, accessed on 25 September 2019), then validated and optimized prior to the experiment. Real-time polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) conditions used were as follows: initial denaturation at 95 °C for 3 min followed by 40 cycles of polymerase activation and denaturation at 95 °C for 15 s, annealing/extension and plate read at 58 °C with a single fluorescent measurement. The housekeeping gene used in the analysis was glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and the fluorescent dye utilized in the analysis was SYBR Green 1 (SSO Advanced Universal SYBR GR. SUPRMIX, Bio-Rad Laboratory, Hercules, CA, USA). The oligonucleotide primer sequences for the cerebellar synaptic genes investigated are shown in Table 4.2:

 Table 4. 2: Oligonucleotide primer sequences.

| Genes  | Forward Primer       | Reverse Primer         | Amplicon<br>Size |
|--------|----------------------|------------------------|------------------|
| NRXN1  | AGGTTCCGTGTGTCACTTGC | TCCTGTGTGTGTGTCTGGGGAT | 452              |
| NRXN2  | GCAGGGATTGGACACGCTAT | GAACTGTGACTGCCTACCCC   | 464              |
| NLGN1  | GGGGATGAGGTTCCCTATGT | GGTTGGGTTTGGTATGGATG   | 190              |
| NLGN2  | TTTCCGTCCTCCCATCCAAT | TAGGAGCCGCCGTGTAGAAA   | 923              |
| SHANK3 | GGCCATTTCAACAGAAGCCC | TGCGCCTTCGATCTCATGG    | 119              |
| GAPDH  | CCCTTAAGAGGGATGCTGCC | ACTGTGCCGTTGAATTTGCC   | 118              |

# 4.2.9 Cytokine Analysis

Cytokine analysis was conducted using a Bio-plex Pro<sup>TM</sup> Mouse Th17 Cytokine magnetic bead-based kit (Bio-Rad Laboratory, Hercules, CA, USA. Lot# 64313813). The kit was used to measure plasma levels of interleukin 6 (IL-6), interferon gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ), interleukin 10 (IL-10), interleukin 1 beta (IL-1 $\beta$ ), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and interleukin 17A (IL-17A). All steps were conducted according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, samples were diluted (1:4) in diluent provided by manufacturer. Antibody coupled beads were

incubated with 50 µL of diluted plasma. After the recommended washes, biotinylated detection antibody was added to the beads and incubated. Streptavidin-PE was added to the beads, a Bioplex 200 System (Biorad) was used to measure fluorescent signals, and data were analyzed using Bio-plex Manager 5 Software. A 5-parameter model was used to calculate cytokine concentrations. Unknown concentrations were calculated based on a standard curve of known concentrations provided by the manufacturer. Cytokine concentrations below the limit of detection (LOD) were calculated as LOD/2 for statistics. Cytokine concentrations are expressed as pg/mL.

# **4.3 Statistical Analysis**

Results were analyzed using GraphPad Prism software (version 7). Shapiro and Wilk tests for normality were applied to determine data distribution. The data were analyzed by one-way or two-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's or Bonferroni multiple comparison post hoc test as appropriate to determine differences between the groups which were considered statistically significant when p < 0.05. Results are presented as the mean + standard error of the mean (mean + SEM) for n = 12 in behavioral tests and n = 5 for cytokine and gene expression analyses.

### 4.4 Results

# 4.4.1 The Effect of Prenatal Mtb Infection on Offspring Social Behaviors

The three-chamber social interaction test measured the sociability of animals in the social stimulus phase, where propensity to spend time with another mouse was compared with time spent with an object over a 10 min period. Although not statistically significant (p > 0.05), *Mtb* offspring spent more time with an object than a mouse (Figure 4.1b). Interestingly, mice born to VPA + *Mtb* treated mothers showed a preference for the unfamiliar mouse over the object (p > 0.0001), which indicated normal social behavior. We measured social novelty as the preference between a familiar mouse (previously encountered animal) and unfamiliar mouse. Mice are social animals that normally would show a preference for novel social experiences. In this phase, two-way ANOVA showed that there was no treatment effect on the choice between familiar and unfamiliar mouse; however, *Mtb* offspring were inclined to interact with the familiar mouse more than with the unfamiliar mouse (Figure 4.1c). Although not statistically significant (p > 0.05), mice born to VPA + *Mtb* treated mothers preferred the unfamiliar mouse to the familiar mouse.



**(a**)



Social novelty



**(b**)





(**c**)



**Figure 4.1** (a) Study design; (b) Social stimulus—Graph shows the average time spent with a familiar mouse compared with object. Unlike the saline offspring (p < 0.0001), *Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb)* offspring spent more time with an object than a mouse. Valproic acid (VPA) + *Mtb* offspring spent significantly more time (p < 0.0001) with an unfamiliar mouse than the object. \*\*\* denotes p < 0.0001 (two-way ANOVA); (c) Social novelty—Graph shows the average time (±SEM) spent with an unfamiliar mouse compared with a familiar mouse in a 10 min phase. Unlike the saline offspring (p < 0.001), *Mtb* and VPA+*Mtb* offspring failed to choose the unfamiliar mouse. \*\* denotes p < 0.001 (n = 12 per group, two-way ANOVA); detailed statistics information is available in Appendix B, Tables A3 and A4; (d) Representative images of the side-view and (e) aerial view of social novelty phase during the three-chamber social interaction test.

#### 4.4.2 Mtb Infection Increases Self-Grooming Behavior of offspring

The duration of whole-body grooming was monitored and recorded. An unusually long duration of a grooming pattern of the whole body was observed in this study. There was a significant increase (p < 0.0001 vs. saline; p < 0.001 vs. VPA) in grooming behaviors of the *Mtb* offspring (Figure 4.2). Interestingly, *Mtb* on its own was sufficient to increase self-grooming (p < 0.001 vs. VPA + *Mtb*) and dual exposure to VPA and *Mtb* did not increase the grooming behavior but restored it to the negative control (saline) frequency, suggesting a possible rescue mechanism of the grooming behavior.

SELF-GROOMING



**Figure 4. 2:** Graph showing total time spent while animals groomed themselves over 5 min (n = 12 per group). Prenatal exposure to *Mtb* significantly increased grooming when compared with saline and VPA, p < 0.0001 and p < 0.001, respectively. \*\*\* p < 0.0001 vs. saline and #

p < 0.001 (one-way ANOVA). Detailed statistics information is available in Appendix B, Table A5.

# 4.4.3 Prenatal Mtb Infection Causes Immune Dysregulation in Offspring

The expression and subsequent production of IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-17A, TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-10 was measured in the plasma of MIA offspring. We found that IL-6 and IL-17A were significantly increased in mice that were prenatally exposed to *Mtb* infection (p < 0.001; p < 0.05 vs. saline respectively, Figure 4.3). Offspring from *Mtb* infected mice had significantly reduced TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-1 $\beta$  (p < 0.05; p < 0.0001; p < 0.001, respectively) compared with saline exposed offspring. It was also observed that IFN- $\gamma$  was reduced (p < 0.001) and IL-17A significantly elevated (p < 0.001) in the plasma of *Mtb* pups compared with VPA pups (positive control). *Mtb* infection had no effect on circulating IL-10 levels in the offspring. The VPA + *Mtb* offspring had significantly reduced plasma IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-1 $\beta$  levels (p < 0.001) compared with saline offspring. *Mtb* on its own was sufficient to induce the elevation of IL-17A (p < 0.05) and IL-16 (p < 0.0001) compared with VPA and *Mtb* combined (VPA + *Mtb*) in the plasma of offspring (Appendix A). Taken together, there was a persistent dysregulation and imbalance in pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines in the plasma of MIA offspring.



**(a)** 

IFN **v** 

**(b)** 



**Figure 4. 3:** Graph showing concentrations of plasma cytokines at postnatal day (PND) 35 for (a) TNF- $\alpha$  (b) IFN $\gamma$  (c) IL-17A (d) IL-10 (e) IL-6 (f) IL-1 $\beta$ . IL-6 and IL-17A plasma cytokine concentrations are heightened in *Mtb* offspring and restored to negative control levels in VPA + *Mtb* offspring. IL-1 $\beta$ , IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  productions are reduced: # p < 0.001 vs. VPA, \* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.001 and \*\*\* p < 0.0001 vs. saline; n = 5 animals per group (one-way ANOVA). Detailed statistics are available in Appendix B, Table A6.

# **4.4.4** *Mtb* Infection Dysregulates Gene Expression of Synaptic Molecules in Offspring Cerebellum

The expression of *NRXN1*, *SHANK3*, *NLGN1*, *NRXN2* and *NLGN2* genes was measured relative to the *GAPDH* gene (Figure 4.4). *NRXN1* and *NLGN1* genes were upregulated (p < 0.05 vs. saline) in the cerebellum of mice exposed to *Mtb* in utero. Exposure to VPA+*Mtb* upregulated *NRXN2* expression (p < 0.05 vs. saline) and downregulated *SHANK3* and *NLGN1* 

expression (p < 0.05 vs. VPA). *Mtb* caused a 2-fold increase in *NRXN1* expression (p < 0.05) compared with the positive control (VPA), but it had no effect on the expression of *NRXN2* and *NLGN2* in the cerebellum of infected mice offspring. *Mtb* without VPA significantly upregulated NRXN1 (p < 0.001) and NLGN1 (p < 0.05) expression compared with VPA+*Mtb* (Appendix B, Table A2).





SHANK3

**(a)** 

(**c**)





(**d**)

**(b)** 



**(e)** 

**Figure 4. 4:** Graphs showing relative fold change in gene expression of (a) *NRXN1*, (b) NLGN1, (c) *NRXN2*, (d) *NLGN2* and (e) *SHANK3*. *NRXN1* and *NLGN1* are highly expressed in *Mtb* pups (p < 0.05) and *NRXN1*, *SHANK3*, *NLGN1* gene expression levels are restored in VPA+*Mtb* offspring. # p < 0.05 vs. VPA and \* p < 0.05 vs. saline, n = 5 animals per group (one-way ANOVA). Detailed statistics are available in Appendix B, Table A7.

#### 4.5 Discussion

Peripheral immune dysfunction is a key feature in ASD and MIA offspring. MIA increases the levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ ) that induce inflammation in the growing fetus; failure of negative feedback control leads to chronic inflammation that persists into the postnatal period. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report that associates Mtb infection with ASD-like phenotype. Our results show an increase in plasma IL-6 and IL-17A following Mtb-induced MIA. IL-6 is a key mediator of nervous and immune system cross talk, owing to its ability to cross the blood-brain barrier (BBB). IL-6 levels are elevated in ASD patients [6]. IL-6 is involved in TH17 differentiation, leading to production of IL-17; hence, it is expected that an increase in IL-6 is accompanied by an increase in IL-17A as well. Mtb infected mice offspring also showed decreased social skills as revealed by their preference for an object to a mouse (Figure 4.1b). Furthermore, these animals failed to choose between a familiar mouse and an unfamiliar mouse. Consistent with our findings are impaired social behaviors in Poly I:C-induced MIA offspring [29, 30]. Recent findings indicate that IL-17A is a mediator of MIA that reduces social interaction and induces repetitive behaviors in MIA offspring [4, 31], suggesting that the elevated plasma IL-17A levels in Mtb-induced MIA offspring most probably evoked repetitive behaviors and a lack of social skills in our study. Additionally, elevated plasma IL-6 levels are associated with ASD-like behaviors. Injecting
pregnant mice with IL-6 was sufficient to induce ASD-like behaviors, which were rescued by anti-IL-6 antibodies [32]. Taken together, circulating IL-6 and IL-17A somehow influence ASD-like behaviors in *Mtb*-induced MIA offspring.

Furthermore, our results indicate a significant reduction in plasma IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  levels in *Mtb* offspring. This contradicts studies [33-35] that reported heightened levels of these pro-inflammatory cytokines in MIA offspring. This could be a result of differing immune response to Poly I:C, LPS and *Mtb*. It is also possible that *Mtb* infection is insufficient to evoke a full spectrum of ASD-associated immune changes that persists into the postnatal life of the offspring. The reduced production of pro-inflammatory cytokines could be an effect of the anti-inflammatory role of IL-6 [36, 37] and IL-17A; hence, they can suppress the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  [38] while elevating IL-10 to counter inflammation in the immune system. However, there was no change in IL-10 as expected, suggesting a failure of anti-inflammatory regulatory activity. This reduced production in IL-10 is supported by previous reports that did not find a change in IL-10 levels in ASD patients [39, 40] and MIA offspring [31].

Finally, we assessed the cerebellar expression profile of genes encoding synaptic molecules that are implicated in ASD pathophysiology. The cerebellum is involved in sociability, emotions and motor coordination; hence, the cerebellum is thought to be involved in developmental disorders characterized by altered social patterns and repetitive behaviors [41]. Our results show that gestational *Mtb* infection does not affect the cerebellar expression of *NLGN2*, *NRXN2* and *SHANK3* but upregulates the expression of *NRXN1* and *NLGN1* genes in offspring. Previous findings indicate that increased expression of *NRXNs* reduces GABAergic neurotransmission [42], while overexpression of NLGN1 increases glutamatergic neurotransmission [43], suggesting an excitation/inhibition imbalance in the synapse that can influence behavior. Increased repetitive behaviors were also observed in other MIA offspring [4, 29]. The mechanism underlying repetitive behaviors is not clear; however, they are thought to arise from a combination of genetic and environmental factors affecting the cerebellum development [44, 45].

It is interesting and noteworthy that pups born to mothers treated with VPA and *Mtb* (VPA + *Mtb*) did not present systemic inflammation and behavioral deficits; more so, altered cerebellar *NRXN1* expression, social stimulus and self-grooming behaviors were restored to normal levels

(saline). Our results are consistent with previous studies in which birth defects were reduced and altered gene expression profiles restored by MIA in teratogen-exposed rodents [46, 47]. Although the mechanism behind the rescue mechanism of MIA in rodents exposed to teratogens is not well understood, it has been suggested that MIA can protect against teratogenic effects of VPA through the activity of maternal cytokines that normalize proliferation events and reduce developmental disorders [48, 49].

## 4.6 Conclusions

In conclusion, this study provides new evidence that *Mtb* infection in pregnancy is sufficient to influence brain development such that offspring exhibit increased self-grooming, enhanced systemic inflammation, altered gene expression at synapses and impaired social interaction, which reflect ASD core features. Overall, our study provides new insights and roles of a global pathogen in the MIA pathway implicated in the etiology of ASD. Future studies should focus on measuring maternal cytokines during pregnancy as well as in the brain tissue of *Mtb*-induced MIA offspring.

# **4.7 Author Contributions**

Conceptualization, W.M. and T.M.; methodology, N.E.M., T.M. and W.M.; validation, N.E.M., A.J.C.S. and T.M.; formal analysis, W.M.; resources, A.J.C.S., N.E.M. and T.M.; writing—original draft preparation, W.M.; writing—review and editing, A.J.C.S., N.E.M. and T.M.; funding acquisition, A.J.C.S, N.E.M. and T.M. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

### 4.8 Funding

This research was funded by the University of KwaZulu Natal (UKZN) College of Health Sciences; National Research Foundation (Thuthuka grant); Developing Research Innovation, Localisation and Leadership in South Africa (DRILL), grant [D43TW010131]; South African MRC.

### 4.9 Institutional Review Board Statement

The study was approved by the Animal Research Ethics Committee of University of KwaZulu Natal, South Africa (ethics registration number AREC/076/018M).

### 4.10 Informed Consent Statement

Not applicable

### 4.11 Data Availability Statement

Data will be made available on request

### 4.12 Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge the Africa Health Research Institute (AHRI) for providing access to BSL3 animal facilities and the Discipline of Microbiology, College of Agriculture and Engineering University of KwaZulu-Natal, for providing access to the molecular laboratory. The authors also thank the Africa Health Research Institute's staff (K. Thambu, K. Beepraj, P. Ramkalawon and K. Khuluse) for the technical assistance.

#### 4.13 Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflicts of interest. The funders had no role in the design of the study; in the collection, analyses, or interpretation of data; in the writing of the manuscript, or in the decision to publish the results.

#### Appendix A

|          | Mtb                          | VPA+ <i>Mtb</i>       |  |
|----------|------------------------------|-----------------------|--|
| Cytokine | Concentration (pg/mL)        | Concentration (pg/mL) |  |
| TNF-α    | 50.7 + 11.21 *               | 61.9 + 11.21          |  |
| IFN-γ    | 19.6 + 4.78 ***              | 37.7 + 4.78           |  |
| IL-17A   | 119 + 10.35 <sup>a</sup> .#  | 79.7 + 10.35          |  |
| Il-10    | 31.3 + 5.35                  | 34.6 + 5.35           |  |
| Il-6     | 7.03 + 0.481 <sup>b,**</sup> | 4.00 + 0.481          |  |
| II-1β    | 3.20 + 0.701 *               | 2.98 + 0.701 **       |  |

 Table 1. Plasma cytokine concentrations

<sup>a</sup> p < 0.05; <sup>b</sup> p < 0.0001 vs. VPA+*Mtb*; \* p < 0.5; \*\* p < 0.001; \*\*\* p < 0.0001 vs. saline; # p < 0.05.

Table 2. Gene expression profiles of synaptic molecules.

| Gene Mtb VPA+Mtb |  |
|------------------|--|
|------------------|--|

|        | Fold Change          | Fold Change          |
|--------|----------------------|----------------------|
| NRXN1  | 4.31 + 0.971 *.ª     | 0.855 + 0.971 #      |
| SHANK3 | 0.764 + 0.278        | $0.629 + 0.278 \ $ # |
| NLGN1  | $2.42 + 0.376^{*,b}$ | 1.35 + 0.376         |
| NRXN2  | 0.908 + 0.197        | 1.19 + 0.197 *       |
| NLGN2  | 1.42 + 0.168         | 1.30 + 0.168         |

<sup>b</sup> p < 0.05, <sup>a</sup> p < 0.001 vs. VPA+*Mtb*; \* p < 0.05 vs. saline, # p < 0.05 vs. VPA.

# Appendix B

**Table A3.** ANOVA results for Social stimulus.

| ANOVA         | DF | F (DFn,DFd)         | p Value           |
|---------------|----|---------------------|-------------------|
| Interaction   | 3  | F (3, 88) = 14.12   | <i>p</i> < 0.0001 |
| Row FActor    | 3  | F (3, 88) = 0.04163 | <i>p</i> = 0.9886 |
| Column Factor | 1  | F (1, 88) = 13.61   | p = 0.0004        |
| Residual      | 88 |                     |                   |

**Table A4.** ANOVA results for Social novelty.

| ANOVA         | DF | F (DFn,DFd)       | p Value           |
|---------------|----|-------------------|-------------------|
| Interaction   | 3  | F (3, 88) = 7.405 | p = 0.0002        |
| Row FActor    | 3  | F (3, 88) = 4.065 | p = 0.0094        |
| Column Factor | 1  | F (1, 88) = 3.146 | <i>P</i> = 0,0796 |
|               |    |                   |                   |

 Table A5. ANOVA results for Self-grooming.

| ANOVA                       | DF | F (DFn,DFd)       | p Value           |
|-----------------------------|----|-------------------|-------------------|
| Treatment (between columns) | 3  | F (3, 44) = 11.29 | <i>p</i> < 0.0001 |

 Table A6. ANOVA results for Cytokine concentration

| CYTOKINES | DF | F (DFn,DFd)        | p Value           |
|-----------|----|--------------------|-------------------|
| TNF-α     | 3  | F (3, 16) = 3.727  | <i>p</i> = 0.0332 |
| IFN-γ     | 3  | F (3, 16) = 24.97  | <i>p</i> < 0.0001 |
| IL-17A    | 3  | F (3, 16) = 10.47  | <i>p</i> = 0.0005 |
| IL-10     | 3  | F (3, 16) = 0.1383 | <i>p</i> = 0.9356 |
| Il-6      | 3  | F (3, 16) = 15.01  | <i>p</i> < 0.0001 |
| II-1β     | 3  | F (3, 16) = 8.232  | <i>p</i> = 0.0015 |

Table A7. ANOVA results for Gene expression

| GENE   | DF | F (DFn,DFd)       | p Value           |
|--------|----|-------------------|-------------------|
| NRXN1  | 3  | F (3, 16) = 5.51  | <i>p</i> = 0.0086 |
| SHANK3 | 3  | F (3, 16) = 3.258 | <i>p</i> = 0.0492 |
| NLGN1  | 3  | F (3, 16) = 7.215 | p = 0.0028        |
| NRXN2  | 3  | F (3, 16) = 3.29  | p = 0.0478        |
| NLGN2  | 3  | F (3, 16) = 1.013 | p = 0.4127        |

### REFERENCES

- 1. Modabbernia, A.; Velthorst, E.; Reichenberg, A. Environmental risk factors for autism: An evidence-based review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Mol. Autism.* **2017**, *8*, 13.
- Brown, A.S.; Schaefer, C.A.; Wyatt, R.J.; Goetz, R.; Begg, M.D.; Gorman, J.M.; Susser, E.S.Maternal Exposure to Respiratory Infections and Adult Schizophrenia Spectrum Disorders: A Prospective Birth Cohort Study. *Schizophr. Bull.* 2000, *26*, 287–295.
- 3. Fang, S.Y.; Wang, S.; Huang, N.; Yeh, H.H.; Chen, C.Y. Prenatal Infection and Autism Spectrum Disorders in Childhood: A Population-Based Case-Control Study in Taiwan. *Paediatr. Perinat. Epidemiol.* **2015**, *29*, 307–316.
- 4. Yasumatsu, K.; Nagao, J.I.; Arita-Morioka, K.I.; Narita, Y.; Tasaki, S.; Toyoda, K.; Ito, S.; Kido, H.; Tanaka, Y. Bacterial-induced maternal interleukin-17A pathway promotes autistic-like behaviors in mouse offspring. *Exp. Anim.* **2020**, *69*, 250–260.
- 5. Vargas, D.L.; Nascimbene, C.; Krishnan, C.; Zimmerman, A.W.; Pardo, C.A. Neuroglial activation and neuroinflammation in the brain of patients with autism. *Ann. Neurol.* **2004**, *57*, 67–81, doi:10.1002/ana.20315.
- Ashwood, P.; Krakowiak, P.; Hertz-Picciotto, I.; Hansen, R.; Pessah, I.; Van De Water, J. Elevated plasma cytokines in autism spectrum disorders provide evidence of immune dysfunction and are associated with impaired behavioral outcome. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 2011, 25, 40–45, doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2010.08.003.
- 7. Urakubo, A.; Jarskog, L.; Lieberman, J.A.; Gilmore, J.H. Prenatal exposure to maternal infection alters cytokine expression in the placenta, amniotic fluid, and fetal brain. *Schizophr. Res.* **2001**, *47*, 27–36, doi:10.1016/s0920-9964(00)00032-3.
- 8. Offenbacher, S.; Riché, E.L.; Barros, S.P.; Bobetsis, Y.A.; Lin, D.; Beck, J.D. Effects of Maternal Campylobacter rectus Infection on Murine Placenta, Fetal and Neonatal Survival, and Brain Development. *J. Periodontol.* **2005**, *76*, 2133–2143.
- 9. Abram, M.; Schluter, D.; Vuckovic, D.; Wraber, B.; Doric, M.; Deckert, M. Murine model of pregnancy-associated Listeria monocytogenes infection. *FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol.* **2003**, *35*, 177–182.
- 10. Ashdown, H.; Dumont, Y.; Ng, M.; Poole, S.; Boksa, P.; Luheshi, G.N. The role of cytokines in mediating effects of prenatal infection on the fetus: Implications for schizophrenia. *Mol. Psychiatry* **2006**, *11*, 47–55.
- 11. Huguet, G.; Bourgeron, T. *Genetic Causes of Autism Spectrum Disorders*; Elsevier Inc.: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2016; pp. 13–24.
- 12. Wi, B.; Nowakowska, B.A. Genetics and epigenetics of autism spectrum disorder—current evidence in the field. *J. Appl. Genet.* **2019**, *60*, 37–47.
- 13. Guang, S.; Pang, N.; Deng, X.; Yang, L.; He, F.; Wu, L.; Chen, C.; Yin, F.; Peng, J. Synaptopathology involved in autism spectrum disorder. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* **2018**, *12*, 1–16.
- Ding, Y.; Howard, L.; Gallagher, L.; Shen, S. Regulation and postsynaptic binding of neurexins—drug targets for neurodevelopmental and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Front. Biol.* 2015, 10, 239–251.
- 15. Lein, P.J. Overview of the Role of Environmental Factors in Neurodevelopmental Disorders. In *Environmental Factors in Neurodevelopmental and Neurodegenerative Disorders*; Academic Press: Cambridge, MA, USA, 2015, pp. 3–20.
- 16. Kim, H.G.; Kishikawa, S.; Higgins, A.W.; Seong, I.S.; Donovan, D.J.; Shen, Y.; Lally, E.; Weiss, L.A.; Najm, J.; Kutsche, K.; et al. Disruption of neurexin 1 associated with autism spectrum disorder. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **2008**, *82*, 199–207.

- Almandil, N.B.; Alkuroud, D.N.; Abdulazeez, S.; Alsulaiman, A.; Elaissari, A.; Francis Borgio, J. Environmental and Genetic Factors in Autism Spectrum Disorders: Special Emphasis on Data from Arabian Studies. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 2019, *16*, 658.
- Deckmann, I.; Brum Schwingel, G.; Fontes-Dutra, M.; Bambini-Junior, V.; Gottfried, C. Neuroimmune Alterations in Autism: A Translational Analysis Focusing on the Animal Model of Autism Induced by Prenatal Exposure to Valproic Acid Keywords Autism spectrum disorder Neuroimmune alterations Cytokines Animal model Valproic acid. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 2018, 25, 285–299.
- 19. Roullet, F.I.; Lai, J.K.; Foster, J.A. In utero exposure to valproic acid and autism—A current review of clinical and animal studies. *Neurotoxicol. Teratol.* **2013**, *36*, 47–56, doi:10.1016/j.ntt.2013.01.004.
- 20. Bambini-junior, V.; Baronio, D.; Mackenzie, J.; Zanatta, G.; Riesgo, S. *Comprehensive Guide to Autism*; Springer: New York, NY, USA, 2014.
- 21. Campolongo, M.; Kazlauskas, N.; Falasco, G.; Urrutia, L.; Salgueiro, N.; Höcht, C.; Depino, A.M. Sociability deficits after prenatal exposure to valproic acid are rescued by early social enrichment. *Mol. Autism.* **2018**, *9*, 1–17.
- 22. Peralta, F.; Fuentealba, C.; Fiedler, J.; Aliaga, E. Prenatal valproate treatment produces autistic-like behavior and increases metabotropic glutamate receptor 1A-immunoreactivity in the hippocampus of juvenile rats. *Mol. Med. Rep.* **2016**, *14*, 2807–2814.
- 23. Schneider, T.; Przewłocki, R. Behavioral alterations in rats prenatally to valproic acid: Animal model of autism. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **2005**, *30*, 80–89.
- 24. Kazlauskas, N.; Seiffe, A.; Campolongo, M.; Zappala, C.; Depino, A.M. Sex-specific effects of prenatal valproic acid exposure on sociability and neuroinflammation: Relevance for susceptibility and resilience in autism. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* **2019**, *110*, 104441.
- 25. Jana, N.; Vasishta, K.; Jindal, S.K.; Khunnu, B.; Ghosh, K. Perinatal outcome tuberculosis in pregnancies complicated by pulmonary. *Int. J. Gynecol. Obstet.* **1994**, *44*, 119–124.
- 26. Awodele, O.; Patrick, E.B.; Agbaje, E.O.; Oremosu, A.A.; Gbotolorun, S.C. Assessing the Risk of Birth Defects Associated with Exposure to Fixed-Dose Combined Antituberculous Agents during Pregnancy in Rats. *Sci. World J.* 2012, 2012, 1–8.
- Tilahun, D.; Fekadu, A.; Tekola, B.; Araya, M.; Roth, I.; Davey, B.; Hanlon, C.; Hoekstra, R.A. Ethiopian community health workers ' beliefs and attitudes towards children with autism: Impact of a brief training intervention. *Autism* 2017, 23, 39–49.
- 28. Kaidanovich-Beilin, O.; Lipina, T.; Vukobradovic, I.; Roder, J.; Woodgett, J.R. Assessment of social interaction behaviors. *J. Vis. Exp.* **2011**, *48*, e2473.
- 29. Malkova, N.V.; Yu, C.Z.; Hsiao, E.Y.; Moore, M.J.; Patterson, P.H. Maternal immune activation yields offspring displaying mouse versions of the three core symptoms of autism. *Brain Behav. Immun.* **2012**, *26*, 607–616.
- Schwartzer, J.J.; Careaga, M.; Onore, C.E.; Rushakoff, J.A.; Berman, R.F.; Ashwood, P. Maternal immune activation and strain specific interactions in the development of autismlike behaviors in mice. *Transl. Psychiatry* 2013, *3*, e240-9.
- 31. Choi, G.B.; Yim, Y.S.; Wong, H.; Kim, S.; Kim, H.; Kim, S.V.; Hoeffer, C.A.; Littman, D.R.; Huh, J.R. The maternal interleukin-17a pathway in mice promotes autism-like phenotypes in offspring. *Science* 2016, *351*, 933–939.
- Smith, S.E.P.; Li, J.; Garbett, K.; Mirnics, K.; Patterson, P.H. Maternal immune activation alters fetal brain development through interleukin-6. *J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci.* 2007, 27, 10695–10702.

- 33. Garay, P.A.; Hsiao, E.Y.; Patterson, P.H.; McAllister, A.K. Maternal immune activation causes age- and region-specific changes in brain cytokines in offspring throughout development. *Brain Behav. Immun.* **2013**, *31*, 54–68.
- 34. Hsueh, P.T.; Lin, H.H.; Wang, H.H.; Liu, C.L.; Ni, W.F.; Liu, J.K.; Chang, H.H.; Sun, D.S.; Chen, Y.S.; Chen, Y.L. Immune imbalance of global gene expression, and cytokine, chemokine and selectin levels in the brains of offspring with social deficits via maternal immune activation. *Genes Brain Behav.* **2018**, *17*, e12479.
- 35. Rose, D.R.; Careaga, M.; Van de Water, J.; McAllister, K.; Bauman, M.D.; Ashwood, P. Long-term altered immune responses following fetal priming in a non-human primate model of maternal immune activation. *Brain Behav. Immun.* **2017**, *63*, 60–70.
- 36. Del Giudice, M.; Gangestad, S.W. Rethinking IL-6 and CRP: Why they are more than inflammatory biomarkers, and why it matters. *Brain Behav. Immun.* **2018**, *70*, 61–75.
- 37. Scheller, J.; Chalaris, A.; Schmidt-Arras, D.; Rose-John, S. The pro- and anti-inflammatory properties of the cytokine interleukin-6. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **2011**, *1813*, 878–888.
- 38. Schindler, R.; Mancilla, J.; Endres, S.; Ghorbani, R.; Clark, S.C.; Dinarello, C.A. Correlations and interactions in the production of interleukin-6 (IL- 6), IL-1, and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) in human blood mononuclear cells: IL-6 suppresses IL-1 and TNF. *Blood* **1990**, *75*, 40–47.
- Molloy, C.A.; Morrow, A.L.; Meinzen-Derr, J.; Schleifer, K.; Dienger, K.; Manning-Courtney, P.; Altaye, M.; Wills-Karp, M. Elevated cytokine levels in children with autism spectrum disorder. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 2006, *172*, 198–205.
- 40. Jyonouchi, H. Immunological Abnormalities in Autism Spectrum Disorders. Adv. Neuroimmune Biol. 2013, 4, 141–159.
- 41. Ten Donkelaar, H.J.; Lammens, M.; Wesseling, P.; Thijssen, H.O.; Renier, W.O. Development and developmental disorders of the human cerebellum. *J. Neurol.* **2003**, *250*, 1025–1036.
- 42. Zhang, C.; Atasoy, D.; Araç, D.; Yang, X.; Fucillo, M.V.; Robison, A.J.; Ko, J.; Brunger, A.T.; Südhof, T.C. Neurexins physically and functionally interact with GABA(A) receptors. *Neuron* **2010**, *66*, 403–416.
- 43. Hines, R.M.; Wu, L.; Hines, D.J.; Steenland, H.; Mansour, S.; Dahlhaus, R.; Singaraja, R.R.; Cao, X.; Sammler, E.; Hormuzdi, S.G.; et al. Synaptic imbalance, stereotypies, and impaired social interactions in mice with altered neuroligin 2 expression. *J. Neurosci.* **2008**, 28, 6055–6067.
- 44. Berridge, K.C.; Whishaw, I.Q. Cortex, striatum and cerebellum: Control of serial order in a grooming sequence. *Exp. Brain Res.* **1992**, *90*, 275–290.
- 45. Kim, H.; Lim, C.S.; Kaang, B.K. Neuronal mechanisms and circuits underlying repetitive behaviors in mouse models of autism spectrum disorder. *Behav. Brain Funct.* **2016**, *12*, 3.
- Sharova, L.; Sura, P.; Smith, B.J.; Gogal, R.M., Jr.; Sharov, A.A.; Ward, D.L.; Holladay, S.D. Nonspecific stimulation of the maternal immune system. II. Effects on gene expression in the fetus. *Teratology* 2000, *62*, 420–428.
- 47. Holladay, S.D.; Sharova, L.; Smith, B.J.; Gogal, R.M.; Ward, D.L.; Blaylock, B.L. Nonspecific stimulation of the maternal immune system. I. Effects on teratogen-induced fetal malformations. *Teratology* **2000**, *62*, 413–419.
- 48. Holladay, S.D.; Sharova, L.V.; Punareewattana, K.; Hrubec, T.C.; Gogal, R.M., Jr.; Prater, M.R.; Sharov, A.A. Maternal immune stimulation in mice decreases fetal malformations caused by teratogens. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* **2002**, *2*, 325–332.

49. Hrubec, T.C.; Prater, M.R.; Mallela, M.K.; Gogal, R.M.; Guo, T.L.; Holladay, S.D. Diverse ability of maternal immune stimulation to reduce birth defects in mice exposed to teratogens: A review. *J. Dev. Orig. Health Dis.* **2012**, *3*, 132–139.

# CHAPTER FIVE SYNTHESIS

Tuberculosis (TB) is a global pandemic with a high prevalence in Africa. South Africa is a high TB burden country with one in every 200 South Africans having TB and adult women account for 37% of TB cases in the country [1]. While both sexes and all ages can contract TB, the consequences are detrimental for pregnant women. TB in pregnant women is life threatening to the unborn child and if the child survives, the development is often affected [2]. Moreover, the brain development may also be impaired as maternal infections in pregnancy disturb brain development leading to neurodevelopmental diseases like Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD). However, the molecular mechanisms leading from maternal infections in pregnancy to ASD pathology remain unclear. It is well established in the literature that pre-natal exposure to infection is a risk factor for NDDs like ASD (Chapter 1). While many studies have made association between gestational respiratory infections and NDDs, none has focused on *Mycobacterium tuberculosis Mtb* and its possible contribution to NDDs. We observed behavioural, molecular and cellular alterations associated with ASD in mice following gestational *Mtb* exposure. This study provides evidence of the effects of *Mtb*-induced MIA on the developing brain in relation to ASD.

Developmental delay is a major hallmark of most NDDs. Delayed physical development and maturation is evident in ASD, therefore the developmental milestones are an attractive target in understanding ASD pathogenesis. Eye-opening and weight gain are typical developmental milestones in rodent models of ASD, hence, eye-opening pattern (PND12-16) and body weight (PND7-28) were monitored. In our study, *Mtb* infection was not vertically transmitted but we observed adverse effects on offspring health as demonstrated by reduced developmental weight and delayed eye-opening patterns in the *Mtb* offspring compared to Saline offspring (negative control). Eye opening is important for glutamatergic synapse maturation [3] hence *Mtb* appears to affect neurodevelopmental processes. Along with increases in fetal resorption, there was reduction in litter size and pregnancy success in the *Mtb* group. This suggests that *Mtb* infection in pregnancy restricts fetal growth and delays development in early life. These findings corroborate the results of Murray et al. (2019), who similarly reported reduced body weight in poly I:C-induced MIA offspring [4]. It is interesting to note that delayed eye-opening is somehow rescued when a mild VPA dose and *Mtb* are administered together. This suggest a VPA induced antimicrobial effect on Mtb-induced MIA effects on eye opening patterns.

Another mechanism could be the maternal inflammatory response to *Mtb* that rescues VPA-induced developmental delays.

Experimental studies have linked maternal immune activation (MIA) in the pathogenesis of ASD with neuroinflammatory events in the developing brain and long-lasting changes in immune system activity, MIA is therefore believed to induce changes that are involved in brain malformation and behavioural alterations in offspring. Altered BBB permeability is involved in events leading to neuroinflammation in ASD patients [5]. To assess the influence of Mtbinduced MIA on the BBB's function and neuroinflammation, the concentration of Evans blue dye, expression of IBA1 (microglia marker) and GFAP (astrocyte marker) in the PFC and cerebellum regions of offspring was measured. Our data demonstrated that prenatal Mtb exposure increases the BBB permeability in the PFC and cerebellum of pups. Astrocytes are essential for the development and maintenance of the BBB. Under inflammatory conditions, reactive astrocytes secrete vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF-A), which activates eNOS signalling in EC and downregulates the expression of tight junction proteins (occludin and claudin-5) leading to increased permeability of the BBB [6]. Furthermore, reactive astrocytes secrete inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , which can activate microglia [7]. The activated microglia also contribute to the dysfunction of the BBB using different pathways such as secretion of inflammatory cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ ), leading to downregulation of tight junction proteins that form the neurovascular unit in the BBB [8]. Another possible mechanism is through phagocytosis of astrocytic end feet by activated microglia [9]. Reactive microglia were found colocalised with a glycocalyx marker (Ulex Europaeus Agglutinin 1) in CNS string vessels, suggesting that activated microglia are involved in the pathologic events leading to damage of blood vessels in the CNS [10]. It is therefore not surprising that Mtb-induced MIA offspring presented reactive astrocytes and microglia coupled with a disrupted BBB. Dual prenatal exposure to a mild dose of VPA and *Mtb* increased the BBB permeability in the PFC and cerebellum suggesting that teratogenic effects of VPA and *Mtb* induced inflammation work synergistically to promote BBB dysfunction. The dual mechanism involved in the BBB disruption is not clear, however, our data is supported by reports from a similar MIA model that demonstrated increased BBB permeability following exposure to LPS and VPA *in utero* [11].

Accumulating evidence has under scored the significance of neuroinflammation in the pathology of NDDs [12, 13]. The role of *Mtb*-induced MIA in neuroinflammation was

demonstrated by increased microglia and astrocyte reactivity in the PFC and cerebellum. Sustained microglia cell activation during development affects glia-cell dependant processes like synaptic pruning, leading to dysfunction in synapse formation and activity [14]. Under inflammatory conditions, microglia morphological changes are accompanied by increased synthesis of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) is expressed in response to inflammation to promote increased activation of MAPK (P38 mitogen activated protein kinase) subsequently increasing proinflammatory cytokines [15]. IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  expression were reportedly upregulated along with microglia activation in the brain of LPS-induced MIA offspring [16]. The present study did not measure cytokine expression in the brain, however, the neuroinflammation data suggests a possible elevation in pro-inflammatory cytokines in the brain. Dual exposure to VPA and Mtb did not exacerbate microgliosis in the PFC and cerebellum, rather *Mtb* rescued the VPA-induced effects on microglia reactivity (Figure 3.2B) suggesting that inflammation rescues teratogenic effects of VPA on microglia in a developing brain. Holladay et al (2002) suggested that a maternal immunoregulatory response that alleviates teratogenic effects on the developing foetus may be responsible for this mechanism [17].

Based on the neuroinflammation findings in this study and evidence of systemic immune dysregulation in MIA offspring [18, 19] and ASD patients [13, 20, 21], we sought to determine plasma cytokine profiles and ASD-linked behavioural patterns in *Mtb*-induced MIA offspring. ASD children that were born to mothers with MIA history displayed social deficits [22]. Our results showed that *Mtb*-induced MIA offspring had impaired social skills and these animals showed preference for an object to a mouse. More so, the *Mtb*-induced MIA offspring failed to choose the unfamiliar mouse over the familiar mouse, however, when a mild dose of VPA was co-administered with *Mtb*, the offspring showed normal social behaviours. Besides affecting social behaviour, Mtb-induced MIA impaired self-grooming behaviour indicating increased repetitive patterns. Mtb infection increased plasma IL-6 and IL-17A and reduced TNF-α, IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-1 $\beta$  (Figure 4.3). The immune dysregulation in *Mtb* offspring might be the reason for the impaired behaviours. Cytokines regulate brain development hence an imbalance disturbs fetal brain function. Increased IL-6 and IL-17 levels were associated with repetitive behaviours and lack of social skills [20, 23-25]. Circulating IL-6 can cross the BBB and trigger inflammation in the brain thus affecting connectivity and neurotransmitter function, subsequently leading to altered behavioural patterns. Previously, elevation of IL-6 caused

impaired synapse formation and an imbalance in neuronal excitation/ inhibition that led to ASD behaviours [26]. Cytokines influence glutamate activity by increasing its release and reducing re-uptake of glutamate leading to excitotoxicity [27]. The elevated IL-6 and IL-17A levels and neuroinflammation in this study are most likely the effectors of the repetitive and social patterns observed.

To understand the role of brain molecular changes in ASD-phenotype, we examined the cerebellar expression of synaptic cell adhesion molecules. Our findings demonstrated an upregulation of *NRXN1* and *NLGN1* genes in offspring exposed to *Mtb* in utero. Consistent with the role of neurexins and neuroligins in synaptic function, overexpression of *NLGN1* increased the number of synapses [28] while overexpression of *NRXN1* was associated with increased hyperactivity and repetitive patterns [29]. NLGNS and NRXNS modulate excitation/ inhibition in synapses, therefore altered expression in the NRLGN/NRXN complex disturbs the synaptic plasticity leading to impaired social behaviours and repetitive patterns. Prenatal exposure to combined *Mtb* and VPA restored cerebellar *NRXN1* gene expression levels to normal.

In conclusion, our findings suggest that Mtb infection in pregnancy affects fetal health and development, which persists in postnatal life. *Mtb*-induced MIA induces fetal resorption and the surviving offspring health is also affected as revealed by delayed physical development and maturation. These altered developmental milestones are accompanied by peripheral inflammation and neuroinflammation, which are consistent with ASD pathophysiology. IL-6 crosses the BBB and induces microglia and astrocyte activation. Activated glia cells increase oxidative stress in the brain. The "leaky" BBB in the pre-frontal cortex (PFC) and cerebellum emanating from immune dysregulation implies that activated glia cells secrete proinflammatory cytokines that increase reactive oxygen species (ROS) leading to oxidative stress that causes neuronal damage [30]. Immune dysregulation also affects gene expression patterns of the NRXN/NLGN complex leading to synaptic defects in the cerebellum of offspring. Furthermore, the synaptic defects coupled with immune dysregulation in *Mtb* offspring could be responsible for the repetitive patterns (self-grooming) and reduced social interaction skills displayed. The restoration in NRXN1 expression, social interaction, delayed eye-opening rescue and reduced astrocyte damage, may be a feedback response to Mtb induced inflammation in the presence of VPA (VPA+Mtb). Some maternal cytokines produced in response to infection can cross the placenta to counter the teratogen mediated effects in the

developing foetus [31, 32]. Another mechanism could be the antimicrobial effect of VPA on *Mtb* that supresses the *Mtb*-induced MIA effects on the fetal brain. VPA can hinder *Mtb* growth through inhibition of *Mtb* encoded deacetylase enzyme (Rv115c) involved in its central metabolism [33].

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to provide insight into the possible association of *Mtb* infection in pregnancy with impaired neurodevelopment outcome in offspring. We may therefore conclude that the evidence produced in this study lays the groundwork for further investigations into the potential impact of gestational *Mtb* infections on ASD in children born to infected mothers, especially in regions where TB is endemic.

### **Recommendations and Future studies**

The following recommendations are made to further understand the effects of prenatal *Mtb* exposure on offspring development and ASD:

- 1. To evaluate an association between prenatal *Mtb* infection and neuronal damage in offspring
- 2. To evaluate if anti-inflammatory agents can mitigate the *Mtb*-induced MIA effects on neurodevelopment and associated behaviours.
- 3. To evaluate the gut microbiota in *Mtb*-induced MIA offspring, a novel target in ASD pathophysiology.
- 4. To evaluate the immune profiles of *Mtb* infected pregnant mice and assess the expression of maternal auto-antibodies in the fetal brain.
- 5. To evaluate if *Mtb*-induced MIA primes the fetal brain for a second environmental insult in adolescence.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Global tuberculosis report 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- 2. Loto OM, Awowole I. Tuberculosis in pregnancy: a review. *J Pregnancy*. 2012; doi: 10.1155/2012/379271
- 3. Zhao J-P, Murata Y, Constantine-Paton M. Eye opening and PSD95 are required for long-term potentiation in developing superior colliculus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2013;110(2):707.
- 4. Murray KN, Edye ME, Manca M, Vernon AC, Oladipo JM, Fasolino V, et al. Evolution of a maternal immune activation (mIA) model in rats: Early developmental effects. *Brain Behav Immun.* 2019; 75:48-59.
- 5. Fiorentino M, Sapone A, Senger S, Camhi S, Kadzielski S, Buie T, et al. Blood-brain barrier and intestinal epithelial barrier alterations in autism spectrum disorders. *Molecular Autism*. 2016;7.
- 6. Huang X, Hussain B, Chang J. Peripheral inflammation and blood-brain barrier disruption: effects and mechanisms. *CNS Neurosci Ther*. 2021;27(1):36-47.
- 7. Sofroniew MV. Astrocyte barriers to neurotoxic inflammation. *Nat Rev Neurosci*. 2015;16(5):249-63.
- 8. Sonar SA, Lal G. Blood-brain barrier and its function during inflammation and autoimmunity. *J Leukoc Biol*. 2018;103(5):839-53.
- 9. Haruwaka K, Ikegami A, Tachibana Y, Ohno N, Konishi H, Hashimoto A, et al. Dual microglia effects on blood brain barrier permeability induced by systemic inflammation. *Nature Communications*. 2019;10(1).
- 10. Forsberg KME, Zhang Y, Reiners J, Ander M, Niedermayer A, Fang L, et al. Endothelial damage, vascular bagging and remodeling of the microvascular bed in human microangiopathy with deep white matter lesions. *Acta Neuropathol Commun.* 2018;6(1):128.
- 11. Vorbrodt AW, Dobrogowska DH, Kozlowski PB, Rabe A, Tarnawski M, Lee MH. Immunogold study of effects of prenatal exposure to lipopolysaccharide and/or valproic acid on the rat blood-brain barrier vessels. *J Neurocytol*. 2005;34(6):435-46.
- 12. Morgan JT, Chana G, Pardo CA, Achim C, Semendeferi K, Buckwalter J, et al. Microglial activation and increased microglial density observed in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in autism. *Biol Psychiatry*. 2010;68(4):368-76.
- 13. Vargas DL, Nascimbene C, Krishnan C, Zimmerman AW, Pardo CA. Neuroglial activation and neuroinflammation in the brain of patients with autism. *Annals of Neurology*. 2005;57(1):67-81.
- 14. Kim YS, Choi J, Yoon BE. Neuron-Glia Interactions in Neurodevelopmental Disorders. *Cells*. 2020;9(10).
- 15. Ronaldson PT, Davis TP. Regulation of blood-brain barrier integrity by microglia in health and disease: A therapeutic opportunity. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*. 2020;40(1\_suppl): S6-S24.
- 16. Cieslik M, Gassowska-Dobrowolska M, Jesko H, Czapski GA, Wilkaniec A, Zawadzka A, et al. Maternal Immune Activation Induces Neuroinflammation and Cortical Synaptic Deficits in the Adolescent Rat Offspring. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2020;21(11).

- 17. Holladay SD, Sharova LV, Punareewattana K, Hrubec TC, Gogal RM, Prater MR, et al. Maternal immune stimulation in mice decreases fetal malformations caused by teratogens. *International Immunopharmacology*. 2002;2(2-3):325-32.
- Pacheco-Lopez G, Giovanoli S, Langhans W, Meyer U. Priming of metabolic dysfunctions by prenatal immune activation in mice: relevance to schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* 2013;39(2):319-29.
- 19. Rose DR, Careaga M, Van de Water J, McAllister K, Bauman MD, Ashwood P. Longterm altered immune responses following fetal priming in a non-human primate model of maternal immune activation. *Brain Behav Immun.* 2017;63(1090-2139 (Electronic)):60-70.
- 20. Ashwood P, Krakowiak P, Hertz-Picciotto I, Hansen R, Pessah I, Van de Water J. Elevated plasma cytokines in autism spectrum disorders provide evidence of immune dysfunction and are associated with impaired behavioral outcome. *Brain Behav Immun*. 2011;25(1):40-5.
- 21. Eftekharian MM, Ghafouri-Fard S, Noroozi R, Omrani MD, Arsang-Jang S, Ganji M, et al. Cytokine profile in autistic patients. *Cytokine*. 2018;108:120-6.
- 22. Patel S, Masi A, Dale RC, Whitehouse AJO, Pokorski I, Alvares GA, et al. Social impairments in autism spectrum disorder are related to maternal immune history profile. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2018;23(8):1794-7.
- 23. Choi GB, Yim YS, Wong H, Kim S, Kim H, Kim SV, et al. The maternal interleukin-17a pathway in mice promotes autism-like phenotypes in offspring. *Science*. 2016;351(6276):933-9.
- 24. Smith SEP, Li J, Garbett K, Mirnics K, Patterson PH. Maternal immune activation alters fetal brain development through interleukin-6. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. 2007;27(40):10695-702.
- 25. Yasumatsu K, Nagao JI, Arita-Morioka KI, Narita Y, Tasaki S, Toyoda K, et al. Bacterial-induced maternal interleukin-17A pathway promotes autistic-like behaviors in mouse offspring. *Exp Anim.* 2020;69(2):250-60.
- 26. Wei H, Chadman KK, McCloskey DP, Sheikh AM, Malik M, Brown WT, et al. Brain IL-6 elevation causes neuronal circuitry imbalances and mediates autism-like behaviors. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2012;1822(6):831-42.
- 27. Capuron L, Miller AH. Immune system to brain signaling: neuropsychopharmacological implications. *Pharmacol Ther.* 2011;130(2):226-38.
- 28. Chih B, Afridi SK, Clark L, Scheiffele P. Disorder-associated mutations lead to functional inactivation of neuroligins. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2004;13(14):1471-7.
- 29. Kudryavtseva NN, Kovalenko IL, Smagin DA, Galyamina AG, Babenko VN. Abnormal social behaviors and dysfunction of autism-related genes associated with daily agonistic interactions in mice. *bioRxiv*. 2017:125674.
- 30. Pangrazzi L, Balasco L, Bozzi Y. Oxidative Stress and Immune System Dysfunction in Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2020;21(9).
- Sharova L, Sura P, Smith BJ, Gogal RM, Jr., Sharov AA, Ward DL, et al. Nonspecific stimulation of the maternal immune system. I. Effects on gene expression in the fetus. *Teratology*. 2000;62(6):420-8.
- 32. Hrubec TC, Prater MR, Mallela MK, Gogal RM, Guo TL, Holladay SD. Diverse ability of maternal immune stimulation to reduce birth defects in mice exposed to teratogens: a review. *J Dev Orig Health Dis.* 2012;3(3):132-9.
- 33. Rao, M., Valentini, D., Zumla, A., & Maeurer, M. (2018). Evaluation of the efficacy of valproic acid and suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (vorinostat) in enhancing the effects

of first-line tuberculosis drugs against intracellular Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Int J Infect Dis, 69, 78-84. doi:10.1016/j.ijid.2018.02.021

# APPENDICES



15 April 2019

Ms Wedzanai Manjeese (218074724) School of Laboratory Medicine & Medical Sciences Westville Campus

Dear Ms Manjeese,

#### Protocol reference number: AREC/026/018M Project title: The effect of maternal Tuberculosis infection on neurodevelopment and Autism-like behaviour in a mouse model

Full Approval – Research Application

With regards to your revised application received on 28 November 2018 and response received on 12 April 2019 to our letter of 13 December 2018. The documents submitted have been accepted by the Animal Research Ethics Committee and FULL APPROVAL for the protocol has been granted.

# Please note: Any Veterinery and Para-Veterinery procedures must be conducted by a SAVC registered VET or SAVC authorized person.

Any alteration/s to the approved research protocol, i.e Title of Project, Location of the Study, Research Approach and Methods must be reviewed and approved through the amendment/modification prior to its implementation. In case you have further queries, please quote the above reference number.

Please note: Research data should be securely stored in the discipling/department for a period of 5 years.

The ethical clearance contificate is only valid for a period of one year from the date of Issue. Renewal for the study must be applied for before 15 April 2020.

Attached to the Approval letter is a template of the Progress Report that is required at the end of the study, or when applying for Renewal (whichever comes first). An Advarse Event Reporting form has also been attached in the event of any unanticipated event involving the animals' health / wellbeing.

I take this opportunity of wishing you everything of the best with your study.

Yours faithfully

Dr Sanii D.Singh, PhD Deputy Chair: Animal Research Ethics Committee

/ms

| US Adung Academic Leader Nesearch: Dr Brenda de Gama -<br>Or Registrar: Mr Siroon Maknena | Co Cobacil Administratory Mc Brothes Dudhash   |
|---|--|
| de negistrar. Vi Simon Makaena  | CE SENGOL AGMINISTRATOR. MIS PTACING DUGINAJN  |
| Animal Research   | t Ethica Committee (AREC)  |
| Me Marietia 5   | Bhyman (Administrator)   |
| Westväls Comp   | us, Govan Nibeki Building  |
| Postal Address: P   | fivale Bag X54001, Dursen 4000   |
| Telephone: +27 (0) 31 250 6350 FaceImile: +<br>Wytaite: http://ieses.ocu.taz              | +27 (0) 21 289 4556 Email: animalathics@uken.or.ng<br>asuxa:Research-Chiros/Animal-Chiros.aspx |
| 191<br>IRO YEARS DE AC  | 10-2010 📕  |
| Econtine Concuses: 📁 Edgewood 👘 Howerd Collec   | e 🚽 Metical School 💼 Piele maritzinen 💼 Viochilla  |

### BIOMEDICAL RESOURCE UNIT



July 31, 2018

Dear Prof Islam Chair: Animal Research Ethics Committee c/o School of Life Sciences

# RE: ATTENDANCE OF LAS COURSE

This letter certifies that Miss Wadzanai Manjeese , 218074724 have attended the Laboratory Animal Course that was hosted by the Biomedical Resource Unit.

The course was held on the 21-22 June 2018 and entailed the following:

Introduction to laboratory animal sciences. Bioethics and Animal experimentation. Animal Research Methodology. Experimental design, environmental enrichment and occupational safety.

The course was completed satisfactorily and may be allowed to initiate research after the relevant practical procedures was done to a level of competency that was signed off by the veterinarian in charge.

Kind Regards



Dr L A Bester Acting: BRU Manger

Miss Ritta Radebe, Room 201, 2nd Floor U- Block ,Tel 031 260 7671,Fax 031 260 7730E-mail radeber/aukan.ac.za

REDUCE, REFINE AND REPLACE



K-rith Tower Building Level 6 University of Kwa-zulu Natal Nelson R Mandela Medical School 719 Umbilo Road Durban 4000

25/10/2018

UKZN Animal Ethics Committee

#### Re: BSL3 Training and Practice/ Animal Unit Training

To whom it may concern

This letter serves to confirm that Ms Wadzanai Manjese and Shasthri Maharaj, have completed their BSL3 training and practice as per AHRI's compliance policies. They have also demonstrated competence in dissection procedures as required by Animal unit policies.

They are both cleared to work in AHRI's BSL3 labs.

Should you require any further information please do not hesitate to contact me

Yours sincerely



Mel van Eeden Quality Compliance & Safety Manager 031 260 4947



Kershnee Thambu Animal Research Core Supervisor 031 260 4933

#### publish

#### SOMKHELE



What Hasti's Research testing (APR) is the pperiod at network (APR) (APC) a Pegeneral Hast Polic Campung (2011) (2010)

K. 6704 Tower Building, 719 Umbris Road, Dorban Prinne Bay KT, Cangella, 4013, South Africa T + 17 (00) 240,0991 E thattee/Balistory

Allina Coinne Buildeng, no R618 in Hiaman, Somhain: Mediatulta PO Bor 1989, Multanolar, 3935, South Alma T +27 (2018 3501500 E termilielardidei org



BlomakaBlesourceLint

July 24, 2018

Dear Prof Islam Chair: Animal Research Ethics Committee c/o School of Life Sciences

#### RE: COMPETENCE TRAINING ON RATS ONLY

This letter confirms that Miss Wadzanai Manjeese, 218074724 has undergone an evaluation for invasive procedures on the 30 May 2018 and shows competence regarding the following:

- a. IP Administration
- b. Oral gavage
- c. Subcutaneous procedures

#### Kind Regards



Dr SD Singh BVSc. (Mumbai) MS (Illinois) LAS (Utrecht) CVE (Pretoria) HOD: Biomedical Resource Unit Veterinarian

.

To Reduce Replace and Refine Animal Research